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PLACE OF INCORPORATION

Cayman Islands

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr Li Chu Kwan (Chairman & chief executive officer)
(became Chairman on 16 August 2022 &
appointed as chief executive officer
on 1 January 2023)

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda (Vice-chairman)
(appointed as Vice-chairman on 1 January 2023)

Mr Chan Weng Lin (Co-chairman & chief executive officer)
(resigned on 31 January 2022)

Mr Tsang Ka Hung (Chief financial officer)
(resigned on 31 October 2022)

Non-executive Directors

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda

Mr Li Chun Tak
(appointed on 1 March 2022)

Mr Wong Che Man Eddy
(appointed on 9 September 2022)

Mr Chow Kam Fai, David (Co-chairman)
(retired on 16 August 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick
(appointed on 1 March 2022)
Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria
(resigned on 3 February 2022)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky (Chairman)
Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda
Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick
(appointed on 1 March 2022)
Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria
(resigned on 3 February 2022)
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

Corporate Information (Continued)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr Wang Hungxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin) (Chairman)
Mr Li Chu Kwan
(appointed on 15 December 2022)
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick
(appointed on 1 March 2022)
Mr Wong Che Man Eddy
(appointed on 9 September 2022)
Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria
(resigned on 3 February 2022)
Mr Chow Kam Fai, David
(retired on 16 August 2022)
Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda
(resigned on 15 December 2022)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (Chairman)
(appointed on 1 March 2022)
Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky
Mr Wong Che Man Eddy
(appointed on 9 September 2022)
Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria (chairman)
(resigned on 3 February 2022)
Mr Chow Kam Fai, David
(retired on 16 August 2022)
Mr Tsang Ka Hung
(resigned on 31 October 2022)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr Li Chu Kwan
Ms So Ka Man

(appointed on 1 December 2022)
Mr Tsang Ka Hung

(resigned on 31 October 2022)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms So Ka Man

(appointed on 1 December 2022)
Mr Tsang Ka Hung

(resigned on 31 October 2022)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN MACAU

Palace Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf
Avenida da Amizade e Avenida da Dr. Sun Yat Sen
Macau

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

21/F, Entertainment Building
30 Queen’s Road Central
Central

Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17M Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISERS

Howse Williams, Solicitors

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Certitied Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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Corporate Information (Continued)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited
Banco Nacional Ultramarino, S.A.

Luso International Banking Limited

The Bank of East Asia, Limited — Hong Kong Branch
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. — Hong Kong Branch

LISTING INFORMATION

Place of Listing

Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code

1680

Board Lot

1,000 Shares

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Tel: (853) 2822 2211
Fax: (853) 2822 2266
Email: ir@macaulegend.com

WEBSITE

www.macaulegend.com
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Macau Legend Development Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 5 October 2006. The Company
acts as an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) is one of the leading owners of
entertainment and casino gaming facilities in Macau. The Group currently has
Macau Fisherman’s Wharf operated by MFW Investment (“MFW”), which is
a waterfront integrated gaming, hotel, convention and entertainment complex
located on the Macau Peninsula which follows the “Leisure, Tourism,
Economic and Multi-Cultural Diversification” policy of the government of the
Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China.

The Group’s businesses include (i) the provision of gaming services to
SJM for the operation of Legend Palace Casino; (ii) the operation of casino
inside Savan Legend Resorts Hotel and Entertainment Complex in the Lao
People’s Democratic Republic (“Lao PDR”); and (iii) the operation of hotels,
entertainment and leisure facilities within its properties.
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In 2022, under the persistent negative impact of the COVID-19, visitation to
Macau was recorded about 5.7 million visits, an approximately 26% decrease
compared to the year 2021; and according to the figures released by the Macau
Gaming Inspection and Coordination Bureau, total gross gaming revenue in
2022 was about HK$41 billion, a decrease of approximately 51% compared
to last year. The Group’s operations continue to record a loss, other than the
impact from the pandemic, it was also due to the change in the cooperation
with SIM since 27 June 2022, causing a decrease in revenue. The Group’s
total reported revenue for the year was approximately HK$711.6 million,
a decrease of approximately 37.3% compared to the year 2021. Adjusted
EBITDA for the year was a loss of approximately HK$218.8 million, which
was narrowed as compared to a loss of approximately HK$300.3 million last
year.

We have implemented a wide range of cost control measures and maintained a
stable workforce.

As of the date of this report, the travel restrictions have been cancelled in
various countries and the border between China and Macau has been relieved
further in January 2023. The Group realized the number of tourists visiting
Macau and our resorts have significantly increased in the first quarter of 2023,
and we believe this upward trend will continue in 2023. Looking forward to
the coming year, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf will continue to optimize the
facilities in the area under the new concepts and promotions introduced by the
new management, including reinvigorating Legend Boulevard into a leisure
avenue locating world-wide dining and comprehensive entertainment facilities,
and actively cooperate with the Macau government to build a “world tourism
and leisure center”. The goal is to optimise leisure experiences of the public
and improve the quality of Macau’s tourism industry. In addition, the hotel
and casino business in the Savan Legend Resort in Savannakhet has shown a
promising growth in operations since the Laos—Thailand border reopened in
April 2022.

Finally, together with the Board of Directors, we would like to express our
sincere gratitude to all employees of the Group for their unremitting efforts
and commitment in the past year, and we are proud of the contributions made
by every employee. The Group would also like to thank all the business
partners and shareholders of the Group for their support in the past year.

Li Chu Kwan
Chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer

31 March 2023
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OVERVIEW OF RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group achieved a total reported
revenue of approximately HK$711.6 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$424.0 million or approximately 37.3% below that of the
last corresponding year of approximately HK$1,135.6 million.
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Gaming Services

The Group’s revenue from gaming services consisted of (i) service
income received from SJM for services and facilities provided relating
to mass market tables, VIP tables and slot machines and (ii) casino
operations in the Lao PDR.
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No reported revenue generated except the VIP table commission from
Legend Palace Casino since 27 June 2022 as the Service Agreement
between the Group and SJM has expired.

W AR R 2 BR A -

Vg s 2 Legend Palace Casino
R HEWH AR
Mass Market Tables VIP Tables" Slot Machine
BETAZT-HIEER BETCAST-HIEEE BETAST-HEER
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
B 2 & E ok B & Ef #0)
2022 2021 change 2022 2021 change 2022 2021 change
T Tt % T Tt % Tk T %
HK$'000 HK$°000 % HK$'000 HK$°000 % HK$'000 HK$°000 %
TR/ AR Games drop/Slot handle 1,021,249 2481775 (589)  AHHINA  REANA O REANA 40,570 104,062 (61.0)
L7 Turnover FHANA  FEANA  AEANA 4178336 3,049,124 30 AWANA O AEANA  FEANA
TR Net win 164,388 354,748 (53.7) 158,756 122,167 299 2,755 6,258 (56.0)
i Hold rate 16.10% 14.29% 1.8 3.80% 4.01% 0.2) 6.79% 6.01% 0.8
fth/ f T HES A Average number of tables/slot machines 58 61 4.9) 14 16 (12.5) 36 37 2.7)
ARAER /A THAE R Netwin per table/slot machine
bR X per day 16 16 - 3 o) 455 0.44 047 (6.4)
Pl Reported revenue 93,594 202,060 (53.7) 74,359 68,616 84 1,102 2,503 (56.0)
MEAREERNE/ No. of gaming tables/slot machines in
ATFHEEH operation as at year end = 59 (100.0) = 16 (100.0) = 35 (100.0)
B i i 5% Babylon Casino
h AR BEMHO AR
Mass Market Tables VIP Tables" Slot Machine
BEFZAZ R BET-HETHILEE BEFZAZS - HILEE
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
SESSE CRSF BB SESk SRR BB —#SoF FF #
2022 2021 change 2022 2021 change 2022 2021 change
Tt Ti#T % Tk T % ik Tt %
HK$°000 HK$°000 % HK$°000 HK$°000 % HK$°000 HK$°000 %
TR/ TR A Games drop/Slot handle 507,528 1,020,894 (503)  AHFNA  REANA  REANA - 10,628 (100.0)
LE e Tumover RERNA - RERANA - REFNA 626345 2,087,027 (100) ~ MEANA  AEANA - AEFNA
FEE Net win 67,840 123,015 (44.9) 14,603 91,045 (84.0) = 857 (100.0)
& Hold rate 1337% 12.05% 13 2.33% 437% 20 AHEINA 806%  AEHINA
VAR 821 6 Average number of tables/slot machines 2 % 42 9 9 - - 20 (100.0)
REE /G AFHER  Net win per tablefslot machine
iR B per day 15 14 71 9 7 (66.7) ~ AFIN/A 018 REANA
e Reported revenue 38,355 67,658 43.3) 7970 49,976 (84.1) - 343 (100.0)
IEREE RN/ No. of gaming tables/slot machines in
bR G operation as at year end - 25 (100.0) - 9 (100.0) - - -

10
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B E Landmark Casino
35 AR HEM RO
Mass Market Tables VIP Tables®
BET A= —HIMERE BET-HA=ZT—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
TROTE CERCF gE "B E R S )
2022 2021 change 2022 2021 change
T TG % T T %
HK$’000 HK$°000 % HK$’000 HK$°000 %
THER A THEIEESRE Games drop/Slot handle 1,824,398 3,824,633 (52.3) ABAIN/A  BEANA - REFN/A
TR & Turnover AEHANA  NEANA  REANA 775000 2,012,910 (61.5)
T A Net win 428,006 924,448 (53.7) 4,541 49,583 (90.8)
kS Hold rate 23.46% 24.28% (0.8) 0.59% 2.46% (1.9)
WrkaT-H8H Average number of tables 75 70 7.1 3 7 (57.1)
TEIRRE AT H I T AR Net win per table per day 32 36 (11.1) 9 19 (52.6)
Ui Reported revenue 235,403 510,646 (53.9) 90 992 (90.9)
JRAEAEE R AR No. of gaming tables in operation
#H as at year end = 75 (100.0) = 3 (100.0)
Savan Legend % 4£ 5% Savan Legend Casino®
R HEMH T
Mass Market Tables VIP Tables Slot Machine
BETHET B REFZAZ—HIk4ERE RETZAZF—HILERE
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
it St I S G/ St S b/ St — S £
2022 2021 change 2022 2021 change 2022 2021 change
Tign Tt % Tign Tl % Fibi Tl %
HK$000  HK$'000 %  HK$000  HKS$'000 %  HK$000  HKS$'000 %
TR/ TR Games drop/Slot handle 98,508 39,760 1478 AEANA  AEANA - REANA 691,517 184475 2749
e Turnover MEFANA  FEANA - REANA 1435241 - 1000  AEANA  FEANA - REANA
FRAE Net win 26,095 8,361 2121 40,624 - 100.0 28,089 6,259 348.8
| 3 Hold rate 26.49% 21.03% 55 283% - 28 4.06% 3.39% 07
[iVaiRs ssl ¢ Average number of tables/slot machines 10 7 29 17 - 100.0 178 176 11
BRI /A THEER  Netwin per tablefslot machine
fis B per day 9 6 500 6 - 100.0 05 04 250
e Reported revenue 20415 8,799 1320 20,506 - 100.0 27,325 5,747 3755
R EE R/ No. of gaming tables/slot machines in
JERR L] operation as at year end 16 7 128.6 16 - 100.0 275 171 60.8
TERTTUE TR TR
2022 2021
F#n T
HK$°000 HK$°000
THERE IR A5 2 AL 2 AR Total reported revenue for gaming services
T REAG Mass Market Tables 387,767 789,164
HEM RO VIP Tables® 102,925 119,583
T 1% Slot Machines 28,427 8,593
519,119 917,340
Macau Legend Development Limited 2022 Annual Report 11
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Notes:

(1)  The amounts include outsourced VIP tables and indirect participation in
the gaming promotion business in Macau through New Legend under the
VIE Structure, which has been terminated effective from 1 January 2023.

(2)  The amounts include the operating statistics of the Thakhek slot club
which was opened for 9 months (2021: 6 months) in 2022. Casino in
Savan Legend temporarily closed for 1.2 months (2021: 6.2 months) in
2022 in correspondence to COVID-19 pandemic, hence, performance
of 10.8 months (2021: 5.8 months) is presented for the year ended 31
December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, gaming revenue of the Group
decrease by approximately HK$398.2 million or approximately 43.4%
when compared to the last corresponding year. The decrease in gaming
revenue was primarily due to the expiration of the Service Agreement
between the Group and SIM on 26 June 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no gaming tables in Macau
(31 December 2021: 194). The Group had 16 mass market tables (31
December 2021: 7) and 16 VIP tables (31 December 2021: 0) which
were put into operation in the Lao PDR.

Non-gaming Operations

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a total non-
gaming revenue of approximately HK$192.5 million, decreased by
approximately HK$25.7 million or approximately 11.8% below that of
the last corresponding year of approximately HK$218.2 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

AR BA G 0 I R AR AL S R RE

The following table provides details on the composition of the Group’s

AERL non-gaming revenue:
- S TR
2022 2021
AR (4 ALEE OR
i fSavan Savan fffSavan Savan
Legend) Legend e Legend) Legend G
The Group The Group
excluding excluding
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend Legend Consolidated Legend Legend Consolidated
Tt Tt Tt THTT THTT THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
HIERFWA Income from hotel rooms 49,677 745 50,422 44,884 292 45,176
Eid=C/E X T L4 TN Licensing income from investment
properties 32,157 - 32,157 46,815 - 46,815
TRIEMERARBRFEAULAD  Income from provision of services
under an addendum” 15,987 - 15,987 - - -
TR A Income from building management
services 16,266 - 16,266 18,663 - 18,663
B Food and beverage 67,043 834 67,877 96,250 111 96,361
P e Sales of merchandise 1,044 3 1,047 1,295 - 1,295
HAth Others 8,699 31 8,730 9,930 6 9,936
FE TR S 2 s A0 EH Total revenue from non-gaming
operations 190,873 1,613 192,486 217,837 409 218,246

R i B0 T 2 d R COVID-19%2
T EH B G o o B R e A s Al
NSO D 0P A 3t S BT N R4 2k
1 B0 ) S A RS B AR AR i

The decrease in non-gaming revenue was primarily due to decrease in
revenue from licensing income from investment properties and food and
beverage as a result of rent concessions during COVID-19 pandemic
and the decrease in number of visitors from the mainland China and

T gD o Hong Kong and reduced consumption by local Macau people.
BEGE - Note:
(1) 7 7 4 [ B 0 4 1 ) o R S 7 (1)  As the original Service Agreement between the Group and SJIM expired

Ci FEAENH N HER
TR T TAENAFNH 5 AR E BLR
AR A B AL I B~ F S AKX
At 9 AR B A PR B T % 5 B B LE
i 5 S 5 B4 R A S B M B > MRS
WREERE —F -+ H =+
H o

TRESIAEHPREE T A

A=t —HLk=F 2 =4
H R AR A B E 205 E 4 T 1%

on 26 June 2022, on 16 June 2022, the Group signed the addendum with
SIM for the provision of facilities, hotel rooms, food and beverage and
other peripheral services and licensing for occupation of use of spaces
with respect to the Casino Legend Palace and the Casino Babylon and the
service period was extended to 31 December 2022.

The following table sets out certain key operational data on our major
hotel operations of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 31 December 2021:

BERYE
CRTUE e e
2022 2021

E s EE R s BERE b S
Legend Palace Harbourview Legend Palace Harbourview
Hotel Hotel Hotel Hotel
AEZE (%) Occupancy rate (%) 60.2 69.6 67.5 65.2
H 35 5 A (HE7C) ADR (HK$) 580 291 769 300
AR AT AL B UsE (570)  REVPAR (HKS) 350 202 519 196
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

A BEBITDA Adjusted EBITDA
BEZEZ AT HE T HIREE Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended 31 December 2022 recorded a
AT AT EBITD A 15 47218,800,000%5 loss of approximately HK$218.8 million, representing an improvement
JC > A AR[R] #8515 85 15 49300,300,000 of approximately HK$81.5 million or approximately 27.1% over that
5L £981,500,0009 7G5k £927.1% ° of the last corresponding year with a loss of approximately HK$300.3
R RS REEBITDABL AN\ Rl AT A I million. The following table reconciles the Adjusted EBITDA to the
R AR A R loss attributable to owners of the Company:
SRR e S =
2022 2021
AL (R AL (R
fffiSavan Savan fI#HSavan Savan
Legend) Legend e Legend) Legend e
The Group The Group
excluding excluding
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend Legend Consolidated Legend Legend Consolidated

TiE  Twr  Fw TR T T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000

AN FIHEAT ARG (Bi12)  (Loss)/gain attributable to owners

g of the Company (758,053) 150,844 (607,209) (1,043,142) (147,302)  (1,190,444)
AR Adjustments for:
A Finance costs 105,696 4,277 109,973 63,880 1,522 65,402
gt/ ESiiEd Depreciation of investment properties 11,404 - 11,404 11,262 - 11,262
W1 BT Depreciation of property and
equipment 333,032 13,780 346,812 359,590 17,014 376,604
e T8 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 47,034 5,510 52,544 50,623 5,975 56,598
HoAh SN & 5 Amortisation of other intangible assets 8,303 999 9,302 27,710 1,083 28,793
BB nii)] 1i=0 Loss/(gain) on disposal of property
(4 and equipment 126 (60) 66 (9,473) 101 (9,372)
4 B P W (1R R AR Impairment losses on financial assets,
net 1,546 46 1,592 7,467 8,970 16,437
Py Bk e 1R Impairment losses on property and
equipment - - - 241,000 - 241,000
KB SR (I 25) Unrealized exchange loss/(gain) = 8,066 8,066 (50) 16,565 16,515
gl Fg/NTIE & Share of results of an associate 7,084 - 7,084 28,460 - 28,460
FEA Interest income (10,678) (44) (10,722) (16,030) (504) (16,534)
7 B 2 ] S Reversal of write down of inventories
pa {0 to net realisable value (3,139) - (3,139) (1,436) - (1,436)
A fEFHEEAIASFIME  Loss on change in fair value of
ZERERE 2N RE financial assets at FVTPL
L) it 10,967 - 10,967 3,667 - 3,667
HEA Compensation income (152) = (152) 97 - 97
B Rt G5 /B3 Income tax (credit)/expenses (6,129) (142,106) (148,235) (5,450) 78,320 72,870
Hope Other (7,105) - (7,105) - - -
FEPIRLEBITDA Adjusted EBITDA (260,064) 41,312 (218,752) (282,019) (18,256) (300,275)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Fi 43 5B #4311 #8 S EBITD A AT (K845
ST SRR T -

An analysis of the Adjusted EBITDA by segments (after elimination of
inter-segment results) is as follows:

. St SR
2022 2021
ALK (R AL (R
fffiSavan Savan filfESavan Savan
Legend) Legend oty Legend) Legend A
The Group The Group
excluding excluding
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend Legend Consolidated Legend Legend Consolidated

Tkt Tkt Tkt Tt Tt Tkt
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS$000

R Gaming services (51,284) 56,293 5,009 (47,595) 7,444 (40,151)
R s Non-gaming operations (195,670) (14,981) (210,651)  (195,305) (25,700) (221,005)
Nit Sub-total (246,954) 41,312 (205,642)  (242,900) (18,256) (261,156)
R FAZER O Unallocated corporate expenses'” (13,110) = (13,110) (39,119) - (39,119)
4 IEEBITDA Adjusted EBITDA (260,064) 41,312 (218,752)  (282,019) (18,256) (300,275)
B &E - Remarks:

(1) SRR BCASZER S > 06 LA S
BHHEEY o

AL E 2 B EBITDA CRE 1
Savan Legend & R 7 Bi A 3£ B 30) %
AR TP G B AR ) AR
SR CFEFT HA=Z+THIEEEY
£5260,100,000% 1) B8 > 8 :4F [A]
W5 47.8% ° Savan Legend . #8 i %
EBITD AR 2 4F [/] FA S 1 £959,600,000#5
TEREE - Z -+ H=1+—H
1F4EFE AT 941,300,000 TR £ ©

AEAERE - F - _HF+HA=+—H
1 4E FE 1Y 518 49607,200,0004% 7T - 1M 25
AR A 51 491,190,400,000% 7T © /A
EERELIY Z R EEE  FEREHR
R SR 5 E B COVID- 1992 175 1M B it 1Y)
e o T A e A R AR 25 S0 Y 19 B
BTN TR - AEEYERR %
TTAER R EE AR I MR
RS A AN R B R IR E R 0 &
2) 7 45 [ il L 451K 0 © R B4 T I 4
JtE > B A AR 42 o) L 3 A K B S Y
it

%{g

FERGREAEBEE _F - 4+
=+ — H IR E IRATAT A S (&
TR ) .

(1)  The amounts represented the unallocated corporate expenses, offsetting
with its inter-segment elimination.

Adjusted EBITDA from operations of the Group excluding Savan
Legend and unallocated corporate expenses, mainly arising from the
operations at MFW Group, for the year ended 31 December 2022
improved by approximately 7.8% to a loss of approximately HK$260.1
million when compared to the last corresponding year. Adjusted
EBITDA of Savan Legend increased by approximately HK$59.6
million to a gain of approximately HK$41.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 when compared to the last corresponding year.

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$607.2 million, when compared to the loss of
approximately HK$1,190.4 million in the last corresponding year.
Results of both years are significantly affected mainly due to the social
distancing measures and travel restrictions imposed by government
authorities in response to the COVID-19 pandemic which have
severely declined the tally of visitor arrivals to Macau. The Group’s
loss improved in 2022 due to 1) no impairment losses recognised
for the overseas projects located in Cape Verde; and 2) the Group
has undertaken various mitigating measures to manage the current
environment, including active measures to control its operating costs
and expenses.

Dividend

The Board does not declare any final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: nil).
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OUTLOOK

The Draft Bill 07/2022 for the amendment to the gaming law has been passed
by Macau’s Legislative Assembly on 21 June 2022 that it allows existing
satellite casinos to continue to operate in premises not owned by Macau casino
gaming concessionaries even beyond the already-agreed 3-year grace period.

SIM is awarded the provisional adjudication of the concession for
the operation of fortune or chance in casino, being one of the six new
concessionaires in Macau, and entered into a Gaming Concession Contract
with the Macao SAR Government on 16 December 2022. The term of the
Gaming Concession Contract is 10 years, commencing from 1 January 2023.
On 30 December 2022, the Group entered into an Agreement for Provision
of Services with SJM which allowed the Group to provide services to SIM
in Macau Fisherman’s Wharf. The term of the Agreement for Provision of
Services is 3 years, commencing from 1 January 2023.

As a provider of casino management services focused on mass market
customers and satellite casinos, Hong Hock has a strong reputation and is
well established in the gaming industry, proving that its casinos outperform
some of the other satellite casinos. Hong Hock is committed to continuing to
provide effective casino management services and will continue to focus on
developing and identifying partnership opportunities, as well as contributing
to the gaming industry in Macau within the constraints of the new law.

Given the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, the epidemic has hit Macau
economy hard since 2020. Thankfully, continuing strong support has been
seen from local customer base and increasing growth of Mainland China
visitors. MFW’s gaming business performed better than the overall market.
The Group’s reported gaming revenue in Macau for the year decreased
approximately 50.1% compared to last year which was mainly due to the
expiration of the Service Agreement between the Group and SJM on 26
June 2022, while the overall gross gaming revenue in Macau decreased
approximately 51.4% according to figures published by The Gaming
Inspection and Coordination Bureau.

Despite the adverse influence under COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has been
improving the existing operations in 2022. After all the travel restrictions were
canceled by local government in early January 2023, the Group has focused on
upgrading dining and entertainment offerings at MFW to welcome mainland
China and international visitors.

The Group has expected the Thakhek Club and Savan Legend Resorts to
provide momentum to the Group’s revenue in Lao PDR during 2022 since
Laos’s government reopened the border line in April 2022. The hotel and
casino at Savan Legend Resorts, Savannakhet are resuming the business
gradually and providing positive earnings to the Group.

Looking ahead to 2023, the Group realises that the number of visitors coming
to Macau will be increasing significantly after the reopening of borders in
early January 2023. The Group remains optimistic and well-equipped to seize
opportunities for recovery when the tourism industry rebounds.



" OO W oW & oo A ()

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

TENE & K EAE W

AEFENRBESHFEEIHAHEELS &
A B S B AR AS SR BB £ K o SR — LA
%g%?ﬁf;@%f%&/ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ%?%ﬁ%@&%%
THHAHE -

MRoZE - FEFH=+—H s ARFEEA A
WAL &5 7 TR E £ 753,708,200,000 857G - #5
ZE T HZ=Z1—H#4,314,900,000%
JCI Y £1606,700,0004 7T © #E K

A=t —HIEFEEN A G E T E D+
? § A AR A T4 Bk 45 5 12 40.607,200,00095 7T

A A B 7 T 7 R AL B AT RA T R 2 R
LG HAME B

Bl R AT A%

MEoEZTHETFHE—H o AEEREAR
4 M AR AT 4565 4789,000,000% 7T (B 4% B K48
ATHEFAI1,700,000850) > 5% 50E E 5 AT
VRSB (R o F A IR R BV O MR > AR
A5 [ 52 25 S DAL R A M ) B 4 R R AT A R BT
7RZ 1) 4 MR R E K o

Mo FEZEFT A EF—H > AREEMN
RGN ) A IR X EERBITE XL 5
2,158,000,000%5 7C > M (ii) MEAEA ~ MEdE R K 5T
BB 3 55400,000,00088 76 o $RAT RS 3K B
Al K0 A 4 s R A T ) 2E 4R S I AR ) 2R 2.5 % -
3% B RN R 5%-9% %S,

W_EZ -+ A=+—H#H®E
2,558,000,00075 7T A $R 47 {5 7 S HoAth £ 2 1) 2]
HANE VLR IR & 1 AF > H542,300,000% 7
JA—4E A 8 38 (400,000,000 ¢ B T w13
AR AR AR S T AREIR) > 215,400,000 TCHY
o TAEEIE 221,800,300,0008 TCHASE = E fL4E
E% o A [ 19 SR AT 1 3k S HA A 3k LA HE JTRT

A4 T B KA

MRoZ D FEF A= AEEETE
EEWIEIT U A% T AREE NG S/ E XE
TIVEER » 45 IR TH A (E4)464,800,0007 G
ZWEWECE_—FT_H=1+—H0 4
295,100,000 76) ~ BRI AR (H £3,687,400,000
WLz F(CE 4+ ZH=+—H : 4
4,010,100,000%570) ~ T A4 471,110,100,000
otz EE ( CF ¢+ A=1+—
H : 41,152,500,000% 50) ~ £725,400,000% 5T
2B (CE A=+ —H
#1148,800,000%5 78) ~ £91,700,000%5 7T 2 $R1TAF
H(CE—FE+A=Z+—H : £1,700,000%
Jt) PA K #11,600,000 SCHY E AT AL 4 40 4 (T
——4FE+ = H=+—H :2,100,000%#:C) °

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity needs primarily comprise working capital, capital
expenditure, and servicing borrowings of the Group. The Group has generally
funded its operations and development projects from internal resources, debt
and/or equity financing.

As at 31 December 2022, the consolidated net assets attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$3,708.2 million, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$606.7 million from approximately HK$4,314.9
million as at 31 December 2021. The decrease in consolidated net assets
during the year ended 31 December 2022 was mainly due to the Group’s loss
for the year of approximately HK$607.2 million.

The Group is in the process of negotiation for restructuring the repayment
schedule of the existing bank borrowing and obtaining additional credit
facility.

Cash and Bank Balances

As at 31 December 2022, cash and bank balances held by the Group amounted
to approximately HK$89.0 million (including pledged bank deposits of
approximately HK$1.7 million), which was denominated mainly in HK$ and
MOP. Given MOP is linked to HK$, the Group considers the exposure to
exchange rate risk is nominal for its cash and bank balances denominated in
MOP.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had outstanding (i) secured and
guaranteed bank borrowings of approximately HK$2,158.0 million, and (ii)
unsecured, non-guaranteed and interest-bearing other borrowings of HK$400.0
million. The bank borrowings and other borrowings carried interest at Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 2.5%-3% per annum and 5%-9% per annum
respectively.

The maturity profile of the bank borrowings and other borrowings totaling
HK$2,558.0 million as at 31 December 2022 spread over a period of five
years, with HK$542.3 million repayable within one year of which HK$400.0
million has been rescheduled to be repaid in the second year subsequent to the
reporting period end, HK$215.4 million in the second year and HK$1,800.3
million in the third to fifth years. The Group’s bank borrowings and other
borrowings were denominated in HK$.

Charge on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2022 certain assets of the Group were pledged to
secure credit facilities and use of electricity granted to the Group, including
investment properties with a total carrying amount of approximately
HK$464.8 million (31 December 2021: approximately HK$295.1 million),
buildings with a total carrying amount of approximately HK$3,687.4 million
(31 December 2021: approximately HK$4,010.1 million), right of use assets
with a total carrying amount of approximately HK$1,110.1 million (31
December 2021: approximately HK$1,152.5 million), trade receivables of
approximately HK$25.4 million (31 December 2021: approximately HK$148.8
million), bank deposits of approximately HK$1.7 million (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$1.7 million) and rental deposits paid of approximately
HK$1.6 million (31 December 2021: HK$2.1 million).
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Gearing

The Group’s net gearing ratio is expressed as a percentage of total borrowings
(e.g. bank and other borrowings) minus cash (e.g. pledged bank deposits
and cash and bank balances) over total equity. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group’s net gearing ratio was 66.6% (31 December 2021: 52.7%). The
increase in the Group’s gearing ratio was mainly due to the increase of the
other borrowings and the decrease in consolidated net assets of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not employ any financial instruments
for hedging purposes.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has a funding and treasury policy to monitor its funding
requirements and perform ongoing liquidity review, and thus maintained
a healthy financial position throughout the year. The Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate to meet its
funding requirement by the management of the Company for the operation of
the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Shares during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting date, the Group did not have any litigations or
claims of material importance and, so far as the Directors of the Company are
aware, no litigation or claims of material importance are pending or threatened
by or against any companies of the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of approximately 1,966 (2021:
3,603) employees, including nil (2021: 1,122) gaming operation employees
who were employed and paid by SJM but over whom the Group exercised
oversight in accordance with the Service Agreement. The Group reimbursed
SJM in full for the salaries and other benefits of these gaming operation
employees. The Group’s total staff cost for the year ended 31 December 2022
was HK$290.5 million (2021: HK$327.0 million).

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining a stable staff force for its
continued success. Staff remuneration is determined by reference to personal
qualifications, work performance, industry experience, responsibilities and
relevant market trends. Discretionary bonuses are granted to employees based
on merit and in accordance with industry practice. Other benefits including
share options, reward shares, retirement benefits, medical subsidy, pension
funds and sponsorship for external education and training programmes are
offered to eligible employees.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr Li Chu Kwan, aged 47, has been an executive Director since 29
December 2020 and a co-chairman of the Board since 1 March 2022. He
became the chairman of the Board since 16 August 2022. He has also been
appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee since 15 December
2022 and the chief executive officer since 1 January 2023. He has studied
finance at University of South Australia and has extensive experience in
the commercial and gaming industry in Macau. He was the chief executive
officer of the Macau Jockey Club from 2007 to 2021. He has also actively
participated in public and community services in Macau, including the roles
of being a member of the 12th Chinese People’s Political Consultative of
Guangzhou Province — Macau district from 2012 to 2017; a member of the
12th Chinese People’s Political Consultative of Sichuan Province — Macau
district since 2018; a director of Tung Wah Group of Hospital in Hong Kong
from 2006 to 2010; the vice-president of Associacao Geral de Ciclismo de
Macau, China (7B ' ¥ H48€r) since 2012; a committee member of the
central committee of the Macau Red Cross since 2014; a committee member
of Conselho do Desporto ({1 &% 5 &) since 2018; and the president
of the Macau Association of Young Employees in the Gaming Industry from
2016 to 2021. Mr Li is the son of Mr Li Chi Keung, a substantial shareholder
of the Company.

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda, aged 58, has been a Director since 26 March
2020, and chief executive officer of the Company from 26 March 2020 to 29
December 2020 and from 1 March 2022 to 1 January 2023. Since 1 January
2023, Ms Melinda Chan has been appointed as the vice chairman of the Board
and is responsible for the overseas business development of the Group. Ms
Melinda Chan is a graduate of Peking University and has over 30 years of
extensive experience in the business and management of casinos. Since her
appointment as president of MFW Investment in October 2017, she has been
actively involved in shaping MFW’s policy and daily operations.

Ms Melinda Chan was a directly-elected member of the fourth and fifth
Legislative Assembly of Macau and a committee member on the Establishing
Talents Development Committee of Macau, and is currently a committee
member on the Tourism Development Committee of Macau. She has served
as a committee member on the third, fourth and fifth Chief Executive
Election Committee. Ms Melinda Chan is currently a committee member of
the Guangdong Political Consultative Committee, the vice president of the
Guangdong Federation of Industry and Commerce, the vice chairman of the
Guangdong Federation of Women and the executive committee of the All-
China Women’s Federation.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Ms Melinda Chan is the managing director of Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao Real
Estate Development Co. Ltd. (5% 36 4 2 7 b 2 BH 347 FRA A)), and
has been responsible for the overall planning, construction and completion
of the Legendale Hotel Beijing Project since 2004. She is also currently
the managing director of Zhuhai Hengqin New Area Lai Ieng Commercial
Management Co. Ltd. (3 i1 B 3507 I 7 25 2 AT BRA 7)), as well
as a supervisor of the board of directors and a shareholder of CITIC Geyi
Biorefineries Co. Ltd.

Ms Melinda Chan is the wife of Mr David Chow, a former Director of the
Company. The discloseable interest of Ms Melinda Chan in the Shares and
underlying Shares under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the
section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Position
in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” under the Directors’ Report
of this annual report.

Non-executive Directors

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda, aged 31, was appointed as a non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee on 1 September 2016. Ms
Ho is a daughter of Ms Chan Un Chan, a substantial shareholder of the
Company. She was awarded a bachelor of science in economics from the
University of London in August 2012 and was conferred the degree of master
of science in professional accountancy in 2020. She is also a member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Ms Ho was
an assistant tax advisor with Ernst & Young PLL in London in 2013 and
a senior staff accountant with Ernst & Young PLL in Beijing from March
2014 to October 2014. She has been a director of UNIR Australia Pty Ltd,
the group of which owns substantial real estate assets including hospitality,
retail and office investments in Perth, Australia. Ms Ho has been a member of
Foshan Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of the PRC since 25 January 2019.

Mr Li Chun Tak, aged 43, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 1
March 2022. Mr Li is a registered solicitor of the High Court and a partner
of Y.S. Lau & Partners. He has over a decade’s experience in the legal field.
Mr Li graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor
degree majoring in Information Technology and later obtained a bachelor
degree in law from the Manchester Metropolitan University in 2008 and
his Postgraduate Certificate in Laws (P.C.LL) from the University of Hong
Kong in 2011. In addition to his experience in the legal field, he also has
substantial experience in the field of business management, having managed
and supervised projects in information technology, financing, and business
strategic planning.
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Mr Wong Che Man Eddy, aged 63, has been a non-executive Director, a
member of both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
since 9 September 2022. He has over 30 years of experience in the auditing
and accounting profession. Mr Wong graduated with an honours diploma in
accounting from Hong Kong Baptist College in 1984. He is the sole proprietor
of Eddy Wong & Co., Certified Public Accountants, and also is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr Wong is currently an independent non-executive director of Sun Hing
Vision Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 125), whose securities are
listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange and an independent non-
executive director of China All Access (Holdings) Limited (In Liquidation),
a company incorporated in Cayman Islands primarily engaged in Information
and Communicate Technology Business whose securities were previously
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and its listing status was
canceled in 16 January 2023. A winding up order was made against China
All Access (Holdings) Limited (In Liquidation) by the High Court of Hong
Kong on 21 June 2021 and Messrs. So Man Chun and Jong Yat Kit of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited have been appointed as its joint and several
liquidators. The subject winding-up petition was filed by a corporate bond
holder in respect of a claim of approximately HK$10,000,000.

Mr Wong was an independent non-executive director of PF Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8221) from 11 December 2020 to 10 October 2021,
whose securities are listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee on 29
December 2020. Mr Lau obtained a professional diploma in accountancy from
Hong Kong Polytechnic in November 1989. Mr Lau is a Practicing Certified
Public Accountant and a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
He has over 30 years of experience in auditing and accounting with extensive
experience in areas of initial public offering, merger and acquisition and
corporate finance exercise. He had served Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for 25
years from 1993 to 2018 and had been a partner thereof for 17 years. He is
currently a director of Moore Stephens CPA Limited.

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin), aged 55, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 1 June 2021. Mr Wang is the chairman of Shenzhen Academia
Capital Management* (ZRYIE BEE A HEATBR 22 ), an onshore hedge fund
based in Shenzhen which runs various China A-share quantitative investment
strategies in China, since 2016.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Mr Wang received a bachelor’s degree in Mathematics from Peking
University, a master degree in Applied Mathematics from University
of Massachusetts Amherst, and a doctoral degree in Finance from Yale
University.

Mr Wang had almost 30 years of global investment experience in the United
States and China. From 2000 to 2010, he held various senior positions at
Putnam Investments and Acadian Asset Management (“Acadian”) in the
United States, including the roles of senior portfolio manager and senior
partner at Acadian during which Acadian Global Emerging Markets Fund,
under his supervision, ranked top in the investment yield from 2000 to 2009.

After coming back to China, he served as the chief executive officer at E Fund
Management (Hong Kong) between 2010 and 2012, and the chief investment
officer at Bosera Asset Management (Shenzhen) between 2012 and 2015. He
founded his own hedge fund company in China in 2015. Mr Wang also served
as an independent director of Shenzhen Salubris Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.
between 2016 and 2020.

In addition, Mr Wang has been undertaking multiple social responsibilities.
He was the president of The Chinese Finance Association in the United States
and a member of Shenzhen People’s Congress in China. Mr Wang is currently
the president of the Shenzhen Financial Professionals Association.

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick, aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of both the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee on 1
March 2022. Mr Mak is a registered solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong
and Managing Partner of Patrick Mak & Tse, Solicitors. Mr Mak has over
20 years’ legal experience in the legal field. He was awarded the Common
Professional Examination Certificate in Laws by the University of Hong Kong
in 1995 and was awarded his Postgraduate Certificate in Laws (P.C.LL) by the
University of Hong Kong in 1998.

Mr Mak is currently an independent non-executive director of Far East
Holdings International Limited (a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 0036). He had also been an independent non-
executive director of Fresh Express Delivery Holdings Group Co., Limited
(a company previously listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange with
stock code: 1175, listing of which was canceled on 9 February 2023) from 8
July 2013 to 13 December 2021.

Mr Mak was also an independent non-executive director of Golden Shield
Holdings (Industrial) Limited (in liquidation), a cotton textile service provider
company incorporated in Bermuda previously listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 2123, listing of which was cancelled on 2
August 2021, from 6 November 2014 to 11 May 2015. A winding up order
against Golden Shield Holdings (Industrial) Limited (in liquidation) was made
by the High Court of Hong Kong on 11 May 2015 and the Official Receiver
was appointed as its Provisional Liquidator. The subject winding-up petition
was filed by a former legal adviser of Golden Shield Holdings (Industrial)
Limited (in liquidation) in respect of a claim of approximately HK$833,000.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Chief financial officer

Ms Lam Shu Yan, aged 38, is the chief financial officer of the Group. Ms
Lam graduated from the University of California, Berkeley with a Bachelor
of Arts in Economics with Honors and is also a Certified Public Accountant
under the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Professional Committee of Accountants in Macau SAR. Ms Lam worked at the
Macau Jockey Club from 2013 to 2022 with last position held as director of
Finance and KPMG Macau from 2007 to 2013 with last position held as Audit
and Tax Manager. Ms Lam has extensive experience in financial planning,
cash flow management, credit management, risk management, evaluation,
financial consolidation, financial reporting and analysis, compliance, internal
control, audit and tax advisory. Her exposures cover a wide range of industries
including horse racing, pari-mutual gaming, fortune gaming, entertainment,
banking, insurance, pharmaceutical and public services.

Senior vice president, overseas business development

Mr Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo, aged 59, is the senior vice president,
overseas business development of the Company. Mr Trainor was an executive
Director of the Company and a member of the Nomination Committee between
18 May 2012 and 24 November 2020. Mr Trainor has been licensed by the
Securities and Futures Commission since 1994 as an investment representative
before the SFO came into effect and as a representative under the SFO to carry
out Type 6 Regulated Activity (Advising on Corporate Finance). He obtained
a bachelor’s degree in commerce at the University of British Columbia in
1988 and has more than 20 years of experience in financial advisory services.
He served a number of leading investment banks and has extensive experience
in raising capital for casino, leisure and property companies in Asia. He
worked at Credit Suisse Management (Australia) PTY Limited between 1990
and 1994 and last served as an associate in the investment banking division.
He then served within Morgan Stanley group of companies between 1994
and 2005 and last served as a managing director in the investment banking
division of Morgan Stanley Asia Pacific Holding Ltd. Mr Trainor worked at
Merrill Lynch between 2005 and 2009 as a managing director and had been
involved in the Group’s financing projects in such capacity since 2005. He
founded PacBridge Capital Partners (HK) Limited in 2009. As its director
and responsible officer, Mr Trainor is primarily responsible for the execution
of both corporate advisory and principal investment transactions. He was a
director of Athenex Inc. (Nasdaq GS:ATNX) between June 2017 and March
2019. On 10 May 2019, Mr Trainor was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of FIT Hon Teng Limited (stock code: 6088) the securities
of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr Trainor is also the director of
E/M Group since May 2021 and Linksys Holdings since June 2021.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Senior vice president of finance

Mr Lei Vai Ip, aged 56, is the senior vice president of finance of the Group.
Mr Lei joined the Group since 2003. He has obtained a professional diploma
in Accounting from Jinan University and been awarded with a bachelor degree
in International Tourism Management from Macau University of Science
and Technology. Mr Lei has over 25 years of work experience in accounting,
hospitality financial management, financial forecasting and budget planning.

Legal counsel

Madam Lidia da Gloria Filomena da Luz, aged 64, was appointed as the
legal counsel of the Company since 2012. Madam Lidia Luz was awarded a
bachelor degree in Law from the Macau University and a master degree in
Law from the Macau University of Science and Technology.

Madam Lidia Luz spent her career in the public service sector during 1976
and 2006 with the Macau Public Administration and Civil Service Bureau
and held different management positions including head of division of
Administration and Finance, subdirector and director, she was also appointed
as the head of Public Administration Human Resources Research Center of
Macau Polytechnic Institute.

Madam Lidia Luz was appointed as the member of the Committees of Macau
Legislative Elections and Macau City Council. She has joined the Macau
Lawyer Association since 2007.

Vice president of human resources

Ms Ng Wai Cheng, Diarle, aged 50, vice president of human resources
of the Group, is responsible for the Group’s Macau, mainland China and
overseas human resources management and strategy. Ms Ng has substantial
human resources and administration experiences in gaming, hotel, food
and beverage, infrastructure and trading industries. Previously, she was the
director of human resources of Landmark Macau, she also handled human
resources related matters in Pharaoh’s Palace Casino. Ms Ng graduated from
Jinan University with Bachelor of Arts Degree in International Journalism and
Communications, and engaged in media industry after graduation. Currently,
she is the vice president of Macau Greater Bay Area Human Resources
Association, and also the head of Personnel Committee of the Macau Hotel
Association.
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Corporate Governance Report

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company believes that good corporate governance practices are very
important for maintaining and promoting investor confidence and for the
sustainable growth of the Group. The Board sets appropriate policies and
implements corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct and
growth of the Group’s business. The Board is committed to strengthening
the Group’s corporate governance practices and ensuring transparency and
accountability of the Company’s operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has complied with
the CG Code and Listing Rules requirements, except for code provision C.2.1
of the CG Code which stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

A.  The Board
Al. Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management and control of the Company’s business
are vested in the Board, whose main roles are to provide
leadership and to approve strategic policies and plans with a view
to enhancing shareholder value. All Directors take decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk management and
internal control systems, material transactions (in particular those
that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary
and senior management, with a view to ensuring compliance
with Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations.
Any Director may request independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon
reasonable request made to the Board.

The senior management is delegated the authority and
responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management and
operation of the Group. The delegated functions and work tasks
are periodically reviewed by the Company. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the above- mentioned officers. The Board has
the full support of the senior management to discharge its
responsibilities.
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A2.

HHFEFH L A2. Board Composition

IRAFR A ARFEER R The composition of the Board during the year and as at the date

THE AL of this annual report is as follows:

PUTHES

Executive Directors:

REMEA (HHE T - P FE T AT A HAFRE -~ TER —F =] — HEE
(ERFNZER G A - 1 = F = 5 HIEZE(T)

Mr Li Chu Kwan (Chairman of the Board: became on 16 August 2022, chief executive ofticer: appointed on 1
January 2023 and a member of Remuneration Committee: appointed on appointed on 15
December 2022)

PR 2 i 4 (B : B —F =4 — A — HHZAT)

Ms Melinda Chan ®°® (Vice-Chairman: appointed on 1 January 2023)

BRI EE (BB L A T A (= F = A — A =1 — HGHT)

Mr Chan Weng Lin (Co-chairman of the Board and chief executive officer) (resigned on 31 January 2022)

FHESEE (B IEHZ A B E) = F = A =+ —H E#HE)

Mr Tsang Ka Hung (Chief financial officer and a member of the Nomination Committee) (resigned on 31 October
2022)

JEPTHS

Non-executive Directors:

fa R A+ (FEZEREHA)

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda (A member of the Audit Committee)

RS (2 AE = — HEZT)

Mr Li Chun Tak (appointed on 1 March 2022)

WAE e (FriNZ 5 & RIBEZ B e /) (1 = = "4 AL HIEZAT)

Mr Wong Che Man Eddy (A member of both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee) (appointed
on 9 September 2022)

] Sf 2 (HF BRI THHNE S RIE5ZEEKA) (1 —F = 4/ H LN HB(T)

Mr David Chow ®°© (Co-chairman of the Board and a member of both the Remuneration Committee and the

Nomination Committee) (retired on 16 August 2022)

BALIEPUATE DR

Independent non-executive Directors:

BIRSESE (FHFHZE G T HHNE G & RIEEE G0 A)

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky (Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of both the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee)

BN/ e TNz 5 & LI HFEEE G RIESFRGIKE)

Mr Wang Hongxin (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and

(alias Wang, Charles Hongxin) the Nomination Committee)

KRR E (5 E G & LI He#H LG G RFNES ) (7 —F = "= — HEZ(T)

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee) (appointed on 1 March 2022)

RS S/ 125 Z 8 G TIFHFEZE G G RYNES G E) (7 = FE = 4" H = HBT)

Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria (Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee) (resigned on 3 February 2022)

BIGE @ PR SERR Lo R shkR oA 2 22 Note: Ms Melinda Chan is the wife of Mr David Chow.

To
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The biographical details of the existing Directors and the
relationships among the members of the Board are disclosed
under the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in
this annual report.

Save as disclosure therein, there is no other relationship between
board members.

Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules set out that the
Company must have at least three independent non-executive
Directors, representing at least one-third of the Board. Rules 3.25
and 3.27A of the Listing Rules set out that the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company must
comprise a majority of independent non-executive Directors.
Following the resignation of Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria on 3
February 2022, the Board comprised only two independent non-
executive Directors, both the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee comprised of one executive Director,
one non-executive Director and two independent non-executive
Directors, which was not in compliance with the requirements
under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.25 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

On 1 March 2022, the Company appointed Mr Mak Ka Wing,
Patrick as an independent non-executive Director, a member of
the Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit Committee
and a member and chairman of the Nomination Committee. Since
the appointment of Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick and the changes
in composition of board committees, the Company is now in
compliance with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A,
3.25 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

The members of the Board have skills and experience appropriate
for the business requirements and objectives of the Group.
Each executive Director is responsible for different business
and functional division of the Group in accordance with his/her
expertise. The non-executive Directors bring different business
and financial expertise, experiences and independent judgement to
the Board and they are invited to serve on the Board committees
of the Company. Through participation in Board meetings and
taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflicts
of interests, the non-executive Directors had made contributions
to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of both the Group
and the shareholders.
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A3

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in light of the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules.

The Company has implementable and effective mechanism to
ensure independent views and inputs are available to the Board,
with the following key features: (i) the Nomination Committee
is established with clear terms of reference to identify suitable
candidates, including independent non-executive Directors,
for appointment as Directors; (ii) the Nomination Committee
will assess annually the independence of all independent non-
executive Directors; and (iii) the Directors are entitled to seek, at
the Group’s expense, independent professional advice reasonably
necessary for discharging their duties as Directors. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism and
considered it to be effective.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Prior to the resignation of Mr Chan Weng Lin as an executive
Director, the co-chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company with effect from 31 January 2022, (1)
Mr Chan Weng Lin and Mr David Chow were co-chairmen of
the Board and responsible for the management of the Board and
ensuring that all major and appropriate issues are discussed by
the Board in a timely and constructive manner; and (2) Mr Chan
Weng Lin took care of the day-to-day management of the Group’s
business and implementation of the Group’s policies, strategic
plans and business goals formulated by the Board. Although Mr
Chan Weng Lin was both a co-chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company, the powers had been
shared between the co-chairmen and Mr David Chow would also
exercise his power and authorities as a co-chairman in managing
the affairs of the Board and the Company. The Board believed
that the balance of power and authority for such arrangement
would not be impaired and was adequately ensured by the Board
which comprised experienced and high caliber individuals with
sufficient number of Directors being non-executive Directors.

On 1 March 2022, Mr Li Chu Kwan and Ms Melinda Chan have
been appointed as co-chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Company respectively. Following the retirement of
Mr David Chow as a non-executive Director and the co-chairman
of the Board with effect from 16 August 2022, Mr Li Chu Kwan
has acted as the chairman of the Board since then.
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RoFECEAFE—A—H s EEL On 1 January 2023, Ms Melinda Chan resigned as the chief
LB A FIAT BUARAR S AR RIS executive officer of the Company and Mr Li Chu Kwan was
O ERAT B A A FAT B o it appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company. Upon
TAL MM B AT B R AR » & the appointment of Mr Li Chu Kwan as the chief executive
FEMSE A BT AR A R #E S g T officer, Mr Li Chu Kwan has performed both of the roles as
FAT BRI IS o 73 f A S the Chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company.
VAP RIS RSO CL2 1k - This deviates from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. The
GRS FEMAGHEERGK Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance
AN FVE PRIG 2 THIRE 1 AR RER) T of power and authority between the Board and the management
fir o RS > BRI — AHMEE of the Company. The Board believes that vesting both the roles
JHE AT AR ) £ 0 1 AR 4R AR A of Chairman and the chief executive officer in the same person
R ) M — B I R has the benefit of providing a strong and consistent leadership to
R R - R CE A SE Y the Group and allows for more effective planning, management
RN o A ERERE > F and implement the overall strategy of the Group. In addition, the
HEgPPATEFRB I RATES Board is of the view that the balanced composition of executive
MR > IR EH G KRR T and the independent non-executive Directors on the Board and
(F- 22 g S JE AT #E G A ) AR the various committees of the Board (primarily comprising
NN J7 AT R - independent non-executive Directors) in overseeing different
PRAL A0 ORI > RECRHE 77 R4 HE aspects of the Company’s affairs would provide adequate
BV o B g AR A AR I safeguards to ensure a balance of power and authority. The
L IR AR 4758 74 212 6] ) 8 155 00 [ 4 2 Board will continue to review and consider splitting the roles
JiE BAT B AR ) A, o BRI > B of the Chairman and the chief executive officer at a time when
B S o bl e R BAR A AR appropriate and suitable by taking into account the circumstances
oAl B AERRS o of the Group as a whole. Hence, the aforesaid deviation is
appropriate and in the best interest of the Company at the present
stage.
Ad. Z(ERFHEEF A4, Appointment and Re-election of Directors
PN b R s e All Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term.
o PATE R RIFRATE S K B #% Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors is
B =R IR & A= > T AR engaged on a service contract for a term of 3 years, which may
— IR DA = AR H R T be terminated by either party by not less than 3 months’ written
MENE - MATE R E ML LA notice. Ms Melinda Chan, an executive Director is engaged on a
WM AR & 4 Z > T lE— service contract for a term of 2 years, which may be terminated
JrEE R DA AR A Y o T A by either party by not less than 3 months’ written notice. Each
1k o AR FVB L AT A5 B IR of the independent non-executive Directors of the Company is
ZARARIAZAT G T [ E IR 2 AT A PR appointed for a term of 3 year and renewable automatically for a
e 5 1 28 H B o R A — 4 successive term of one year each commencing from the next day
BRI — I o — E A D = after the expiry of the then current term of appointment, unless
I8 g Sl T A 1k 2 1k o terminated by either party giving to the other not less than 3
months’ prior notice in writing.
LA B HOA B B AT R e The Articles of Association contain provisions on the procedures
MR 7 SRR E o ARAE R4 and process of appointment and removal of Directors. According
A IR =0 2 — AR 9 (i to the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors for
EYN i =i b g the time being (if their number is not a multiple of three, the
HARDIR =2 — M E ) 28R 6 number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
R AR L AR > B office by rotation at each annual general meeting provided
2436 HJH s 0B AR R AR R that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
& FER{ERAE—IK o 1A > (BT general meeting at least once every three years. In addition, any
RGBT DM E R g2 new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in
A 387 S AT A S R A A the Board and any new Director appointed by the Board as an
R GFIHER AT B AN addition to the Board shall hold office until the next following
EBCRAE AR S E o RAEE R annual general meeting of the Company. The retiring Directors
A AH R SRR & b ol e R 8 are eligible for re-election by the Shareholders at the respective
fE o general meetings.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2022 Annual Report 31



i % 6 W (8D

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

32

AS.

AR LAl Ao R A0 ) 265 840 > 2= Ak
Serk Lt R BB e AR
A& T SRR AR
AL > TAR AR A AR A0 I 2583(3)
i WA R E —F =
SRR AR R G o 2RISR
M At~ RIS MR A SO
AR B RS =
R AU AR R ISR - R
& S 22 B e eI AF AT -
(7] A 4F # — F 2 25 19 A2 R A B R
& B Ny P
fgﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬁ%%%%
AR -

HHIG R 5 TR

R ZATTE H 1 YT AT Ry 4
S ANEAGHE  FER FLIE A SR [ 9 36
B B g A A T > Sl SE
B T AR R A ) B R IA
IR AT -

HUAT T 2 0 ) R A S B
J& > DAHE R R AR T M e
T PR 45 1) 2 587 1 L R S AR B
M ERK o A2 ALIEAE BRI DU 2
2P A PR Y 3l 1) S
B AR B SRR R B s A o AR SR
53 P A7 5 S 22 LA B 35 I ERAE
2 A TR -

AR ) B S A AT Y
32 A TR IO BRI AR - DA R 705
AR e A 2 ] ) S S 0 > Sl R
i L 7R _E A R B B TS
AT L 6 H5 o

B AT: S S A B O A 2 R AT %
JE ~ S R S S AL M BB UL
DA% i N H I ARS8 1) Rk 2 2 RE -
T PR 05 45 3 2 S8 19 R A AR
TR EHER o AR > B’
LR A e
BEE o JLAh o FRAMIRA IR ) 3 42
A Bl A 4 J 7 T 190 T S i Y
MM BB TT Bk - HE2%E - A
X ) 5 4 B 2 A B B R
T > 2 i AR TR -

BE-F - "HF+_H=1+—HI
R EROESFAEERTIW
SFRIMESCEC. 1.4 > HAERE S
(RPZ=hEse A~ BRERL+ ~ BR
SRR~ R RS~ TR E L
+ -~ BRI~ koA - R
ERERSEAE ~ BIBELEAE - ARG
A~ BB R ER ) EE
e BN R AN SR R S,
A 2 IR IR T L B
EALH B Mo Rt o

MR AR ARAT] 202245

AS.

According to Article 84 of the Articles of Association, Mr Li Chu
Kwan, Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda and Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky
shall retire by rotation at the 2023 AGM whereas according to
Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr Wong Che Man
Eddy shall hold office until the 2023 AGM. Mr Li Chu Kwan,
Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda, Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky and Mr
Wong Che Man Eddy, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the 2023 AGM. The Board and the Nomination
Committee recommended their re-appointment. The Company’s
circular in relation to the 2023 AGM sent together with this
annual report, contains detailed information of the above
Directors as required by the Listing Rules.

Training and Continuing Development of Directors

Each newly appointed Director will receive induction on the
first occasion of his/her appointment so as to ensure he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

The existing Directors should participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally- facilitated
briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading materials on
relevant topics will be issued to Directors by the Company where
appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.

All directors of the Company receive a comprehensive induction
on his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of
the business and operations of the Group and full awareness of
director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

The existing directors are continually updated with legal and
regulatory developments, business and market changes to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Continuing briefings and professional development for directors
are arranged whenever necessary. In addition, reading materials
on new or changes to salient laws and regulations applicable to
the Group are provided to the directors from time to time for their
studying and reference. All directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors complied
with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code. All Directors
namely, Mr Li Chu Kwan, Ms Melinda Chan, Mr Chan Weng
Lin, Mr Tsang Ka Hung, Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda, Mr Li Chun
Tak, Mr Wong Che Man Eddy, Mr David Chow, Mr Lau Ngai
Kee, Ricky, Mr Wang Hongxin, Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick
and Ms Tam Wai Chu, Maria have received regular briefings
and updates from professional firm on the Group’s business/
operations/corporate governance matters which are relevant to
their duties and responsibilities.
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A6. Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
governing Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities.
Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and they have
confirmed their compliance with the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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151 FHAE -

The Company also has established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code (the “Employees Written
Guidelines”), governing securities transactions by relevant
employees who are likely to possess inside information of the
Company and/or its securities. No incident of non-compliance of
the Employees Written Guidelines by the relevant employees was
noted by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022.

A7.
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In case when the Company is aware of any restricted period for

dealings in the Company’s securities, the Company will notify its

Directors and relevant employees in advance.

A7. Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in

the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and

practices, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in

this Corporate Governance Report.
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A8 EFH AR A8. Directors’ Attendance Records
HEREFEANAREE T -~ The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings,
T HZ = IR RATINE Board committees meetings and general meetings of the Company
FEGHE  FEFETEGERLR held during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out below:
REWREEEI T
BT R B

Attendance/Number of Meetings
HHE HwHEEY WMEEG WYHZEG i s A 47

HHEEA ok ik ik ik e
Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee General

Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

AR AR 16/17 - 11 - /1

Mr Li Chu Kwan e b

IR 3 i 2 L D 16/17 - 3/4 - 1

Ms Melinda Chan "2

R Ao Sl A 0/1 - - - 0/0

Mr Chan Weng Lin ™3

FM o Wik 15/15 - - 3/3 11

Mr Tsang Ka Hung ®°¢®

fal L 16/17 3/3 - - 1/1

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda

RIS A 14/14 - - - /1

Mr Li Chun Tak @

G SRR e 212 - /1 1/1 0/0

Mr Wong Che Man Eddy

JEL SR S A 6/11 - 212 2/2 0/1

Mr David Chow "7

BURALSEA 15/17 3/3 4/4 4/4 0/1

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky

FALRSEAE 15/17 2/3 3/4 3/4 171

Mr Wang Hongxin

(alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)

T S e 11/14 3/3 3/3 3/3 171

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick ®®

R BB A o i) 171 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0

Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria ®?

BtsE - Notes:

()  FEHEAER _EF - F+ A (1) Mr Li Chu Kwan was appointed as a member of the Remuneration
I M AT S E & B R Committee on 15 December 2022. Subsequent to his appointment,
B hEREZH > BHEZZE 1 Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year
B ey S B3 ended 31 December 2022.

FEATIRFMZ B ok
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Ms Melinda Chan resigned as a member of the Remuneration
Committee on 15 December 2022. During the period from
1 January 2022 and up to her resignation, 4 Remuneration
Committee meetings were held.

Mr Chan Weng Lin resigned as an executive Director on 31
January 2022. During the period from 1 January 2022 and up to his
resignation, 1 Board meeting was held.

Mr Tsang Ka Hung resigned as an executive Director and a
member of the Nomination Committee on 31 October 2022.
During the period from 1 January 2022 and up to his resignation,
15 Board meetings, 3 Nomination Committee meetings and one
annual general meeting were held.

Mr Li Chun Tak was appointed as a non-executive Director on 1
March 2022. Subsequent to his appointment, 14 Board Meetings
and one annual general meeting were held during the year ended
31 December 2022.

Mr Wong Che Man Eddy was appointed as a non-executive
Director, a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee on 9 September 2022. Subsequent to
his appointment, 2 Board meetings, 1 Remuneration Committee
meeting and 1 Nomination Committee meeting were held during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Mr David Chow retired as a non-executive Director, a member of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee on 16 August 2022. During the period from 1 January
2022 and up to his retirement, 11 Board meetings, 2 Remuneration
Committee meetings, 2 Nomination Committee meetings and one
annual general meeting were held.

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, Chairman of the Nomination Committee,
in place of Mr Wang Hongxin, a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 1 March 2022.
Subsequent to his appointment, 14 Board meetings, 3 Audit
Committee meetings, 3 Remuneration Committee meetings, 3
Nomination Committee meetings and one annual general meeting
were held during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria resigned as an independent non-
executive Director, Chairman of the Nomination Committee, a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee on 3 February 2022. During the period from 1 January
2022 and up to her resignation, 1 Board meeting was held.
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Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company have been established with defined
written terms of reference which are posted on the Company’s website
“www.macaulegend.com” and on the Stock Exchange’s website
“www.hkexnews.hk”. All the Board committees should report to the
Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.

Bl1. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises a total of four members, being
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr Lau
Ngai Kee, Ricky (Chairman), Mr Wang Hongxin and Mr Mak
Ka Wing, Patrick; and one non-executive Director, namely,
Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda. Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky possesses
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules. None of the members of the Audit Committee
is a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditors.
All of the members are non-executive Directors and the majority
of the members are independent non-executive Directors. Madam
Tam Wai Chu, Maria has resigned as a member of the Audit
Committee with effect from 3 February 2022.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing the
financial information and reports of the Group and considering
any significant or unusual items raised by the financial officers
of the Group or external auditors before submission to the Board;
reviewing the relationship with and the terms of appointment of
the external auditors and making the relevant recommendation
to the Board; and reviewing the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management system and internal control system.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee
has performed the following major tasks:

—  Review and discuss the annual financial statements, results
announcement and report for the year ended 31 December
2021, the related accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and the relevant audit findings,
the report from the management on the Company’s risk
management and internal control review and processes
and recommendation of the re- appointment of the external
auditor;

—  Review and report on continuing connected transactions
carried out during the year ended 31 December 2021;

—  Review and discuss the interim financial statements, results
announcement and report for the six months ended 30 June
2022 and the related accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group;

— Review and approve the engagement letters of Ernst &
Young as the auditor of the Company, the nature and scope
of the audit for the year ended 31 December 2022, their
reporting obligations and their work plan; and

—  Review the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit
function, internal audit plan and report.

The external auditors were invited to attend the meetings to
discuss with the Audit Committee on issues arising from the audit
and financial reporting matters. Besides, there is no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the
appointment of Ernst & Young as the external auditor for the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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B2.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of five members,
being three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr
Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin) (Chairman), Mr
Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky and Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick; one non-
executive Director, namely, Mr Wong Che Man Eddy; and one
executive Director, namely, Mr Li Chu Kwan. Accordingly,
the majority of the members are independent non-executive
Directors. Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria and Ms Melinda Chan
have resigned as members of the Remuneration Committee with
effect from 3 February 2022 and 15 December 2022 respectively.
Mr David Chow has retired as a member of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 16 August 2022. Mr Mak Ka Wing,
Patrick, Mr Wong Che Man Eddy and Mr Li Chu Kwan have
been appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee
on 1 March 2022, 9 September 2022 and 15 December 2022
respectively.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure and the remuneration packages
of Directors and members of senior management (that is, the
model described in the code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code
is adopted). The Remuneration Committee is also responsible
for establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by
reference to the performance of the individual and the Company as
well as market practice and conditions.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration

Committee has performed the following major tasks:

—  Assess the performance of executive Directors;

—  Review the Group’s remuneration policy; and

—  Review the remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management and to make any appropriate adjustments,

approve the terms of service agreements/appointment
letters as appropriate.
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AR 4 2 8 A <1 B B9 <1 I SCER Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
E.l5W 2 -F -4 +_A remuneration of the members of the senior management (other
=t —HILEE > FHEUIMI SR than Directors) by bands for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
AP B ) A R S 4 A 0 S set out below:
WAy
N
Number of
individuals
15T %21,000,000%5 7T HKS$1 to HK$1,000,000
1,000,001 5 7T 422,000,000 G HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 3
4
L RAEFEAE N E B o The above table excluded the employees that were resigned

during the year.

AH®E_FZ " +=A=+— Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the
H 1k 4F B 2% 38 5 5 0 56 8 g year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 10 to the
AL GRS MBS R M EE10 - consolidated financial statements of the Group.

REZAT B3. Nomination Committee

WAz HFNLRE > Eﬂ = The Nomination Committee comprises a total of four members,
# ?%J_ FEATEFEREZE A (E being three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr
i) ALK etk T B3R 5 2k s Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (Chairman), Mr Wang Hongxin and Mr
Jo— % #ﬁ TrEE A o B Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky and one non-executive Director, namely, Mr
i N5 = VAT e R Wong Che Man Eddy. Accordingly, the majority of the members
HoE M HAZHR HE are independent non-executive Directors. Madam Tam Wai Chu,
HULTORHMEREZRG TN - Maria has resigned as the chairman of the Nomination Committee
BoF AN ANER S JHH with effect from 3 February 2022. Mr David Chow has retired
MAEACRERAZRGNA - A as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 16
ZERCICFETA=ET AR BR August 2022. Mr Tsang Ka Hung has resigned as a member of
A CRHERAZRGNA - A the Nomination Committee with effect from 31 October 2022.
CERITHEEA—HR BREE Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick has been appointed as the chairman
ACEEERAIREZZAG TR - A of the Nomination Committee with effect from 1 March 2022.
ZERITHEIAJURRE > BESkE Mr Wong Che Man Eddy has been appointed as a member of the
ACEREARAEEENE - Nomination Committee with effect from 9 September 2022.
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The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular
basis and recommending any changes to the Board; identifying
qualified and suitable individuals to become Board members
and selecting and making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors in particular, the chairman and
the chief executive of the Company.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s
competitive advantage. A Board Diversity Policy was adopted
by the Company during the year under review, pursuant to which
the Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board
maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and
assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee is
committed to achieving diversity at all levels and will consider
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and regional and industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business
growth and is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and
selection practices at all levels (from the Board downwards) are
appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are
considered. The Board will consider setting measurable objectives
to implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such
objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and
ascertain the progress made towards achieving those objectives.

As of the date of this annual report, 2 of 8 of the Company’s
Directors are female and 3 out of 5 of the senior management
of the Company are female. As of 31 December 2022, the
Group had a total of 970 female staff out of 1,966 employees,
representing 49.3% of the employees of the Group. The Group
will continue to take opportunities to increase the proportion
of female board members and workforce as and when suitable
candidates are identified. The Company aims to maintain at least
1 female director on the Board. Further details on the gender
ratio of the Group together with relevant data can be found in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company.
The Board and the Nomination Committee have reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity policy
and considered it to be effective for the year ended 31 December
2022.
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ARNFINC RN E SRR L EOR - 7% The Company has also adopted the Director Nomination Policy
BUORGI L BLAR A R B AN R which sets out the selection criteria and process and the Board
A R 119 25 SBE AEE T A DA R succession planning considerations in relation to nomination and
HEEE - BIEMRES G EMYH appointment of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure
EN/NEINTI=E i L YN TR 4] that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
LR s EEVYE -0 perspectives appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the
T S I S SRR ) Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.
R EOR TR AL R g The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the factors for
ANZ GRS #H R W EE assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the
BRI EERR » AR BRA « A B Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to
EE G (EAREA A R 2 3 the following: character and integrity; qualifications including
1 RIS AR B 2 L~ $hnk - professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that
FIk B K8 Bw) 5 & Jr i 2 oot (| are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;
FEARCRBRAER ~ 488 (/A Bk A diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
)~ UL RHEEE 5 - ik - ¥ age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
REBR - Hone - R RIRBAER) 5 E ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
HGg AR IFPATER ZHIE R of service; requirements of independent non-executive Directors
SRR AL AT O R A ARE B on the Board and independence of the proposed independent non-
U N YOS GRS N O] executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and
W R A B A i > DUBATIE B A A commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
HREG AR, WHEETZ BTN to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
BRI - committee(s) of the Company.
REE_F AT A=+ —H During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination
IL4EE > RAZABFCETU T E Committee has performed the following major tasks:
A
—  WETEEEREM - AN —  Review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
A T 22 0 DA e AR L B 2 Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and
CIE A S VS ETIR ) experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to the
B AL - A ALE requirements for the business of the Group;
T
— AR FRZEZZAERR — Recommend the re-election of the retiring Directors
AR R G LR AT I g5 g standing for re-election at the Company’s 2022 annual
Tz FERAHER R X general meeting; and
—  FEITAEBLERATE R —  Assess the independence of all the independent non-
BN executive Directors.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2022 Annual Report 41



i % 6 W (8D

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

C.  EIRIME PN AT

FEHOMBEEMUALARE —F
T THA=E T HIREEM B HRE

HYFAL

EEG AT E R s - R
BER - R B A AR b
LRI B A B A R R T e S H > B
HRFF ~ W L o B R AY o v AR B
J& CL 1 3 2 e A P MR L R
DA 2 25 g it AR 24 7] BB OB GIR DA

WA R - DR T HE R gl -

S 2 57 AN R0 25 A A KA T 2
15 DUAT BE & B O B 2 A R AR Y

ab
He JJ °

D. B B R A

T S 0 2 EL 7R S g L B R B A
AMAK - RA TR %% R B
B WEAF AR B E M PN JE I BROR AERE
BCERS AR S - T LA e R K
BBt 5UR JAF S BRI JE A8 Y fR

7 o

ERGBEA AN AEEALTF R
B A T B 3 L e v Qe AR
BE > S 7 R A A A R R KA R
JE\ B B R IR R AT o WK AE
b B 2 = AL B B % oA T 4 R
LR B R LR LR - BUAT S BN

W o

A B2 1 i G2 S bR A A (R JEL B A PR e
L A85) > AT WY DL B S i e S AL
WO R EE - B TR &
A~ NJVEVE - B RHPHSE s ERE

BRI BATHES] -

AL V08 I AR B S A S A 4 T 2 T
B i B R o BT B P R TR R A
R TR R K kA B R A A B
JE WSS - RIS TERE I - R
g - NN EREN - BES
W e R 22 42 55 T T 4 B SR 2L Sl

FZ B AR B o e -

42 MR AR ARAT] 202245

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2022.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, quarterly
financial information, inside information announcements and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements. The senior management has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the financial information and
position of the Company, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledge its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading
the management and overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has developed and adopted different risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation
by key business processes and office functions, including gaming
operations, hotel operations, food and beverage, construction, finance,
human resources, information technology.

The internal audit team is responsible for performing independent
review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The internal audit team identifies
and examines key issues in relation to the hotel/casino management,
strategic management, key operational and financial processes, human
resources management, regulatory compliance and information security
and provides its findings and recommendations for improvement to the
Audit Committee.
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The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee, has performed
annual review on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
by reviewing the management report and the internal audit findings,
the actions taken and the plans formulated to remedy the deficiencies.
The Board is not aware of any material defect or weakness of the
internal systems and controls in relation to anti- money laundering and
counter-terrorist financing which would have an adverse impact on the
operations of the Group; and considered that the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group are effective and adequate.

The Group has developed its disclosure policy which provides a general
guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries.

External Auditor and Auditor’s Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report™ in this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to the Group’s external auditor in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2022
are analyzed below:

e AT 2
Fees paid/payable
(o0
(HK$)
B -
Audit services:
— HECE AT A = HIRFE R R 3,500,000
— Audit fee for the year ended 31 December 2022
FERZ BT
Non-audit services:
— BE AT AR A S H SR A R 500,000
— Interim review for the six months ended 30 June 2022
— BB A HUIRH; 136,000
— Tax compliance services
Hst 4,136,000
Total
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Company Secretary

Ms So Ka Man of Tricor Services Limited, an external service provider,
was appointed as the company secretary of the Company with effect
from 1 December 2022.

The primary contact person of the Company, whom Ms So Ka Man can
contact, is Ms Lam Shu Yan, the chief financial officer of the Company.

During the year under review, Ms So Ka Man has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional trainings in compliance with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

Communications with Shareholders and Investors

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Group also
recognises the importance of transparent and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which enables Shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decision.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of its shareholders’ communication
policy in place and considered it as effective and adequate. The
Company maintains a website at “www.macaulegend.com” as a
communication platform with Shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s business developments
and operations and other information are available for public access.
Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests to the
Company as follows:

Address: Palace Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf,
Avenida da Amizade e Avenida da, Dr. Sun Yat
Sen, Macau

Fax No.: (853) 2822 2266

Email: ir@macaulegend.com

Besides, Shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. Board
members and appropriate senior staff of the Group are available at the
meeting to answer any questions raised by Shareholders.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its Shareholders and investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them posted of the Company’s developments. Enquiries from
Shareholders and investors are dealt with in an informative and timely
manner.
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Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions are
proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including
the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’ consideration
and voting. The Shareholders may convene an extraordinary general
meeting or put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings as follows:

(1)  Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company may
request the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association by sending
a written requisition to the Board or the company secretary. The
objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

(2) If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director at a general meeting, pursuant
to Article 85 of the Articles of Association, the shareholder (other
than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote
at the general meeting shall send a written notice, duly signed by
the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person for
election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of
his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged
at the Company’s head office or the office of the Company’s
branch share registrar. The period for lodgement of such notices
shall commence on the day after the despatch of the notice of
such general meeting and end no later than 7 days prior to the
date of such general meeting.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deliver and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement (as the case
may be) to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in order
to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

All resolutions proposed at shareholder meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company
“www.macaulegend.com”, respectively, immediately after the relevant
general meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has amended
and restated its Articles of Association on 16 August 2022. Details
of the amendments are set out in the circular dated 15 July 2022 to
the Shareholders. An up to date version of the Company’s Articles of
Association is also available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website. There were no further significant changes to our
Articles of Association since such amendment and restatement.
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ABOUT THIS ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Macau Legend Development Limited (hereafter the “Company” or “Macau
Legend”) with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”, “we”, “our”) is
pleased to publish this environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report
(the “Report”), summarising our management approach, initiatives and

performance of the ESG issues.

Scope of Report

The Report covers the ESG management approaches, environmental and
social performance of the Group during the period from 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2022 (the “Reporting Period” or “2022”"). With the assessment of
the material and core business operation, we have included our gaming and
non-gaming operations in Macau and Hong Kong, including offices, hotels,
casinos and Macau Fisherman Wharf property in this Report. Unless otherwise
specified, there is no change in reporting scope compared to the previous year.

Reporting Standard

The Report has been prepared in line with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide™) under Appendix 27 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

etk I Eitipud

Reporting Principles Description

M AT B 0 R R R A O HEAT N AR R B A AN o BT B P SR R A [ T AL T e o
Materiality Material topics are assessed through internal discussion and surveys of key stakeholders. A materiality matrix is

produced and presented in the session — Materiality Assessment.

ik JIr A A R BRI B B SRR A 2 S GG P S EAT R L 2B - I PR AR A9 7 325 W 2 9k 45 F) 2%

Quantitative i o

All social and environmental key performance indicators are calculated and presented with reference to the ESG

Reporting Guide and robust methodologies are adopted as illustrated in the respective sections of the Report.

-1y ot PRI | — AR RO LU o SR T AR A BT Y BRSO 22 [
Balance Data comparisons with the previous year are presented in the Report with illustration on the achievement and

rooms for improvement of the Group.

—EE AR ARYE S — AR AR B 7 i R R

Consistency The Report has been prepared based on the methodology which is the same as the previous year.

ARECAE R GHF RN

The Report has been reviewed and approved by the Board.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group has been in constant contact with its stakeholders through a variety
of channels to better understand their needs, concerns, and expectations. The
channels that are tailored for each stakeholder group are shown in the table
below:

P H R

Investors and Shareholders

sk b

ARRNE

JB AR

A BN e
Company website
Company’s announcements
Annual general meeting
Annual and interim reports

%

Customers

aiEED

IERERT il

SR AN B R

&R A

Company website

Customer direct communication
Customer feedback and complaints
Customer satisfaction surveys

BT
Employees

BRI 5

BT AR A

BT

B ARG

Training and orientation

Email and opinion boxes
Employee tea gatherings
Employee performance evaluation

BV B S 5 T

Suppliers and Business Partners

ST AN 5 A

PRI AR

Selection assessment and background check
Procurement process

Ak [ O\ F ks BAL R IR

Communities AL S )
Company website and social media platforms
Community activities

e 2N T A

Media INFA

AT &

Company website
Company’s announcements
Social networking platforms
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ki1

Identification

E 2

Engagement

3t BLE A

E Analysis &
- Evaluation

i e

Review P

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To identify the ESG issues that are material to the Group in formulating
appropriate ESG strategies on ESG management and determining the
direction of the Report, the Group has made reference to the results of
materiality assessment, which evaluated the views of our internal and external
stakeholders on ESG issues in accordance with their relevance and importance
to the business operation and the stakeholders. Based on the materiality of
each of the ESG issues expressed by the stakeholders, the ESG issues were
prioritised and shown in the materiality matrix below. The issues which
located in the upper right corner of the matrix were defined as the topics that
matter the most in the Group’s business operation and are of most concern to
our stakeholders.

-?ﬁﬁﬂ&@EWMGiﬁﬁﬁ%%%%%%%
A A
e To create and categorise a list of potential

ESG topics and identify key stakeholder groups

o Biam NES AN R D SE AR R R A
¢ To invite internal and external stakeholders to
complete an online survey

o FRALANE I B R B IESG

¢ To evaluate and prioritise the most material
ESG topics

o A RIEEIRUETTEMN > LUEEESG I ETE
PEER AR Y B S 7

e The results are reviewed by the Company to
determine the priority of the ESG topics for
ESG report disclosure and future improvement
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B
Environment
Employment

Operation

B o =

F 0y #  E A
Significance of Stakeholders

R
Environment
1 BERP
Air emission
2. ESE T
Greenhouse gas emission
3. RMEsEL
Climate change
4. RIS
Energy efficiency
5. KAEK
Water & effluents
6. FIEHIET
Use of materials
7. BEYMER
Waste management
8. BR{RAH
Environmental
compliance
{ J

50 TS A A R R

i B i !
Materiality Matrix

AR

Medium Priority

R

High Priority @

@ 10 11723
1874

2025
% o
Yo
P
%°
P o

R B4 w AR
Low Priority Medium Priority

EP A I SE N T A

Significance to the Group’s Business and Operation

fad1

Community

& Employment B¥E Operation

. BN

Customer satisfaction

. E PR E R BB

Customer service quality &
complaints handling

. R F R A
Customer health and safety

B E AR AR AR
Marketing and product and
service labelling compliance
.

Intellectual property

. B RAAER R

Customer privacy and data
protection

. AR

Responsible supply chain
management

Business ethics

. ALEREEH

Socio-economic compliance

27. #Estm

Community investment

: Note:
! G R RS E) o B > A AR R AN !
BT AP RV A AR o

There were no significant changes on the operation. As such, the results of the
2021 materiality assessment continued to be adopted.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Except for the materiality assessment, we have also gone through the
stakeholder engagement, industrial benchmarking, and risk assessment
processes to identify the ESG topics that are most important to the Group.
After discussion and consolidation, we have come up with the below six ESG

topics as our key considerations:

M EEESGH EH F
Our Key ESG Considerations
B e i
Environment Employment

S
Climate Change

b3
Environment

BE
Operation

& F s

Customer Services

Business Ethnics

The below table explains the importance of these ESG issues and how the
Group responds to them in various measures.

ETS [
Climate Change

ik R SRS B SR b TR SRS AL S BRI RIS « SRUEA AR Y
HEERE T REfEH B T REF %4 -

Extreme weather events and rising temperatures are signs of
climate change’s impacts. Physical concerns brought on by the
climate may jeopardise safety of employees and customers.

BEAh o SRS Al Ttk R Bl A5 T E AR Aol S i 2 JaL By >
SO ~ TH R A A I T T T SRR B BB -
T IE U0 B R S i B o

Additionally, transition risks due to regulatory tightening,
evolving consumer preferences, and technology advancement
to accommodate the new climate pattern may be brought on by
climate change and policy related to carbon neutrality. We have
been closely monitoring the development of this trend.

R - i BAM A RERI A S B B % 55 SR AR B > FI3R
A SETRIE TS R T /MBI E -

Our business health and overall competitiveness may be harmed if
we do not identify and handle these climate-related threats in the
long run.

7y R 3B 7K 3 o e J A A B R B o oA L A I
B~ R SR E BB -

To address challenges brought on by flooding
and typhoons, we have devised a set of policies
for our front office, security, and housekeeping
departments.

TEBRAT G LT > FAM 25 1E 4 i U S )ik
H oo

Under our management, we have been promoting
the switch to electric vehicles.
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B

Environment

TET G > M AEK ~ IR R B S SR - R
1> FAM B Rp i B 18 1 - DRAEBRIE R 10 R 3T

In the hotel operation, we consume resources such as water,
plastic products and daily necessity items. However, we and our
stakeholders believe protecting the environment is the duty of
every business.

B BUR BB 0 B R i A S BRI R B - PR T B
ReH e R B TR 22 2 0h - RAEMRERRSE & (A ml W
P 2 4 RO S TR TR LA IR <

Customers, the government, and other stakeholders are
emphasising businesses’ environmental performance more and
more. In addition to endangering the local population’s health and
safety as well as that of the workforce, failing to safeguard the
environment puts the company at risk of damaging its reputation
and breaking environmental laws.

T 5 ORI W BRI AL > /M E
16 % 5 4 B Ak R R ) o B o FRAMR
T RN K SEE U K bR IR 2K ] i E
Jits <

To help our guests use fewer resources while
staying at our hotels, we have promoted the green
hotel programme to them. Additionally, we have
installed water-saving plumbing fittings like
water-efficient urinals and rainwater recycling
systems.

I 3 fkt e L 22
Occupational
Health and Safety
(“OHS”)

AT AT i ZE8 1 R A e BRI Rk 2 — SR AR P R AN 2 22 ) T A
B o RERDRAEBE R AT M > B+ EARE AME T
T o AT 7 2 I 2 i TR e R B 2 4 R0 R BV B A 1
57 AAATISREE DL SE R R AR R4 o R - AR [ P
AR e D PR S A P B 2 22 R RE o

One of the most important conditions for any business to
operate successfully is maintaining a healthy and safe working
environment. We care about the health of our guests and
employees, especially in light of the pandemic scenario. It is
challenging to totally eradicate work-related events despite the
Group’s continuous efforts to establish OHS-related rules and
initiatives. Therefore, the management of the Group should
continue to prioritise OHS problems.

A B I BT P s A R AN AS R B AR R A
B9 B B SE R 9 B ([COVID-19]) e B EX >
DASIAT REEF COVID- 19K T AT 18 55 ) 3w Sz 38
% o

The Group has formed a coronavirus (“COVID-19”)
readiness team, made up of senior management
and representatives from different divisions, to
implement strategies and countermeasures for the
COVID-19 pandemic outbreak.

1E B BAR
Employee
Relations

HEFRA S I LIRS oy 1 AR A — SR EURR R
W B TRRAL ©

A professional and motivated workforce is necessary to sustain the
Group’s service-oriented business model.

FRAM R R4 B L P R TE R o AR ABHL B LORFFIE MY
AR BRAR Bl g TR 2K 5 TEE A B TR JE B o TRl > B
BT BRI — 123 RR AT 7 46 25 Bl -

We are aware of the significant pressure that our frontline
employees are under. Failure to uphold a positive working
relationship runs the danger of losing qualified people and potential
skills. As a result, the relationship with its employees becomes
extremely crucial for a corporation to remain viable.

FeAm 2 B T 4R 4 2 6 vl U2 A AT R 2
o

For our staff to voice their ideas, we provided a
variety of communication options.

B s

Customer Service

PRI B i e ST 3 T B o AR A i RO R AR e b3
Z— o WAL ZE AT i R AR R IRTS o R REARAT B TR
AERAR T AR > BRE TR 5 2 EORE RS
FARAE Y M R o

In Macau, the market competition is intense in the hospitality and
entertainment industries. We must uphold the highest level of
services as one of the leading businesses in this field. Failure to keep
up a high level of customer satisfaction not only lowers our overall
competitiveness but also damages Macau’s reputation as a tourist
destination serving people around the world.

FAM A H AR A P B S > MBS T > L
fEHOEE

We frequently review our customer feedback and
share to our staff for improvement.
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[EE SRS

Business Ethics

TR W MR 8858 5 > Al REAL TRER A0 IRAE -
The gaming industry deals with a large scale of financial | We offer anti-corruption training and anti-money
transactions that could serve as a channel for money laundering.

AL E AT EEREH SR AR > TERAM A 1%
S5 Ty i S JE DR BB 38 R AR ST f i PO B TR o
Every member of the Group’s workforce, from management to
supporting staff, must exercise extreme caution and observe the
highest ethical standards in all our commercial dealings.

FeAM 25 B THRAE R 75 15l B s e SR S -

laundering test for our staff.

WA R BT

Ay T B RS H > EARL EA
SEESGREMEIT B 88 ~ SR M B - DA [ EHF
132 W BV AT AR Y AE M ES GRS

ESGHE A

AN T EE G T B e (0 R (45 SE RN B BFES G
AHBAZEMER ER AT ~ Rk - BEEREE -
PR ENHE - FREZEGETEE
DB B Rk > B ERES Gt Ef 7] 5 2 S i
o HMUZAG T HHEEMESGH: I T/EH -
DIBIAT A B MESGIR Mg - TAFA K HJE ~ =@
Gy 4 B o

ESGE IR MR -

OUR SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT APPROACH

We have set up a more organised system for tracking, evaluating, and
managing the Group’s primary ESG issues in response to the concerns of the
stakeholders and any possible ESG risks.

ESG Governance Structure

The authority of the Audit Committee of the Company includes the leadership
and supervision of ESG related structure establishment, risk identification,
standard settings, reporting procedure and disclosure to stakeholders. The
Audit Committee meets at least twice a year to discuss ESG issues and report
to the Board. An ESG special working group is formed under the Audit
Committee in order to execute the Group’s ESG strategy. The working group
and its sub-groups meet regularly.

The ESG Governance Structure is as follows:

HEH
The Board

' wUEAE \
Audit Committee
ESG il TARAH
ESG Special Working Group

BRABE ~ R A0 U A A

Environment, Facilities and
Resources Working Group

NIy &S & TAEAL iR TARAL
Human Resources and Society Governance
Working Group Working Group
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ESGE I JERER L 3=

ESG Governance Structure Roles and Responsibilities
HEG o HIEEFRESGR IS

The Board o B RALER A ESGHR &

*  Devising the Group’s ESG strategy
e Reviewing and approving the ESG report

FREHE o WAESGH B - KW - LRI H AR
Audit Committee o WP AITERE A BIESGHY SRS R - SIf Al O 1 N7 38 A A ES G A JURN PRy 0 A J R o
o MRBILESG H EEANE BRRTAl 4 B g R B
o METESGHEIHYBATIH I
o I SEE IR ES G A A R R R i
* Examining the ESG management approach, strategy, priorities and objectives
e Evaluating and determining ESG risks and opportunities, and ensuring that appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control system are in place
» Evaluating the Group’s performance against its ESG goals and targets
e Reviewing the implementation of the ESG mechanism
* Reporting ESG findings and recommendations to the Board

ESGHJ TAR4l o EHESGEURRYEEBIT
ESG Special Working Group o EMIMEZE B EE

*  Supervising the overall execution of ESG policies
e Reporting to the Audit Committee regularly

BRIE ~ it A U8 AR A TELL T I E i ESGEUEK ¢
Environment, Facilities and Resources ¢« L&
Working Group o ERHRHREER (R %

o JEEWIEM

o REURRNER A

o PRI RE S JmUSG  2E

. HEMER

Implementing ESG policies in the following areas:

*  Engineering

e IT and data security

e Waste handling

e Energy and resource management

e Procurement and supply chain risk management
e Food safety

Ny B IR & TARM TELL T I B ESGIEUK -
Human Resources and Society o A&
Working Group o DRI A

o HIBEJEMAEA

o BIEEE

. REIS

R/ TR

Implementing ESG policies in the following areas:
e Human resources

e Occupational health and safety

* Employee development and welfare
e Responsible gambling

e Anti-corruption

*  Community initiative

BRI TELL TSI EESGEUR ¢
Governance Working Group o FErESH
« BH

o [RATIREERFFCA AT

*  ESGJEB# %7 b B 2

Implementing ESG policies in the following areas:
*  Stakeholders engagement

e Legal compliance

e Peer standard research and analysis

*  ESG risk trend analysis and management
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HYESGEUB aF it o 2 356 A e 5 2L 52 IR
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Al B B PR B R P o RZRTAG E 2 AT £
B R EEIENZ B ERERE - AR
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B2z B E R T A B s AR BIESGH B
ek -

ESG Risk Management

Investors and other stakeholders are becoming more concerned about how
ESG risks are identified and controlled. The Group is aware of the significant
risks that ESG issues may pose to its business operations and the significance
of incorporating ESG considerations into its current internal controls and risk
management systems.

During the Reporting Period, the Group engaged an external consultant
to carry out an in-depth ESG risk assessment. A risk assessment survey
was completed by the Board and senior management, and the results were
then analysed and combined to create a prioritised list of ESG issues. The
assessment has made reference to the international standard set by the
Sustainability Accounting Standards Board. Peer research is used as an
additional supplement to the evaluation and recommendations. The Board

and Audit Committee reviewed the recommendations for enhancing its ESG
practises.

TR (437 F i L B

Widespread Diseases
Risk factors of:-

Tk B

Travel Restrictions

HR AT EER - COVID-19 R FATHERG 5 35 A T H AR
The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the hospitality industry due to the

COVID-19/# 2 A H - A4 E
AL T — A COVID-19 4 A

7 o SZ B e A S R AR
(] A PR AR ALK
The Group established a COVID-19

AR B 5 R B BUR EE 1R R > DARERIR R R > AR B T
SN R > LA B R SRS TR o R REEERIMI B A HEE R K -

Over the past few years, governments around the world had implemented travel restrictions to
control the spread of the virus, which has largely decreased the number of visitors abroad, as well as
the demand for hotel and entertainment services. Eventually, it causes our financial uncertainty.

S il

Health and Safety Concerns

S RN 22 2 9 B e AP B R B A 6~ MRS S 7 AR DB ARAT o dE D TR Y
BT oK PR a2 S RS T L B V) He Al AL S B o

Concerns about health and safety have led people to avoid large gatherings, crowded places, and

non-essential travel. It reduces the demand for our services as these are often associated with
close contact and social interaction.

PRRI & o i S TR - SR b R 1 R A0 Ty R B s
Internally, our operations cannot normally run with sufficient human resources if our staff get
infected.

preparedness and response team
during the COVID-19 outbreak
in an effort to halt the spread of
diseases. Our senior management
and representatives from several
departments make up this team.

A > 2 HICOoVID-19
it ) o

For details, please read “COVID-19
Measures”.
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P MBS B R 1 SAE R P SEAT A > AR R AR e 2 > LI IB AT AN
RN E S IRETE I - AL BT MR DOy BT HA B R A et

I A o

VR B A L B
Legal and Regulatory
Risk

Due to the increased concerns about responsible business practices, such as responsible gaming
and cybersecurity, and increased environmental consideration on plastic uses and climate change
issues, the Group needs to prepare itself to comply with the current laws and more tightened
regulations expected in the future.

ST ) 1 BE AR B A A AR

Laws and Regulations that are highly relevant to our operations:

bl A S N I S

SN W

552/91/ME I QR BT %)

58120145 A CHAB AEE I BRI )

162019505 REMHR AR LR)

A R P G 3 o [T S 2 B 2 2 MR A 56516/96/ MU i 2 B 54583/96/M Bl 2
H11/20009%35 H TR B AL SR 5)

538/2005 % QRN ERHA )

557/20225% 15 H CULFY It 8855 S 8 RS A0 s F b )

Law No. 2/91/M Environmental Laws of Macao

Law No. 8/2014 Prevention and Control of Ambient Noise

Law No. 16/2019 on Restrictions on the Distribution of Plastic Bags

Decree-Law no. 16/96/M, and Ordinance no. 83/96/M regarding the environmental and food
hygiene, and fire safety of the F&B industry

Law No. 11/2009 Cybercrime Prevention Law

Law No. 8/2005 Macao Personal Data Protection

Law No. 7/2022 Macao Gaming Law

TETG G R IR S 5 365 h » B
BEEHEEE > WKE - £
M~ R R o R
9 2 65T S B 2 24T
A 40 ER Mas 2 b B
L AR I B o A R A
o 5 4 R DR ) R G A 2 82
i WS HIREER | K&
WBAE ] -

In the hotel and casino businesses,
the daily operation consumes
resources such as bed lining,
towels, toiletries, and plastic
products. We have launched
Green Hotel Programme for years
to conserve the resources and
minimise the waste generated
under our daily operations. For
details and more initiatives of how
we save the resources, please see
“Energy Efficiency” and “Use of
Resources”.

REERTTE S RMERE A
FALTR A o0 (DR AL
AR PIBCR R A 15 > PATESR
1 ) 7 o AT TR
ABE SRR R
T A | o [ A ST I
— i o

In 2022, we have collaborated
more frequently with Yat On
Responsible Gambling Counselling
Centre (“Yat On Centre”), and the
Macau Government to promote
responsible gambling in our
operations. For details, please see
“Responsible Gambling” under the
section of “Maintaining Highest
Business Ethics.”

FKAHEFFISO 27001787 » B
7 A gt AT e BEL AR A B L
By -

‘We demonstrated our determination
to tackle any exposure to cyber-
related risk by getting accredited
with ISO 27001.
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BEERR ADVOCATING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT

A T T B A S AR RS R R B B
H A3 o R 2 " “WBUFRE » B T —
FKAFNER IR At g AR 2 » &
MCE L T30 B R - RMMAGEE
BRI E BLEAM B A4 B A > S DL — e R AL
(1977 A B BAM R BRI AL

The Group is aware that concerns about the Group’s environmental
performance are growing. During the financial year of 2022, we have
taken crucial measures to determine our targets in order to be a responsible
enterprise and cast a positive impact in the society. We believe that setting
these targets can help us reach our organisational goals and provide a more
organised way to keep track of our environmental performance.

H
Our Targets:

i 2 SRS R
Greenhouse Gases
(“GHG”’) Emssions W\

20254FHIT > BRHFAIEHE (5 —F
A EUETTIOA) ¥ EE20214F 19 3%
By 2025, reduce the carbon emission intensity

(Scope 1 and Scope 2, per million HK$ revenue)
by 15% as compared with the baseline in 2021.

RERIH FE v,
Energy Intensity

20254FHij > AEVRIEBE (B A HETTICA) i HE
20214F- WY FESR B0 15%

By 2025, reduce energy intensity (per million
HKS$ revenue) by 15% as compared with the
baseline in 2021.

il A O
Water Consumption O O

20254 R - FOK &5 B (5 E s TTITA)
A LE202 14F 1 FE AR 382 10%

By 2025, reduce water consumption intensity
(per million HKS revenue) by 10% as compared
with the baseline in 2021.

B AF B Al

Waste Management -

20254FHI - HESHAY BEW A HE 2021 47 Y R 4k
210%

By 2025, reduce the waste to landfill by 10% as
compared with the baseline in 2021.
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SR 5 P A i PR Climate Resilience and Carbon Emission

VeE N/ a4 e ] Prepare for Climate Change

AR SR A B B 5 B i VR A A i > R B In accordance with the suggestions made by the Task Force on Climate-
ESGHEIM & 1E » filf S s Ak iy Wb At - related Financial Disclosure, we work with the ESG advisor to identify
B A 3 A L A SR S X ) A 2 A AL At climate change risks and opportunities. Given that it causes frequent changes
REWHB - ERRAS AEEN 2R in weather patterns and extreme weather occurrences, climate change is one of
— o SAMREEAL T REEE AR RS BN T R AR o the most worrisome global challenges. The possible effects of climate change

are summarised in the table below.

sy R ZAEAR » WA SRV AL R ol A Y S T KO ~ SRUNE - R ETHE BAREE c HE L
Acute Physical Risk AR > p A B AE BT FCSRUIE o bk i R 7K A A P B SR Y > R — AR Y e R R

A o Bl S 2 B SRURET B o TR B 2R A R 98 K T TR

The climate change pattern in Macau over the years has exposed our operations to natural disasters like
floods, cyclones, temperature increases, and more. In fact, extreme precipitation events and destructive
tropical cyclones surged resulting from the more frequently formed cyclones in the recent years, such
as typhoon Hato in 2017. Sea flooding associated with storm is expected to surge as tropical cyclones
become more frequent.

i 3 R SRS B ML B B A8 T B A R g e B [ e s RN T R R - R
REHPS TR EURR R UMY 4 T SEBS I paa 15 LB AF: o

Extreme weather events can cause supply chain interruption by bringing damages to the local
infrastructure, as well as human resource disruption since some operations will be forced off-duty when a
No. 8 Typhoon Signal is hoisted.

5 o B FAM Fr) S B A4 R B M AR ALY TR v B e i TR A
Chronic Physical Risk Our operations are mainly located in Macau, the southern part of China, and surrounded by South China

Sea on three sides.

AR 2 S LA B T 4E0.09° CRYE bt o BUAL - 604F 2K - SFIT-TH O R B4R 4. 22K 1 % |
Tt o BEREUR - WPTRIRE RN I AR 2 LTS o SR SRR R A AR A - S a i
JEETE S wPm BT RIIEORS -

The annual mean temperature has increased at a rate of 0.09°C every ten years. Besides, the average sea
level has increased at a rate of 4.2mm per year over the 60 years. The data shows an overall increasing
trend in the temperature and sea level in Macau. It will lead to longer-term shifts in climate patterns such as

rising mean temperatures, rising sea levels, chronic heat waves, etc.

iF Note:

2 FBMBEMAEEZLWFEN T2 H 2 For details about climate change in Macau, please refer to https://www.smg.gov.
https://www.smg.gov.mo/zh/page/363, https:// mo/zh/page/363, https://www.hko.gov.hk/en/publica/reprint/files/r1002.pdf and
www.hko.gov.hk/en/publica/reprint/files/r1002. https://www.cas.cn/syky/201509/t20150914_4424098.shtml .

pdf Mhttps://www.cas.cn/syky/201509/
t20150914_4424098.shtml °
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Eventually, our operating costs will increase as the expenditure on these areas is expected:

e Operating costs (e.g. additional cost of frequent maintenance of machinery and outdoor facilities,
shortened the lifespan of machinery)

e Human resources (e.g. more lost days due to heatstroke, some workers are required to stay overtime
under severe weather, etc.)

e Insurance premiums and potential for reduced availability of insurance on assets in locations with high
exposure in natural disasters (e.g. Federal Emergency Management Agency has incorporated climate
risk into the cost of flood insurance, premiums of current policyholders in the US will rise by 18% per
year for the next two decades — similar actions might be carried out by the Group’s local insurance
providers)

Y B BUR
Transition risk Policy

TR AR WP BREE ORGSR I R IR R B (2017-2026))°

o BRI TR SR TR NIRRT BB [ U R

o FHMER SF SR TR NIRRT R 1 8 R A R ARG B AT RETE

In 2017, the Macao Environmental Protection Bureau established the “Solid Waste Resources

Management Plan (2017-2026):

* Intends to develop the Municipal Solid Waste Charging System in 2023-2026

* Evaluates the possibility of establishing the Producer Responsibility Regulations based on the
polluters-pay principle in 2023-2026

TERTRANE & 8 R BT R E A o BESS BRI RN E - ST ORI AN & 1 o

Additional costs are expected resulting from the disposal of municipal wastes. As the environmental laws

are tightened, the costs of compliance with the policies will increase as well.

B

Technology

I 5 A6 7R B 0 i IR R AR Y 5 2 B O o A R A U e B RE Y SE S o il
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As the economy begins to transit to a lower-carbon economy, business operation that is more

eco-friendly and energy-efficient is required, such as:

* System control-energy savings practices are adopted;

* Use of renewable energy; and

*  Adoption of water-efficient devices.

(i Note:

3 HBFEN > & 2 Bhttps://www.dspa.gov.mo/ 3 For details, please refer to https://www.dspa.gov.mo/pdf/20171227 _
pdf/20171227_SolidWastesManagementPlan_ SolidWastesManagementPlan_TC.pdf.
TC.pdf °
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During the transitional period, the Group would expect:

e Increased research and development and/or procurement expenditures to introduce new and alternative
technologies;

e Additional cost of adopting/deploying new practices and processes, as well as the increase in the costs
of installation in the future.

%

Market

BEERF B ET AL ST INE EER - TR IR IR B AR RS o R
IR RUR AL - BRI SRR SR BUR A AR G A & v - THFHIFA 2 SR 455 5 i
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As client/consumer behaviour constantly changes to become more environmentally conscious, there has

been significant shift in market preference. Investors are emphasising more on climate change and many
rating agencies incorporate the climate change effort in their investment portfolio. It is expected that the
operating cost of office and casino supplies may increase, as the more-environmentally friendly supplies
of office and hotels may be more expensive.

BE

Reputation

S50 B 2 MR 3 SR S AL BHDRELASH Eh 55 0 0 - — SE[R] 47 B500 A i — {8 DA RHER 2y RE Rt ) H
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More companies have put effort into combating the climate change issues. For example, some peers
commit to set a science-based target to keep the temperature rise well below 2°C and some peers put
resources to install renewable energy.

ST L % 5 1) BT R MRS AR A I i A IR O 55K

Unable to fulfil the expectation of the customers may lower the demand for the Group’s products and

services.
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Countermeasures

The Group has taken the appropriate actions to increase resilience to the
effects of climate change because we recognise how everyone and all
businesses face the impact. Typhoons and other extreme weather conditions
put our employees and guests’ safety at risk. These events disrupt our business
as we would have to operate shorthanded, or temporarily shut down some
establishments. Additionally, unchecked carbon emissions will jeopardise
efforts to meet the global goal of controlling temperature rise.

The Group addresses its climate resilience regarding the increasing frequency
and intensity of extreme weather events like typhoons in the recent years.
A Typhoon Committee was set up to eliminate the danger it poses to our
employees. The Typhoon Policy was updated to stipulate the work, evacuation
and compensation arrangements under active typhoon signals.

In addition, sufficient physical defenses are stocked in all properties. For
instance, the floodgates to prevent flooding due to heavy rain and surges, as
well as the wind barriers and the diesel-powered pumps in Harbourview Hotel
and Babylon Casino to prevent the event of a city-wide power failure.

We have promoted the use of electric vehicles as an alternative to petrol
vehicles in order to fulfil our responsibility to reduce carbon emissions. At
Macau Fisherman’s Wharf, all visitor vehicles have been replaced by electric-
powered versions. An increasing number of charging stations have also
been placed at the Macau Fisherman’s Wharf and the Harbourview Hotel, to
facilitate the increasing use of electric vehicles in the future.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complies with applicable laws and
regulations in Macau relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
that have a significant impact on its business. Furthermore, the Group was not
aware of any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.
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Carbon Emission

Our primary sources of carbon emissions are the electricity and liquefied
petroleum gas (“LPG”) we consumed. We generated 22,508.80 tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO2e”) of GHG during the Reporting Period.
The largest contributor to our overall carbon emissions during the Reporting
Period was electricity use, which was responsible for more than 97% of the
emissions.
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AU 2022 2021
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The Group invests in energy efficiency to lower its carbon footprint in order to
achieve environmental protection.

Given that approximately 35,501.93 megawatt-hour (“MWh”) of the energy
consumed over the Reporting Period was electricity, a Power Monitoring
System consisting of a series of current transformers and recorders
was installed in all the electrical switchboard. Therefore, the real time
electrical consumption data can be tracked and analysed and for necessary
improvements.

Notes:

4 Scope 1 represents direct GHG emissions generated by the use of LPG of our
hospitality business. It is calculated with reference to the published emission
factors from 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories and
the guidance worksheets of World Resources Institute's GHG Protocol Tool for
Mobile Combustion.

3 Scope 2 represents indirect GHG emissions generated by the use of purchased
electricity from the local power companies. The calculation is based on the
emission factors from 2020 Sustainability Report of Companhia de Electricidade
de Macau.

6 Intensity values are calculated per revenue in line with industry practice. The
intensity value of GHG consumption has increased compared with 2021 as the
revenue of the subsidiaries and business operations within the reporting scope
has decreased due to the change in the business model of certain subsidiaries.
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While balancing the reduction of revenues due to the outbreak of COVID-19,
we also keep in mind to achieve our reduction target set for 2025. Macau
Fisherman’s Wharf continues to make improvements in various measures to
contribute the energy conservation:
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Note:

Converted around 99% of non-LED lights to LED together with lighting
schedule optimisation to ensure only the necessary lights are on;
Removed a half of light bulbs on all mural lights at every hotel floor;
Blocked out the entire floors of the hotels with 95% of the lights off,
unplugged all refrigerators, lowered all air conditioners’ speed with
25°C , and room curtains shut to prevent heat transfer;

Disabled 40% of the escalators and elevators;

Stopped operating the boilers and replaced with the heat pumps to
generate hot water for guest rooms, casino and restaurants usage;

Remodelled the water supply piping to stop a half of domestic water
supply pumps;

Stopped the hot water supply in the hotel’s public guest washrooms
during the summer period to reduce the usage hot water; and

Reduced the usage of electric water heater.

The intensity value of energy consumption has increased compared with 2021 as
the revenue of the subsidiaries and business operations within the reporting scope
decreased.
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Besides, we have already implemented energy saving devices for the chilled
water unit. It is because the operation of it is the largest energy consumption
in the property. Smart energy valve helps reduce operating costs and CO,
emissions, Variable Frequency Drives on Primary Air Handling Units and
Cooling Towers for better load control. Replacing high energy consumption
alternate current motors with energy efficient direct current motors can save
25% of energy consumption.

Air Emission and Indoor Environmental Quality

The Group’s air emissions are primarily generated by the use of LPG for
cooking. Having considered that indoor air quality may affect the comfort of
our guests, we did not emit significant amount of air pollutants in our hotel
operation.

q TETTUR TR
¥A7 Unit 022 2021
AL AR
. .1
Nitrogen Oxides Kg 30.35 39.15
WL AR » ”
Sulphur Oxides Kg b L
B Use of Resources

FAM B0 S5 5 AT AN A G e T RE K R U
FEAE ) o i B S BR S S 5 B I
AN AREECHIESE T KA - DUIRER A BT
A P V9 JBE 0 L i IR O A AR 5 R Bk 1) % 1
B ST IR AL B [ s o

2 WA RE

FAE e BORBEAL BT B 19 K B 3 > 23
BR AT LA KB SRR B A R IR st A
PESER TR & dr - AN T BUK S K
B ORI R U DA GRiR 2 T OK

64 TRMEER AT PRA ] 20224FH)

Our business operation will inevitably consume a considerable amount of
resources and generate waste. To minimise the impact that we may bring
to the environment, the Group has established guidelines and measures to
ensure the waste we produce is handled in full compliance with the relevant
legislation and regulations and be aware of the resource minimisation and
recycling practices.

Water Efficiency

We have adopted a stringent water treatment program for the chiller plant to
reduce the water consumption and maintenance-related issues. It does not only
prolong the life span of the equipment but also reduces the number of cooling
tower blowdowns and water valves failures that prevents water loss.



BE - 8 &k E R HE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

By A A KRR R A A A B LA
B35 (0 T ) 22 1 R K PR R B AE A5 R 4 3
LT Z B R BRI o 17 G R B 6 5 th 22 4 T
fi K R LLB 40 K » FAM S8 B To@ i H o T
PEVLRRACHT 4 K o W AR 55 K B A e i
B BRAM BT B ok T T AT B D
KA o Ty R TIERIEOREAAR  RATHRIE
HLE BBV [ R A5 > DUVEHE A Atk T

The toilets of Babylon casino have waterless urinals installed, and more units
will be installed throughout the properties for water conservation and public
awareness. Water-saving valves were also installed in the kitchen of the hotel
restaurants to conserve water. We encourage water conservation among our
employees through their daily workflow. By lowering the frequency of guest
room linen laundry, the green hotel programme we designed helps reduce
water use. We are planning to develop a greywater and swimming pool
water recapturing system for irrigation purposes and other usage for further
environmental protection benefits.
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Waste Management

The majority of the waste generated by the Group is made up of plastic from
the water bottles we give to our casino patrons as well as paper used for
marketing or administrative purposes.

Paper Use

We have taken measures to cut down our use of paper. Employees have been
told to use electronic communications and documents whenever possible in
their work and to print on both sides of the page.

Elimination of Plastic Use

We have reduced our reliance on plastic products and decreased our use. We
have phased out plastic straws and takeaway boxes at our food and beverages
outlets. They are replaced by recyclable papers and eco-friendly materials. At
our hotels, we have also installed water dispensers as an alternative to bottled
water.
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Food Waste

Food waste is a significant contributor to the waste of our hotel operations.
With the awareness of our responsibility to operate in an environmentally
sustainable manner, we have also established a working guideline on the
disposal of waste produced from our kitchens.

We have placed facilities in our hotel to minimise the food waste and reduce
the waste diverted to the landfill. Food waste decomposers are installed, and
recycling bins are readily available at different locations. The kitchen staff are
responsible for ensuring the wastes they produced are disposed of or recycled
appropriately.

Food waste will create methane that contributes to global warming if not being
properly composted. Our hotels leverage the food-composting machines to
tackle food waste as well as minimising the load of trucks for delivering the

trash to the landfills, and the carbon footprint along with the transport will
decrease.
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Harbourview Hotel uses one that turns 120kg of food waste into water, while
Legend Palace uses a food-composting machine that turns 150kg of food
waste into fertiliser. Fertiliser is utilised for MFW’s vegetation with leftovers
donated to local plant nurseries. Cooking oil from our F&B operation is also
recycled by licensed operators to lessen potential load on the wastewater
treatment process as well as encouraging recycling of useful substances.

Meanwhile, we are developing a centralised waste treatment and recyclable
centre where waste will be sorted into recyclables, kitchen waste, hazardous
waste, electrical waste and others.
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R Construction Waste
HRPE IR 1 CRREEBERLE P ) » AW In accordance with the Construction Material Waste Management Regime
TR ST ER SR R T i DAEE R Ay JE 1B L of Macau, we set up construction waste recycling points at our properties
TR JT A PR SRR to collect and categorise construction wastes produced by our undergo
renovations of business premises.
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AROIT Green Hotel
JEhE VR~ b RE YA S TR R MR 15 ) 4% 0 Legend Palace Hotel, Harbourview Hotel and Rocks Hotel have all been
PER IR R SR 1% T 1192020-2022 3% PRI 15 4% o awarded the Green Hotel for 2020-2022 by the Macao Government’s
Department of Renewable Energy.

A S5 BV I 1 B N S FAM 1 R 00 05 S We encourage our guests to participate in our Green Hotel Programme at
# o DI THAERR A SR o RAM A our hotels to reduce consumption and wastage of precious resources. We
=ML B N R # o FEAE N SO recommend the Programme to the guests who are staying for more than three
IR nights. Details are stated as follows:
. Rk AT I 2% N RTR IR K . No bottled water will be provided in the green hotel rooms;
. AW > B4R —RIKE - B . Linens, towels and bathroom amenities will only be replaced every 4

WERMS & days for the duration of the stay; and
. RS BN R IS — SR AR (IR M W . Enrolled guests will be rewarded with a MOP$100 voucher to be used

1007G A2 - W FEFRAM A4 A Al in our food and beverage outlets.

e
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Below shows the summary of the waste generated from our business

operations.
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collected data in 2022. Our data collection in 2022 did not cover food waste. The
Group has been enhancing the scope of data collection of waste generation. In
2022, the volume of waste cooking oil has been included.

P RTER TR A S L o ‘
WL -

The Group’s business operations in 2022 did not contribute to disposal of waste
batteries.
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We participated in the Mooncake Box Recycle
Activity organised by the DSPA and set up
collection points for used mooncake boxes for
recycling.

3 BR PR

Promoting Environmental Awareness

P Y215 3
Lai Si Envelope Recycle Activity
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We are responsible citizens of contributing the environmental protection in
Macau. During the Chinese New Year, we participated in the Lai Si (Red
Pocket) Envelope Recycle activity held by the Direc¢do dos Servigos de
Proteccdo Ambiental (“DSPA”) of Macao. Collection boxes were located
around the company, and all recycled envelopes were sent to the DSPA for
recycling. We successfully recycled around 8,300 envelopes.

T B — N
FEarth Hour
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The Group is a loyal supporter of Earth Hour. We are one of the members in
Macau participating in the “lights-out” event once a week. The purpose is to
bring environmental awareness to staff not only at work but also at home.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2022 Annual Report 69



g kE R W D

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BB AR SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT PRACTICES

A ) BRI EOR B S ESGIH R AR E HL T ESG considerations have been incorporated into the Group’s procurement

ISR SME PSR R RFE o policy to guide all outsourcing and procurement decision-making.

TEBRE TG b > DU AR 1 SR PR AT A S At the strategic level, we make sure our procurement decisions are made in

HBREE H AR line with the Group’s environmental objectives, including:

1) i A Re R AR 1) resources and energy conservation;

2)  amAE I Y BB R AR 2)  reducing solid waste disposal and carbon emissions;

3) R A Y RN SRS AN AT R A R 3)  promoting waste diversion from landfills and sustainable procurement;

4 FIHEMER SRR & 4)  driving environmental improvement of our facilities; and

5)  HEREME EOERMYE T - HEM 5)  fostering community engagement with our employees, guests and the
DN IPAEAT IR 25 o general public regarding environmental issues.

AR AR BB e 10 Y BR B (R R P L ) IR R AR The Group adopts the Green Purchasing Guidelines issued by the DSPA. At

WEFE 51 o A g b - FRAM 4 5 9 E FE the operational level, we have set par levels for consumables, amenities, and

i~ A R R AN A P S R E AR LR other supplies at our hotels to prevent over-purchasing and inefficient storage.

FETR A B o 2RI AR PR E PR T A The par levels are subject to bi-annual review and adjustment depending on

85 L A A AT — AR R RN R o actual consumption.
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SRR LI v

AL BTEAT PRI - A IR A 1 > 72
% REPIESGR 5 o [ v A0l 5 b2 14t o 4 ZH A
TR R HESGRBL » a8 i Il A 4%t 236
B 0 R AS AR E rh ) — A B AR ) o FRAM AR
BEEHE - B MRS D R
FE A IR R BT 5 e FERIATIORE LT B R
PR 15 2 R Gy N R e DA S S B 2 B e D
AL o

3% v il 2 B

FRA 1 36 8 7 0 ZEURE S T AT R A~ TR
PSS TARE o R (R TR B e 4 ~
SRSB4 A o B 2 St B o i
2 BN HGH AU - FoAM S0y A0 5 A vl i o
RS~ FE S ANSERS AR AU R B BRI
MR (UET IR

T SR o A G T B DL [ T B 14 1,783
FUEHER S AF -

Selection of Suppliers

The Group takes into account ESG considerations apart from just being
cost-effective. The suppliers and service providers must demonstrate their
ESG performance in the tendering process, which will form a crucial part
of the evaluation criteria for awarding business. We examine the producers,
origins, material composition, necessity, and proper disposal of the expired
products in particular. When possible, preference is given to products that are
recognised by reputable organisations and have the least negative impact on
the environment.

Evaluation and Engagement with Suppliers

Our suppliers must abide by all applicable laws, regulations, and ethical
labour standards which they consist of ensuring workplace safety, paying fair
wages and respecting human and children’s rights. Through engagement and
knowledge exchange, we encourage and influence our suppliers to improve
their services, products and business operation in order to reduce their
environmental impact and promote sustainability.

During the Reporting Period, the Group collaborated with 1,783 suppliers
from the following countries and regions:

[ Sty ———

2022 2021

" Macau 1,369 1,356
7 Hong Kong 337 329
v} B )y i Mainland China 57 61
HABTE MBI Other Asian countries 5 5
H A K Other countries 15 13
#5T Total 1,783 1,764
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VYN V.N (b &4 PEOPLE-ORIENTED CULTURE
B LTI A - R MER - R The success and accomplishment of a corporation are dependent on its
PER R FOR— 1 A > 22 - AW employees. At Macau Legend, we offer more than just a job — but a career. By
H AR SR B T R SO b Ay fostering a culture of performance and honouring employee contributions, we
B R A B L AR 4 o hope to become the employer of top choice and foster excellence.
AR BT > A A [ 8l R 60 2 A o i 2 S During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material breach
ARG R M A B 1 R e~ 3 of relevant laws and regulations in Macau that has a significant impact on the
W ET - TR~ KRB - TERE - 250 Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
At~ RBEAR ~ HA AR A0 15 28 LA e 38 T 1% 5 il working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination,
25 TR B RS - other benefits and welfare, as well as child and forced labour.
AR B LARBE R The total workforce of the Group are summarised as follows:
St it —®——f
2022 2021
¥ B TR 34> By Gender
5 Male 508 1,076
4 Female 306 923
4 1@ 7 2 % %] 4> By Employment Type
2% Full-time 814 1,999
% B TR 314 By Age Group
(18-2955%) 18-29 135 331
(30-505%) 30-50 546 1,238
(505 ML 1) > 50 133 430
%1 B 25 #)5 By Position
WA EBLE Senior Management 12 13
#HE F4 Management/Supervisor 327 712
— & B T. General Staff 475 1,274
b [ 814> By Geographical Region
WM Macau 811 1,994
75 Hong Kong 3 3
HA Other _ 2
HEF Total 81410 1,999
RF3E - Note:
10 H 7 A 7 I RS SE S I A 2 AT = A 10 The number of employees in 2022 is less than that in 2021 due to the change in
fb» ZF AN B TABDIR =T —4F o business model of our gaming operations in Macau. Our workforce in 2022 no
FAMAE —F AW B TR A5 IR 45 longer includes the members of staff employed by SIM.

FIRAET -
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B Ak & 2 ook TAEERBE

AL Iy B TRNE TS5 HEr BRI - IRIEHR
AP S MR ISR > SR 114 298 4R B R 77 BELIG A3/ AR
BRI R - GARHRE ~ BETT ~ EIRCRIREL -

AR ] ST BT T S B A A TR R
RG] o FRAMAS 1L TR S 55 T o P A
FAE NI 1 SR A e - ATETRA
Bl At R AR B TS5 WM AR TS -
TEFRIS AR F > BM & HAT A MW m R F -
Fas AT BATIRE R B2 -

FEAR R R rp 3R BULAR (L B~ B R YR
PR s A T8 8

T SR - AR 4 B A B BAT A A B 5 TME
R R A GRS -

SR E TR

MAE TAE PR E VI RR AR E ) - BA T
AR A R b fy T B TS R
B AEHC @RI ZHIRE o M A T
# H R RS SUE  B R EMM R BR D) -

B TR] DL i T S BRI AR I RN R
B B BRI AR A o A AR B
T B BRI B P R AR > A ) R
PHARE T L B T AR R A R ALAL —
R EAY A ke > BOUTA B T2 -

TE 7y e % P (B R B A TR RS > FRAM B TR B
THEARYF o AR —RE-F- 5 A~ B AE
ER MR BEE - CIARETHRAER

B TR B Y i FETR B~ BRI A8 R
A0HR B K e AR PR TE B ) AR R - A4S
e MEARAN AT > DUREE 75 B SUE R Jr T o
A A BAMIECEI A B A A R 99143
[ 7 o

An Inclusive and Diverse Working Environment

The Group is dedicated to fostering an atmosphere of equal opportunity for all
of our employees. According to our employment policy, candidates are only
chosen based on qualifications that are pertinent to the open positions, such as
their abilities, competencies, contributions, and performance.

The Group fully abides by all applicable labour laws, rules, and best practises.
We prohibit forced labour and child labour. Prior to employment, all
applicants must undergo a thorough background check and medical check.
Personnel in charge of human resources will make sure that each applicant
is treated fairly. We adhere to our interviewing practice during the recruiting
process, and candidates accept job offers in accordance with their own free
will.

Applicants who are found providing misleading, erroneous or deceptive
information during the recruitment process would not be considered.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance cases relating to labour standards.

Emphasising the Value of Our Employees

In order to promote close relationships and productivity at work, effective
communication with the employees is essential. For our employees to contact
with our management, the Group has established a number of channels. It
is encouraged for employees to express their concerns to their respective
managers or management staff.

Employees can reach the Human Resources Department by phone or email,
or an appointment with their representatives. Opinion boxes that managed
by staff relations team are also set up for those who prefer to express their
opinion in a low-key way. Less formal occasions such as tea gatherings are
also organised from time to time where all employees are welcome to join.

While serving our visitors excellent food, we also ensure that our own staff
are well-fed. As a more approachable, practical, and ecologically responsible
means to collect feedback, electronic survey systems have been introduced.

Employees can rate their dining experience at the canteens based on the
variety and quality of the food, comfortability of the environment and level
of services. The results are consolidated and analysed to identify areas
for improvement. During the Reporting Period, we received a total of 91
responses from different canteens.
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EL Hb ffii £ % Babylon Canteen 9

Jigh JEE ¥3 57t i % Harbourview Canteen 34

Jih & 3% Legend Palace Canteen 48

3t Total 91
B L[] fig & /1 iof Employee Feedback and Grievances

A ] R LB AT AT S B - IR EO R AR
A AN R PRAT A ) o BT AR YA AT
B R EGRA dE EE RE BE R A - RS
A > SR AR B8 Z B AR E > P A AR
AT AR o

SRR 1 il ] 2

S T DR 3 R A RAT 2 I B TR AT AT
SRR o ARG EAY AT 2 YE R R4S T4
B EREAN B ALRESD o

The Group is dedicated to taking any feedback and complaints seriously and
investigating and addressing any issues promptly. Our management will take
appropriate action and thoroughly look into any suggestions or grievances
expressed in good faith by employees. Within a reasonable extent, the
identities of complainants will be protected, and all reports will be kept strictly
confidential.

Whistle-blowing and Internal Investigation Mechanism

The Group protects its employees who report violations out of goodwill from
any repercussions and retaliation. Interfering with an investigation is strictly
forbidden in the Group’s Code of Conduct and violators will be subjected to
disciplinary actions.

O

h [ one ]
- \\__ ﬁ

Internal Investigation Mechanism J

WEIEE R - A EIRAREEA T - MRS

PAAG R B TR0 o BB A IER A
A B T G > U R v A L S
FREZAE -

investigates it before forwarding it to the appropriate
employees and departments. In order to launch an impartial
inquiry, senior management and the Audit Committee will

be informed if the report contains severe allegations.
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The Committee reports regularly to the chairman of the
Board, the chief executive officer of the Company and the
Board on the progress and findings of the investigation.
The reporting employee will also be informed of the
findings whenever appropriate.
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HELE G B R BB it

FAM 53y A [ e 57 DT BRAR A B T IR
PR R R BEM LR - By REE B TR
1 AN 55 B 5 I I B g S e e 40
%) -

TR > FoAM A B TS TEE > W
T2 UG EDTY M A7 KAl 8081 7 L AE D7 B B % 44 [m)

s

1T

SEHNF TS

Easfer Paren'r chnld Workshop

VL2 ok
Legend Hiking Day

FAM R T — M 2 AR SRR SNE S - 1E
BUIEE T > B TAED oF MR ER A T 42 7
WP PR R A B > B R B o MR
AT Hh A R o

We had a hiking day as an outdoor activity for
leisure. During the adventure, our staff hiked
through the Coloane Seac Min Pun Ancient Path,
and successfully challenged the long stairs and
to the highest point. They took care of each other
under the drizzle.

Recreational and Team-building

We aim to create strong bonds throughout our community and treat our
employees as members of the Macau Legend family. We occasionally
organised enjoyable team-building and recreational events for our employees as
a way of expressing our gratitude to our workforce.

Throughout the Reporting Period, static activities like Parent-child Workshop
DIY Easter Cookies & Gift Hamper and Legend Hiking Day were organised
for our employees.

1215 BDIY i 77 R 48 6 30 L AF Ly
Parent-child Workshop DIY Easter Cookies & Gift Hamper

FefM A B B TREA -l TARBRLAE0E » I RE B A AL FLBERE S o A
FEARIE I I ALAR BT AR - ARG B EF' FAM iy B AR % T
—RRAET F LA S -

We hope our staff could enjoy work-life balance and able to spend time with
their families and loved ones. We organised a parent-child workshop in Easter.
During the event, our staff made DIY cookies and gift hampers with their kids.

% arenmagey _ﬁnﬁ“ "”mx

our  participation!
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AR B T EREE - i & 4
ASEE B THRISRL F170% -

We take care of the employees’ needs and concerns. In 2022, the turnover rate
of the Group is about 170%.

et St B
2022 2021
AR Overall 170.4 154
1% B T 5134 By Gender
Bk Male 132.7 17.0
41 Female 233.0 13.5
1% B T4 815 By Age Group
(305% LA F) Below 30 135.6 29.0
(30-505%) 30-50 152.6 10.9
(5055 1) > 50 278.9 17.9
T P [ 5 #14> By Geographical Region
" Macau 170.5 153
% i Hong Kong 133.3 66.7
S R Employment Conditions

A FIH T SR B AE ]~ B AN R
BT o BUAh > At b 13k SR SR B % R A
O BSME B AN IE B B A M - (LG 4R PHAR A A K
SEREEME -

MRAZW P KB BRI D) 26 =+ =M > A%EH
PR N R TARS] > I TARR ) 4 RO\
/INBRE o IR AR 22 PR E 20 AR R A 1555 36
BRAEEITIHRI R E AT - BB ZHER - &
BREH -~ EEBY - el MR B
B~ TAGME - EA -~ AR AR o 7EPRER
D7 > FAM B B T i 2 ) R S
fif o

i TR 7 12 A R AR i B B A
HERLIA =R A T A = BRI
Tl B THE o B~ —4EAHLL - ik BT
T e FAMAE R P 1R S 1Y S A A
b e
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Our remuneration packages are designed to attract, retain and motivate high-
quality employees. Additionally, they are given bonuses and non-monetary
incentives including welfare benefits and professional development chances in
accordance with their performance and contributions.

The Group follows a six-day workweek schedule and the standard working
hours are eight hours per day in accordance with Article 33 of the Macau
Labour Relation Law. Articles 36 and 37 of the Law, respectively, establish
the system for overtime work and remuneration. Employees are also entitled
to annual leave, weekly rest days, statutory holidays, sick and accident leave,
hospitalisation leave, work injury leave, maternity leave, compensation leave
and compassionate leave. In terms of insurance, our employees’ medical
expenses are covered by our Company Medical Scheme.

Note:

1 Turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of leaving employee in
each category by the total number of employee in the same category as at
31 December 2022. The turnover rate has increased compared with 2021 due to
the change in business model of our gaming operations in Macau.
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For imported labour, the Group provides free living accommodations. A
housing allowance may also be requested by some employees. All employees
who are on duty receive two meals each day at the staff canteens or other
designated food and beverage establishments. At the restaurants owned by the
Group, various discounts are also given to them.

When an employee violates business policy severely or commits an infraction,
their employment may be terminated early through summary dismissal. An
exit interview will be held if an employee resigns in order to get their opinion
and determine what needs to be improved.

Occupational Health and Workplace Safety
Employees’ Health

Our employees are valuable asset to the Group. Our human resources
management strategy continues to place a high premium on making sure they
are healthy and satisfied. To ascertain whether they are physically qualified
for the role, all applicants must successfully pass the pre-employment medical
examination, which is financially covered by the Group.

Annual medical check-ups are in place for the employees’ rights. Should
any employees are diagnosed with significant medical conditions, the human
resources department will, whenever practicable, re-assign the employee to an
appropriate position within the Group.

Our hotels serve a large number of visitors as we are one of the top businesses
in Macau’s leisure and hospitality sectors. Therefore, the risk of infectious
illnesses is unavoidably present for our front-line employees. To reduce such
risk, the Group has devised operating procedures for the housekeeping staff
when visitors are suspected of being infected or confirmed as infected. Due to
the spread of the coronavirus pandemic, revised cleaning requirements are in
force. We also host lectures to raise staff understanding of infectious diseases,
so that they can take sensible safety precautions.

During the Reporting Period, there were 479 lost days due to work injury.
There was no work-related fatality that occurred in the past three years
including the reporting year. As the COVID-19 pandemic begins to ease off
in the regions where the Group operates, we will continue to maintain and
reinforce our health and safety initiatives to better protect our employees.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with applicable laws and regulations in Macau relating to provision of a safe
working environment and protection of employees from occupational hazards.
The following table illustrates the number of work-related fatalities occurred
in the past three years:

- Sastant o fnt- St TROBI

2022 2021 2020

B T /64 BB T2 5% Number of Work-related Fatalities — _ _
BT/ A B A9 32 455 817 Number of Work-related Injuries 27 52 33
[H T 36 25 4K H ¥ Lost Days due to Work Injury 479 1,392 313
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LAEH B L2 Workplace Safety
AL T 5 T ER AT T H 8 AR M 2 A A Routine workplace safety inspections are conducted in all of our establishments
> D DU SE I AR I - to check the safety control measures in the following areas:
s H % &8 T
Hotel General Operation Construction
o A o AR EVERARA IR . A o B AR
o SRR o BT RIS R Y o HBIE A o EBERYIE RALE G
e General safety it + Storage o MRS
*  Fire safety o JIRMMEH RAFR Electrical safety o AME TR TAET L
e First-aid items e Usage of stoves and hot » Fire safety o mZELAE
food containers e Equipment and
e Cold storage machinery
e Maintenance of food * Electrical safety
lifts and gas stoves * Handling dangerous
* Usage and storage of substances and
knives chemicals
* Noise management
e Ergonomic practices
e Working at height
oA 2 WP e NRBEEL 6 5 B Ll T &4l We have developed working procedures for the kitchen staff of Macau
FHIREL B AR 54 A2 1) TAERE ST o Fisherman’s Wharf on the safe use of cooking utensils and maintaining
hygiene.
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Safety Training

In collaboration with the Macau Labour Affairs Bureau, we set up the Hotel
& Catering Industry Safety Card training course for our staff members to give
them knowledge of relevant laws and rules regarding workplace safety and
health, typical risks in the hotel, catering, and gaming industries, as well as
safeguards and tools to prevent accidents and occupational hazards.

We have scheduled certified training for the fire safety officer within the
Reporting Period. It offers the skills necessary to carry out emergency
planning, put emergency response plans into action, coordinate them, and be
knowledgeable about how installed systems work and building fire safety.

COVID-1949 7% it

£ TR R & 4L - fECOVID-194% %5 1
> AREM WAL T —MHCOVID- 19 K I 5
INAL o % TR FH i AR B T S TR R AC R AL
A o FAMFE A B H AT RE R A A
7 R TETEAR R o Ay T AR SR E -
J 6 T 17 T R A DB PR R P Bt > D B A I
B RN G A 1 B o A P RS o FRAM 2B
S TETA R HE it > 0 5 2 A e el > e 2 JEL
RGP R AMEIE > 6 BREUIR A TE B 1 it (B
AR ~ fRFREH ) o & T RETRMNE K
FE T TAVE G AN TR AR A AR
T > DARECRZET AR A - R RE R 2 3R B
T % i 2 AR 3L A T ) e B R o

COVID-19 Measures

In order to stop the spread of infections, the Group developed a COVID-19
preparedness and response team during the COVID-19 outbreak. This team
is made up of our senior management and representatives from several
departments. We are completely aware of the potential consequences it
could have on how we conduct business. We adhere to all legal regulations,
including temporary closures during an active pandemic and the posting of
the Macau Health Code at casino and hotel entrances. We have implemented
a variety of preventative measures, such as improving the ventilation in
our office buildings, adding UV lights to the ventilation system, and taking
personal precautions (body temperature screening, health declaration of
employees etc.) To protect our customers and staff, we have exercised
additional cleaning procedures and sanitation processes to enable a smooth
business operation while offering full health protection to our staff and
customers.
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TR B 3 9% e Staff Training and Career Development

AL LB TR T SRR RS - B The Group’s employees have access to a wide range of opportunities for
FEIE H RSB - (EROY - TR E IR R DL SN continuous development, including project-based exposure, on-the-job
AR IR B e 6 - BTERERIRAM A B TiR coaching, horizontal career development, and external training courses or
PR A — 0y TAE » 32— 13 S ENKGE o seminars. This is done in order to uphold our commitment to giving each
A B CELA 70 A e g R ) employee more than just a job, but a career. We encourage each employee to
DU FAM A8 4 5 At AP £ it T BB A B K SCHE - B communicate their growth goals with their management so that we can provide

TSI ELAE DA 0

them with the greatest support possible. Employee training often covers the
following topics:

-
/4 oy

W BB S

ET A A

B B BEERE

25 ml Sy RIS

Orientation for new recruits

Language and communication skills

On job coaching

Supervisory skills for managerial staff

Company code training

®© o o o o o o o o o

AN

B THI
Employee Training

L S . dpEEERR
External ° égiﬁwﬁﬁ@
Training ¢ Professional development programmes
¢ Workshops and seminars
e Conferences
\.
A ZJ—‘%@W@T&%&EE’J & B 2 A B Additionally, the Group nominates and sponsors employees’ attendance at
AR ERFIFRAE o relevant external training sessions.

W N B TR T

The employee training data for the Reporting Period are as follows:

AN (%) 2 NG N (%) NG
HLAL Unit Number (%) Hour Number (%) Hour
HFT Total 528 (64.9%) 4.25 1,226 (61.3%) 2.37
% 8 TR 314> By Gender
%1k Male 190 (36.0%) 4.55 636 (51.9%) 2.46
4tk Female 338 (64.0%) 3.75 590 (48.1%) 2.27
% B T4 #]4 By Employee Category
F AP Senior Management 14 (2.6%) 16.02 13 (1.1%) 3.96
%P, 34 Management/Supervisor 155 (29.4%) 3.45 427 (34.8%) 2.06
—J H T General Staff 359 (68.0%) 450 786 (64.1%) 2.53
BtsE Note:
12 TR NAROE 43 b % AR AR AR 2 The percentage of total employees trained is obtained by dividing the number

2B B TN BR DA SE [ B T A8\ Bt
B TR B TR T S TR 0 2 L
A % = ZARARUI Th sz H i B TS
B LIRSS TR A NG -
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of employees who received training in 2022 by the Group’s total workforce,
whereas the percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category
is obtained by dividing the number of employees of the respective category who
received training in 2022 by the total number of trained employees.
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National Security Education Exhibition 2022

To increase our employees’ awareness of national security issues and their
patriotism for the motherland and Macau, around 50 employees of the Group
visited the National Security Education Exhibition in May 2022, which was
organised jointly by the Macao Special Administrative Region Government
and the Liaison Office of the Central People’s Government in the Macao
Special Administrative Region.

U DL AL DR

AU B 42022 3% 18] A A 22 48 A5 BH 45 6 A
W SCF A A o A LR AN B U 2 T Y
NZEFh IR > NG T B TE B R 20 BRI &
AR T 1] R AR > B [ SR 1L AR A

FeAM € WIRPAG B TRYRBL - DA & 5 A
PSS DU LR DA B 2 15 5 B — 2B 153 o
NIRRT AN O T T A o

This exhibition combined more than 420 pictures and multiple videos with
refined text. By watching and listening to the content explanations of national
security education, our employees understood the current state of national
security and the future direction of development, and cultivated the spirit of
“loving the motherland and loving Macao”.

Performance Appraisal and Career Development

To maintain and enhance the overall competitiveness of the Group, we assess
the performance of our staff regularly to identify if there are any strengths to
utilise and any needs for further training. For staff in different grades, they
will be assessed based on different aspects.

R BIE

Performance Appraisal

—BET
General Staff

FEHET
Supervisor Grade Staff

TAEHRE
Job Skills
|
B RE T
Communications
|
B & AF
Team Works

Attitude

WA R A 22 R > TESN RIS o B &
S TR T R B A B T

HERES
Leadership

R
Management Skills

I
ST RE

Business Attitude

When new vacancies are available, internal promotion or transfer of suitable
employees are given priority over new hires.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

To protect the Group’s intellectual property rights, the Group has ensured that
due application for its trademark has been made and the Group will continue
to monitor to ensure that its intellectual property rights are not being infringed
upon. If it is found that there has been an infringement of our intellectual
property rights, the Company will proactively take action against such
infringement in a timely manner.

UPHOLDING HIGHEST SERVICE QUALITY

The hospitality and entertainment sectors are very competitive in Macau, and
the Group is dedicated to giving our visitors the best possible service and
increasing their overall experience. The customer service manual that defined
standards for their conduct, appearance, and manners is a resource that our
hotel personnel received in training.

Strict guidelines are conveyed to the restaurant staff regarding our food and
beverages. Our quality control method guarantees that standards of hygiene
and food safety are maintained at every stage, from the procurement of the
food to delivery and storage, preparation, and serving.

During the Reporting Period, no sold or shipped products were subject to
product recalls for safety and health reasons. There was no material breach of
relevant laws and regulations relating to health and product safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters in connection to the products and services
provided by the Group, as well as the method of redress. The Group was not
aware of any non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating to
intellectual property regarding our products and services during the Reporting
Period.

Customer Satisfaction

The Group is aware that its consumers’ demands and expectations are
constantly shifting. To stay abreast of the most recent industry trends and
customer needs, we are always evolving. Family vacationers have increased
noticeably since the COVID-19 outbreak. In response to this trend, the
Harbourview Hotel has stocked a number of kid-friendly goods, such as baby
beds, child safety bars, faucet extenders, toothbrushes, etc., to improve its
babysitting services for guests in need.

FeAm i 2L 5 e B it
Our Baby Care Facilities
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Customer satisfaction survey

The results of our customer satisfaction survey are used by the hotel division
to undertake quantitative and qualitative assessments. To determine our
respective strengths and limitations, we also assess our performance data in
comparison to that of our peers.

In 2022, the Group continued to maintain a high level of customer satisfaction.
According to the results to a global leading guest experience platform, Legend
Palace Hotel received 2,298 reviews, which is two times more than the year
2021.

Legend Palace Hotel achieved a customer satisfaction score of 4.66 out
of 5, with more than 90% of the respondent had given a “Good” or higher
satisfaction rating for their overall experience of staying. The scoring areas
cover “Room”, “Service”, “Cleanliness”, and “Food & Drinks”. The score is
6% higher when compared with 2021. Among the other factors, the hotel’s
environment and atmosphere (71%) influenced guests’ decisions the most
strongly to stay with us. We will continue to keep track on the rating of our
hotel performance and seek for a higher service quality.

We also closely monitor our food and beverage services to make sure our
dining guests are able to attain the maximum level of enjoyment. Guests are
invited to give feedback and comments after finishing their meals. All issues
identified are reported to the managers and chefs for ratification immediately.

Our customer satisfaction management leverages the following channel to
understand customers’ expressions:

BT

Physical Comment Card

WAMTERT B4R B - I ER AL SF R AL SR 5 Rt R -
We provide the card at reception for customers’ convenience to give their opinion while waiting for
check in or check out.

FEMIT- B NHETRA - ha K

Expedia) i o

TripAdvisor, and Expedia)

FAM B % 57 A B 5 E AR A TR ST & BT o FRAMAT HERR BB Inl LA RO

Major Social Media Platform (e.g. Ctrip, | Our room administrators regularly check on guest comments on major social media platforms. We
have access to reply to guest comments directly.

Daily Briefing Sheet

ReviewPro ReviewProJ&— | T A 7 i IR 1 B 4 ST am IR 78 o FRAM 072 B 205 19 OB 2 o

ReviewPro Review-pro is an ultimate reviews channel of all the products and services. We analyse the data and
review from the customers.

5 H ik (BTSSR 54 S I 1 e A > T O W R D T ey STE L P v BRI A R

FEEDE -
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The Duty Managers will consolidate the social media updates, such as our hotels’ ratings and recent
comments, and share them with all Department Heads in the morning briefing.

During departmental briefings for each shift, all constructive feedback will be discussed and followed
up. The department heads will identify the underlying issue and address any operational shortcomings
to prevent it from happening again.

JEPEEF

Complaints Handling

FAMIG 5 P (L BEAS 252 30 4 ) ) LSRR > LA
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Our hotels’ duty managers have received thorough training in how to
respond to complaints in a polite, sincere, and professional manner. As soon
as a complaint is received, it is examined and then forwarded to the proper
departments or individuals for further action. During the Reporting Period, we
did not receive material service-related complaints.
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MAINTAINING HIGHEST BUSINESS ETHICS

AHEHE
Responsible Gambling
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With the amendments introduced by Law no. 7/2022, the Macao Gaming
Law stipulates that the casino concessionaires must have a comprehensive
responsible gambling plan. The Group cooperates with the Macau government
and various related institutions to participate in the promotion of responsible
gambling, so that both incumbents and new employees have the knowledge
and deeper understanding of responsible gambling.
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In 2022, the group continues to take responsibility for the extensive promotion
of responsible gambling. We are actively responding and cooperating with the
government’s theme of responsible gaming promotion of “Lose Control, Lose
Family!”. The Group implements a number of responsible gambling work and
activities for all customers and employees to gain a better understanding of the
related information and content.

On-site publicity and promotion activities

The Group and Yat On Centre jointly organise on-site promotion activities.
The event has been held since 2021. On the first Friday of each month, the
staff of Yat On Centre will visit our gaming venues. Through booth games,
convey the importance of responsible gaming to family harmony and the
message of refusing to get addicted in gambling.

Quiz Game Poster Campaign with Prizes

We put up posters of quiz games with prizes in the staff lounges and offices,
and inform all employees of the relevant information in regular meetings, so
that they can understand the importance of responsible gaming through this
activity.
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Responsible Gambling Training Course

The group sent many of the senior management to participate in the course
organised by Yat On Centre and the external party. Our aim is to make sure
the management can sufficiently implement the guidelines of responsible
gaming measures through what they have learned in the course. Other than
that, to assist those in need, and strengthen the overall competencies in
responsible gaming management.

Responsible Gambling Computer Testing

Employees of the Gaming Operations Department are required to pass tests
on responsible gaming in addition to the Anti-Money Laundering exam. By
passing the responsible gambling test, employees can have a richer knowledge
of the topic, which benefits the process of responsible management as a
whole. Basically, the employees who conduct the test have passed the test
qualification standard.

Except for the abovementioned facilities, we have respective settings in our
gaming venues to fully cooperate with the government’s responsible gambling
initiatives.

Posters and Videos

Posters about responsible gambling are displayed at all entrances and various
points throughout the premises. Each poster includes phone numbers for
anyone in need to get help. All of the smoking areas in the premise have TVs
that play a video to urge guests not to get addicted to gambling.

Gaming Table Equipment

On each game table, there is a display screen. In addition to providing
reference information on the game category, it also shows the real time and
responsible gambling slogans. The apparatus encourages guests to game
sensibly by showing the slogan and reminding them how long they have been
participating.

Information Kiosks

We also set up responsible gambling information kiosks at our properties to
provide a convenient and comprehensive way for our guests to access more
information about responsible gambling.

Privacy Protection

The Group has taken various steps to ensure the personal data of our guests
are protected according to the Personal Data Protection Act No. 8/2005 and
other applicable laws and regulations of Macao.
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Policies and procedures on the handling and storage of private data are
established to guide our front desk staff in minimising the risk of privacy
information leakage. All of our guest data are stored on the safety database
server, accessible only by authorised IT personnel and technicians through
designated application and devices within company grounds.

Our commitment to cybersecurity, and ability to identify, manage and
reduce the severity of regular threats to our information are evidenced by the
accreditation of the international standards ISO/IEC 27001.

Anti-corruption
Group Anti-corruption Policy

The Group views business gifting as typical and has set guidelines to control
this practise in order to ensure that any gifts given between our employees
and clients are valid and legal business transactions. While casino staff are
typically prohibited from accepting presents of any kind or value, non-gaming
employees are permitted to take gifts that are modest in character and nominal
in value. All employees are advised to avoid receiving gifts from parties or
companies that have commercial relations with the Group.

Bribery is considered to be any act of providing gifts, entertainment, or
advantages with the purpose to influence business decisions rather than merely
deepening ties with the Group’s partners or consumers. The accounts must
appropriately reflect each transaction. All staff have also received specific
instructions on business transactions. The company auditor is also in charge of
determining any corruption and bribery risk.

Reporting Procedure

The Group has created a mechanism for reporting potential violations of the
Code of Conduct, applicable laws, or regulations, and has given employees a
number of ways to report them. Please see the “Whistle-blowing and Internal
Investigation Mechanism” section above for details.

Employee Code of Conduct

All of our employees, management, and Directors are expected to adhere to
the highest ethical standards in addition to fully complying with all applicable
laws and regulations in Macau and in Hong Kong. The Code of Conduct
outlines the values and guidelines that guide employees’ behaviour. Any
employee who transgresses the code of conduct will face disciplinary actions,
up to and including termination.

Anti-corruption Training

Our gaming segment’s management and general workforce received anti-
corruption training in 2022 for a combined total of 180 hours and 942 hours,
respectively. In order to improve our gaming staff’s anti-money laundering
methods and understanding, we also test them through an electronic system.

During the Reporting Period, no legal case regarding corrupt practices was
brought against the Group or its employees. The Group was not aware of any
material breach of laws and regulations in Macau relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering during the Reporting Period.
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On 6 December 2022, at 10 a.m., the Great Hall of
the People in Beijing held a sorrowful memorial
service for Mr Jiang Zemin, the former president
of the People’s Republic of China. In order to
express our heartfelt condolences, the Company
live streamed the memorial meeting in the Legend
Palace Hotel’s Ballroom. The event was about
an hour, 85 of our staff members observed three
minutes of silence in remembrance of the deceased
at the morning memorial service.

COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION

Without the help of the community, we believe no business can prosper. We
are more than happy to participate in any opportunity to help charities in
any field and give back to society. The Group’s contribution areas focus on
contributing to local community.

74 1t

Blood Donation
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Blood donation helps the community by providing a source of life-saving
blood for those in need, such as accident and surgery patients, cancer patients,
and new-borns. By donating blood, we can help ensure an adequate and
safe blood supply for our community, which can be a matter of life and
death for those who need transfusions. Besides, blood donation also brings
health benefits for the donors, such as reducing iron levels in the blood and
promoting cardiovascular health.
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The Group organises employee blood donation with Macau Blood Transfusion

Service Centre every year. In March 2022, a total of 39 employees donated

blood.
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Directors’ Report

The Board is pleased to present this annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, which includes
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators, a discussion on the Group’s future business development and
principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing, discussion on
the relationships with its key stakeholders and particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year
ended 31 December 2022 are provided in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance
Report” and “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual
report. The Group has always been committed to establish and improve the
relationship with customers to gain and maintain customers. The review forms
part of the Directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 120 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was paid during the year.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 227 of this annual
report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY AND
EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the investment properties
and property and equipment of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 17,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the share options of the Company are disclosed under the below
section headed “Share Options” and in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Shares during the year ended 31 December 2022.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$2,706.9 million comprising
share premium of approximately HK$4,163.8 million and other reserve of
approximately HK$202.3 million, net of accumulated loss of approximately
HK$1,659.1 million.

Under the Cayman Islands Companies Law, subject to the provisions of
memorandum of association of the Company or the Articles of Association,
the Company’s share premium account may be applied to pay distributions or
dividends to shareholders, provided that immediately following the date the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr Li Chu Kwan (Chairman & chief executive officer)

(became Chairman on 16 August 2022 & appointed as
chief executive officer on 1 January 2023)

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda (Vice-chairman)
(appointed as Vice-chairman on 1 January 2023)

Mr Chan Weng Lin (Co-chairman & chief executive officer)
(resigned on 31 January 2022)

Mr Tsang Ka Hung (Chief tinancial officer)
(resigned on 31 October 2022)

Non-executive Directors

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda

Mr Li Chun Tak
(appointed on 1 March 2022)

Mr Wong Che Man Eddy
(appointed on 9 September 2022)

Mr Chow Kam Fai, David (Co-chairman)
(retired on 16 August 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick
(appointed on 1 March 2022)
Madam Tam Wai Chu, Maria
(resigned on 3 February 2022)

According to Article 84 of the Articles of Association, Mr Li Chu Kwan, Ms
Ho Chiulin, Laurinda and Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky shall retire by rotation
at the 2023 AGM whereas according to Article 83(3) of the Articles of
Association, Mr Wong Che Man Eddy shall hold office until the 2023 AGM.
Mr Li Chu Kwan, Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda, Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky and Mr
Wong Che Man Eddy, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
the 2023 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2023 AGM has
a service contract with the Company that is not terminable within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as referred to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force throughout the
year.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and
the conditions and factors as set out in the dividend policy, dividends may be
proposed and/or declared by the Board during a financial year and any final
dividend for a financial year will be subject to shareholders’ approval.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short position of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the Shares and underlying Shares, as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

(1) Long Position in Shares of the Company

Al O BEAT I AR BB

HHRLA gl it 4y % H R ONEpida

*Approximate

percentage of total

Name of Director Capacity Number of Shares issued Shares

BRIERR Lt A A 129,690,066 2.09%
Ms Melinda Chan Beneficial owner

BB 4 483,781,402 7.80%
Interest of spouse

613,471,468 9.89%

B 5 Note:

1. IR S5 4 o - BIAS 7 27 A0 FC T 1% 3 i 5t 1. Ms Melinda Chan was deemed to be interested in these Shares through the
A B 5 A R A I A RS o interest of her spouse, Mr David Chow.

* AR _F A= —H * The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided by the
A RERS 2 I B H B DA E 3T IR0 number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2022.
H e

B b SCRT 8% & 4 > AR o A A A
HEBGTHEABR -F -4+
=+ HE B A2 A SOHAT o A1 i
A GE# R S R BRI XVER) 2
FBe A7y~ R T A7 52 o A T B R
A AR B 8 I B B B 55 3 52 AT
B0 R A O A E <Y IR R AR
2 ) B A T R i IR

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company, as at 31 December 2022, had registered an interest or a short
position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

SHARE OPTIONS
Share Option Scheme

On 5 June 2013, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group. Eligible participants of the
Share Option Scheme include, among others, the Directors, including non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, full- time or
part-time employees, executives or officers of the Group, advisors, consultants,
suppliers, customers and agents. The Share Option Scheme became effective
on 5 July 2013 upon the Listing and shall be valid and effective for a period of
10 years from that date. As at the date of this annual report, the remaining life
of the Share Options Scheme is approximately 3 months.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the
total number of Shares in issue from time to time. The maximum number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted to each eligible participant in any 12-month period must not exceed
1% of the Company’s issued share capital from time to time. Any grant or
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’
approval in a general meeting of the Company.

Each grant of share options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder, or to any of their associates, is subject to approval in advance
by the independent non-executive Directors. In addition, any grant of share
options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director,
or to any of their associates, resulting in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person, in a 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant in excess of 0.1% of the
Shares in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of
the Shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, is subject to
Shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting of the Company.

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the grantee
and to have taken effect when the duplicate offer document constituting
acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance
in favour of the Company of HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant of
the option, is received by the Company within 30 days after the date of offer.

The exercise price of share options is determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange on the date of offer of the share options; and (iii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme.
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As at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022, the number of share options
available for grant under the Share Option Scheme was 623,217,787. The total
number of Shares currently available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
is 623,217,787 Shares, representing approximately 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the below section headed “Connected
Transactions™ and in notes 10 and 41 to the consolidated financial statements,
no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company, its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the below section headed “Connected
Transactions” and in notes 10 and 41 to the consolidated financial statements,
no contract of significance had been entered into between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year under review.

Other than as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions”
in this annual report and in notes 10 and 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, there is no contract of significance for the provision of services to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT

POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
parties (other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had
interests or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section

AR 336 of the SFO:
1) AR E A R (1) Long position in Shares of the Company
Al CEAT ROy A B
FEB AW Sy J5 S H BRI E L
*Approximate
percentage of total
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Number of Shares issued Shares
PR SRR S Hada A 6,661,000 0.11%
Mr Chan Weng Lin Beneficial owner
ZHEE 2,051,485,252® 33.08%
Controlled corporation
2,058,146,252 33.19%
R JEETR7 ZEDN 2,051,485,252" 33.08%
Perfect Achiever Beneficial owner
Wu Jo Hsuan#Z 1= T (3 HE 2 2,058,146,252 33.19%
Ms Wu Jo Hsuan Interest of spouse
Elite Success EiEa A 1,012,599,750 16.33%
Elite Success Beneficial owner
Zm e Hada A 109,326,429 1.76%
Mr Li Chi Keung Beneficial owner
T 1,012,599,750® 16.33%
Controlled corporation
1,121,926,179 18.09%
ERGH T 1,012,599,750® 16.33%
Ms Wong Hoi Ping Controlled corporation
i (R 2 109,326,429 % 1.76%
Interest of spouse
1,121,926,179 18.09%
BRI 4t JEETR7 ZEDN 75,664,000 1.22%
Ms Chan Un Chan Beneficial owner
T 937,104,609 15.11%
Controlled corporation
1,012,768,609 16.33%
Earth Group Ventures Ltd. JEECE] ZEDN 934,269,609 © 15.07%
Earth Group Ventures Ltd. Beneficial owner
SRS SR JEETR7 ZEDN 483,781,402 7.80%
Mr David Chow Beneficial owner
T B 129,690,066 " 2.09%
Interest of spouse
613,471,468 9.89%
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Notes:

1. These Shares were held by Perfect Achiever, a controlled corporation of
Mr Chan Weng Lin.

2. Ms Wu Jo Hsuan was deemed to be interested in these Shares through the

interest of her spouse, Mr Chan Weng Lin.

3. These Shares were held by Elite Success (a company in which Mr Li Chi
Keung and Ms Wong Hoi Ping, spouse of Mr Li Chi Keung, held 51%
and 39% of the total issued capital, respectively).

4. Ms Wong Hoi Ping was deemed to be interested in these Shares through
the interest of her spouse, Mr Li Chi Keung.

5. These Shares were held by Earth Group Ventures Ltd. and UNIR (HK)
Management Limited, controlled corporations of Ms Chan Un Chan.

6. These Shares were held by Earth Group Ventures Ltd., a controlled
corporation of Ms Chan Un Chan.

7. Mr David Chow was deemed to be interested in these Shares through the
interest of his spouse, Ms Melinda Chan.

* The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided by the
number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2022.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other corporation
or individual (other than a Director or the chief executive of the Company)
who, as at 31 December 2022, had registered an interest or a short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register of interests required
to be kept pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation
that pays close attention to conserving natural resources. The Group strives
to minimize the environmental impact by saving electricity and encouraging
recycle of office supplies and other materials. Details of the environmental
policies of the Group are set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” of this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into certain continuing connected transactions, details
of which are set out below:

Continuing connected transactions which are subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement
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Amigo Travel Service Agreement

On 5 June 2013, the Company and Amigo Travel (Macau) Limited (“Amigo
Travel”) entered into a framework agreement (the “Amigo Travel Service
Agreement”) for the procurement of travelling, ticketing and transportation
services to the Group for an initial term commencing from the Listing Date
to 31 December 2015, which was subsequently renewed and supplemented.
On 7 November 2016, the Company and Amigo Travel renewed the Amigo
Travel Service Agreement for a term of three years from 1 January 2017
to 31 December 2019, and to set the corresponding annual caps. On 10
December 2019, the Company and Amigo Travel further renewed the Amigo
Travel Service Agreement (collectively, the “Amigo Agreements”) for a
term of three years from 01 January 2020 to 31 December 2022, and to set
the corresponding annual caps. The other terms of the Amigo Travel Service
Agreement remain unchanged.

Amigo Travel is an associate of Mr David Chow as the shareholders of Amigo
Travel are Ms Emiko Mito Pinto-Marques and Mr Adriano Dillon Guerrero
Pinto-Marques, the parents of Mr Adrian Pinto- Marques, the son-in-law of
Mr David Chow and is therefore a connected person of the Company.

Pursuant to the Amigo Agreements, the Group shall procure travelling,
ticketing and transportation services from Amigo Travel to support the
business travelling needs of the Group at the service fees as determined
on an arm’s length basis and by reference to the prevailing market price
for comparable types of services in the same industry based on the market
research conducted by the parties to the Amigo Agreements from time to time.
In addition, the Group shall lease the hotel rooms to Amigo Travel from time
to time upon the terms and conditions contained in the Amigo Agreements.
The annual caps for total service fees paid or payable by the Group to Amigo
Travel in relation to the traveling, ticketing and transportation services for
each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022
shall not exceed HK$3.4 million, HK$4.1 million and HK$4.4 million,
respectively. The annual caps for total service fees received or receivable by
the Group from Amigo Travel in relation to the leasing of hotel rooms for each
of the three financial years ending 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 shall not
exceed HK$1.2 million, HK$1.4 million and HK$1.5 million, respectively.

The amount paid/payable by the Group to Amigo Travel for the provision of
travelling, ticketing and transportation services under the Amigo Agreements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately HK$52,000.

The amount received/receivable by the Group from Amigo Travel for the
leasing of hotel rooms under the Amigo Agreements for the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately HK$53,000.
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Annual Review by Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions for the year ended 31 December 2022 and have
confirmed that the transactions have been entered into (i) in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or
better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the auditor
of the Company to report on the continuing connected transactions of the
Group. The auditor was engaged in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the HKICPA. The auditor has
reported to the Board and issued an unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed
by the Group above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for this
connected transaction.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS - INDIRECT
PARTICIPATION IN THE GAMING PROMOTION BUSINESS
THROUGH NEW LEGEND

Reference is made to pages 225 to 230 of the Prospectus and the
announcement published by the Company on 31 December 2013. The
Company intends to participate in the gaming promotion business indirectly
through the VIE Structure in order to diversify its business and increase the
revenue contribution from the VIP tables. However, the Company is not
allowed under Macau laws to participate directly in the gaming promotion
business through a subsidiary. Shareholders of any corporate gaming promoter
must be natural persons. As a result, the Group adopted the VIE Structure by
entering into the VIE Agreements among Hong Hock, New Legend and Mr
Frederick Yip, where appropriate, which would allow the Group to indirectly
participate in the gaming promotion business and have a greater control over
the management and marketing of the VIP rooms operated by New Legend
in the casinos located in its properties, as well as enhance its market footprint
and receive a higher percentage of gross gaming revenue generated by the
gaming tables in these VIP rooms. As indicated on page 230 of the Prospectus,
the Company would treat Mr Frederick Yip as a connected person and will
comply with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of any transactions
between the Group, Mr Frederick Yip and New Legend upon commencement
of the VIE Structure. Accordingly, the entering into of the VIE Agreements
also constitutes a connected transaction and the transactions contemplated
under the VIE Structure constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company. The entering into of the VIE Agreements is subject to the reporting,
announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

The Company confirms that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for this
connected transaction.

A wavier has been granted by the Stock Exchange regarding strict compliance
with the requirements of setting (i) a fixed term for the VIE Agreements of no
more than three years pursuant to Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules; and (ii) a
maximum aggregate annual value (that is, an annual cap) for the fees payable
by New Legend to Hong Hock and the amount of loan to be made available by
Hong Hock to New Legend under the VIE Structure pursuant to Rule 14A.53
of the Listing Rules, subject to certain conditions. Further details of the VIE
Structure are set out in the Company’s circular dated 9 June 2014.

The Company has ceased the VIP gaming promotion business upon expiration
of the term of the Service Agreement on 31 December 2022. Accordingly,
the parties to the VIE Agreements terminated the VIE Agreements with effect
from 1 January 2023. (Details of the termination are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 3 January 2023)

Information of New Legend

New Legend is a company incorporated in Macau by Mr Frederick Yip, as the
sole shareholder and sole director, which engages in the gaming promotion
business in Macau. New Legend first obtained a gaming promoter licence
from the DICJ on 10 June 2013, which was subsequently renewed by the DICJ
on 12 December 2013. The current gaming promoter licence of New Legend
is valid until 31 December 2022 and has to be renewed upon submission of an
application to the DICJ each year.

Mr Frederick Yip is the sole shareholder and sole director of New Legend. He
was appointed as the executive vice president and head of casino operations
of the Company on 5 June 2013. Since 1 January 2022, Mr Frederick Yip has
been appointed as consultant of the Company.

Revenue and assets subject to the VIE Agreements

The amount of revenue and assets subject to the VIE Agreements attributable
to the Group accounted for approximately 11.6% and approximately 2.0%
of the consolidated revenue and consolidated total assets, respectively, of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Summary of the major terms of the VIE Agreements

The VIE Agreements currently in effect comprise (i) the Exclusive
Management and Consultancy Services Agreement; (ii) the Exclusive
Undertaking to Sell Agreement; (iii) the Transfer of Profit and Loan
Agreement; (iv) the Share and Equity Pledge Agreement; and (v) the Power of
Attorney entered into among Hong Hock, New Legend and Mr Frederick Yip,
where appropriate.
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A summary of the major terms of the VIE Agreements are set out below:

@)

Exclusive Management and Consultancy Services Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Subject:

16 April 2014

(a) Hong Hock; and (b) New Legend

Effective upon the satisfaction of the conditions precedent under
the VIE Agreements (the “Conditions”) and shall terminate
upon the termination of the Service Agreement. Hong Hock
may terminate the Exclusive Management and Consultancy
Services Agreement at any time by delivering a written notice to
New Legend. In no circumstances shall New Legend have any
right to terminate the Exclusive Management and Consultancy
Services Agreement other than as required by applicable law.

New Legend shall engage Hong Hock on an exclusive basis to
provide comprehensive management and consultancy services
in relation to the VIP room(s) promoted by New Legend for
SIM from time to time (the “Consultancy Services”).

In consideration of the provision of the Consultancy Services,
New Legend agrees to pay the fees due from SJM to Hong
Hock, which will be equivalent to 100% of the total before-
income-tax consolidated profits of New Legend (such profits
to be calculated after deducting all reasonably incurred costs,
expenses and taxes (except income taxes) in connection with
the business operation of New Legend).

In the event of a gross gaming loss incurred in the VIP room(s)
promoted by New Legend for any given month, Hong Hock
agrees that New Legend shall not be required to reimburse and
indemnify Hong Hock any amount as New Legend’s pro-rata
share in the losses and expenses of such VIP room(s) promoted
by New Legend pursuant to the cooperation agreement entered
into between Hong Hock and New Legend dated 3 July 2013.
As a result, in the event of a gross gaming loss incurred in the
VIP room(s) promoted by New Legend, Hong Hock shall bear
57% (that is, including the share of gross gaming loss of New
Legend prior to the VIE Structure) of the gross gaming loss
incurred in such VIP room(s).
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

(ii)  Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Subject:

16 April 2014

(a) Hong Hock; (b) New Legend; and (c) Mr Frederick Yip

Effective upon the satisfaction of the Conditions and shall
terminate upon the termination of the Service Agreement.
Hong Hock may, at its discretion, terminate the Exclusive
Undertaking to Sell Agreement by written notice to Mr
Frederick Yip and New Legend. In no circumstances shall
Mr Frederick Yip and/or New Legend have any right to
terminate the Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement
other than as required by applicable law.

Mr Frederick Yip shall irrevocably and unconditionally
undertake to sell to Hong Hock or any person or persons
designated by Hong Hock (the “Designated Persons™) at
its option at any time and from time to time, to the extent
permitted under the laws and regulations of Macau and
subject to the consent from the DICJ, all or a portion of Mr
Frederick Yip’s share and equity interests in New Legend
(including all present and future rights and benefits based on
the current share and equity interests in New Legend held
by Mr Frederick Yip and any additional interests in New
Legend acquired by Mr Frederick Yip subsequent to the
date of the Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement).

New Legend shall irrevocably and unconditionally
undertake to sell to Hong Hock or the Designated Persons
at its option at any time and from time to time, to the extent
permitted under the laws and regulation of Macau and
subject to the consent from the DICJ, all or a portion of the
assets of New Legend (including all existing assets and any
additional assets of New Legend acquired subsequent to the
date of the Exclusive Undertaking to Sell Agreement).

Hong Hock may exercise its rights under the Exclusive
Undertaking to Sell Agreement at any time and in any
manner at its sole discretion, and the exercise price of
each of the rights would be one hundred thousand Patacas
(MOP100,000).

Mr Frederick Yip shall undertake that, among other things,
he shall not sell, transfer, mortgage, create any security
interest in, or dispose of in any other form, any legal or
beneficial interest in his share and equity interest in New
Legend, and that, among other things, he shall not alter,
amend or revise the articles of association of New Legend in
any way, increase or decrease the registered capital of New
Legend, or change the structure of the registered capital of
New Legend, in any form.
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(iii)

Transfer of Profit and Loan Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Subject:

16 April 2014

(a) Hong Hock; (b) New Legend; and (c) Mr Frederick Yip

Effective upon the satisfaction of the Conditions and shall
terminate upon repayment in full of the loan by New Legend
and the performance and discharge of all of its obligations
under the Transfer of Profit and Loan Agreement. In no
circumstances shall New Legend or Mr Frederick Yip be
entitled to cancel or terminate the Transfer of Profit and
Loan Agreement.

New Legend agrees to transfer and pay to Hong Hock all
profits (if any) accrued by New Legend from 03 July 2013
until the commencement of the VIE Structure within five
days following the satisfaction of the Conditions.

In support of the day-to-day operations of New Legend,
Hong Hock agrees to, at its discretion, make available an
interest-free revolving loan to New Legend from time to
time (the “Loan”) as working capital for the operation of
the gaming promotion business of New Legend, including,
but not limited to, for the purposes of extending credits to
its VIP patrons and paying its share of gross gaming loss
suffered by New Legend (if any) in conducting its gaming
promotion business in VIP room(s) promoted by New
Legend for SIM from time to time.

The Loan shall be repayable upon the occurrence of an
accelerating event, for example, Mr Frederick Yip’s
employment with the Group is terminated or otherwise
ceases, Mr Frederick Yip or New Legend becomes bankrupt
or insolvent, or bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings are
initiated with respect to Mr Frederick Yip or New Legend,
or in the sole opinion of Hong Hock, the Loan should be
immediately repayable by New Legend.

In the event that the Loan becomes repayable and New
Legend fails to repay all or part of the Loan and such failure
continues for a period of 10 days after a written notice from
Hong Hock to New Legend specifying such failure is served
on Hong Hock, Hong Hock shall be entitled to enforce the
share and equity pledge under the Share and Equity Pledge
Agreement, and a default interest rate of 2% per annum
shall be applied to the outstanding Loan.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

(iv) Share and Equity Pledge Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Subject:

16 April 2014

(a) Hong Hock; (b) New Legend; and (c) Mr Frederick Yip

Effective upon the satisfaction of the Conditions and shall
remain in effect until all of the obligations of Mr Frederick
Yip and New Legend under the Exclusive Management
and Consultancy Services Agreement, the Exclusive
Undertaking to Sell Agreement, the Transfer of Profit and
Loan Agreement and the Power of Attorney (including each
and every renewal or replacement of such agreements or
any such agreements as amended, modified or supplemented
from time to time) (the “Secured Obligations™) are satisfied
and discharged in full. Hong Hock shall be entitled to
enforce the pledge against Mr Frederick Yip in accordance
with the terms of the Share and Equity Pledge Agreement in
the event that Mr Frederick Yip fails to pay or perform any
of the Secured Obligations.

Mr Frederick Yip shall agree to pledge all share and equity
interests in New Legend legally held by Mr Frederick
Yip (including all present and future rights and benefits
derived from such share and equity interests), and any
additional interests in New Legend acquired or held by
Mr Frederick Yip subsequent to the date of the Share and
Equity Pledge Agreement to Hong Hock, as continuing
first priority collateral security for the performance of the
Secured Obligations at a fixed sum, which the amount is set
in the Share and Equity Pledge Agreement for registration
purposes.
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Power of Attorney

Date: 16 April 2014

Parties: (a) Mr Frederick Yip; and (b) Hong Hock

Term: Effective upon execution and shall continue to be valid
during the period Mr Frederick Yip remains a shareholder of
New Legend.

Subject: ~ Mr Frederick Yip shall, among other things, irrevocably

and unconditionally undertake to authorise Hong Hock or
any members of the board of directors of Hong Hock and
their respective estates, successors, assignees or liquidators
to exercise on his behalf the full shareholder’s rights under
the articles of association of New Legend and applicable
Macau laws and regulations in respect of his share and
equity interest in New Legend, including but not limited to
(i) the right to request for, convene and attend shareholder’s
meetings, and pass and execute shareholder’s resolutions
of New Legend, (ii) the right to vote in a shareholder’s
meeting, sign minutes, and file documents with the relevant
companies registry, and (iii) all shareholder’s rights
prescribed by applicable laws and regulations and the
articles of association of New Legend, including, without
limitation to, the right to appoint and remove directors and
senior management, voting rights, the rights to sell, transfer,
pledge or otherwise dispose of all or part of the rights
relating to his share and equity interest in New Legend and/
or assets of New Legend, the right to receive surplus assets
(if any) after settlement of all outstanding liabilities upon
liquidation of New Legend and the right to demand payment
of, and receive dividends declared by, New Legend.
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Annual Review by independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors reviewed the VIE Structure annually
and confirmed that: (i) the transactions carried out during the year ended
31 December 2022 have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the VIE Structure, so that the revenue generated by New Legend
(after deducting all reasonably incurred costs, expenses, taxes and working
capital) has been substantially retained by Hong Hock; (ii) no dividends or
other distributions have been made by New Legend to the holder(s) of its
share and equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to the Group; and (iii) no new contracts have been entered into,
renewed and/or cloned between the Group and New Legend during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The auditor of the Company was engaged to report on the transactions under
the VIE Structure in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the HKICPA. The auditor has reported
to the Board and issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by
the Group above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Risks associated with the VIE Structure

The risks associated with the VIE Structure were set out on pages 21 to 23 of
the Company’s circular dated 9 June 2014 and are set out below:

(1)  Risks relating to the exposure to potentially higher gross gaming loss

Under the current profit and loss sharing arrangements with the
designated gaming promoters, including New Legend prior to the VIE
Structure, the Group receives only 2% of the gross gaming revenue
generated from the VIP rooms operated by such gaming promoters who
receive 40% of the gross gaming revenue and up to 15% of the gross
gaming revenue for expense reimbursement. In the event of a gross
gaming loss incurred in the VIP rooms, the Group is responsible for
only 2% and the gaming promoters are responsible for 55% of the gross
gaming loss incurred in such VIP rooms promoted by them. While the
indirect participation in the gaming promotion business would allow the
Group to increase its share of the gross gaming revenue generated from
the VIP room(s) operated by New Legend to 42% and receive expense
reimbursement of up to 15% of the gross gaming revenue, in the event
of a gross gaming loss incurred in the VIP room(s) operated by New
Legend for any given month, the Group shall bear 57% of the gross
gaming loss incurred in such VIP room(s).
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Risks relating to the potential conflict of interests of Mr Frederick Yip

Under the VIE Structure, the Group relies on New Legend and Mr
Frederick Yip’s performance of their contractual obligations to exercise
effective control. However, Mr Frederick Yip may not act in the best
interests of the Group or may not perform his obligations under the
VIE Agreements. Such risks exist and are expected to continue to exist
throughout the period in which the Company intends to indirectly
participate in the gaming promotion business through the VIE Structure.
In addition, as the Company is advised by its insurance brokers that the
enforcement of the VIE Agreement is considered as a business or trade
risk, which is generally not a subject which is capable to be insured, the
Company has not purchased any insurance to cover the risks relating to
the enforcement of the VIE Agreements. Therefore, the VIE Structure
may not be as effective as direct ownership in providing the Company
with control over New Legend.

Mr Frederick Yip is the sole shareholder and sole director of New
Legend. The Company provides no incentives to Mr Frederick Yip for
the purpose of encouraging him to act in the Company’s best interests
in his capacity as the sole shareholder and sole director of New Legend.
Although the Company may, upon approval from the DICJ, replace
the shareholder of New Legend pursuant to the Exclusive Undertaking
to Sell Agreement, and Mr Frederick Yip has executed the Power of
Attorney to authorise Hong Hock or members of the board of directors
of Hong Hock and their respective estates, successors, assignees or
liquidators to exercise on his behalf the full shareholder’s rights in
respect of his share and equity interests in New Legend, the Company
cannot assure that when conflicts arise, Mr Frederick Yip will act in the
best interests of the Company or that the conflicts will be resolved in
favour of the Company.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Risks relating to the obtaining of DICJ approval

The Company adopts the VIE Structure in order to indirectly participate
in the gaming promotion business and will unwind the VIE Structure
as soon as the law allows the gaming promotion business in Macau
to be operated without the VIE Structure. However, the Company’s
acquisition of Mr Frederick Yip’s share and equity interest in New
Legend and/or assets of New Legend may only be conducted to the
extent as permitted by applicable Macau laws and will be subject to the
required approvals and procedures under applicable Macau laws and
may also be subject to substantial costs.

Risks relating to the loss of gaming promoter licence

The current gaming promoter licence of New Legend is valid until
31 December 2022 and has to be renewed upon submission of an
application to the DICJ each year. The renewal application must include
a declaration duly signed by the legal representative of SJM stating
an interest in working with New Legend in the year after the renewal
application. The DICJ may, at its discretion, set conditions for renewal
of the gaming promoter licence. The gaming promoter licence of New
Legend may or may not be successfully renewed each year. If New
Legend fails to renew its gaming promoter licence, it will be prohibited
from conducting gaming promotion activities, which will affect the
implementation of the VIE Structure. In this event, the business,
financial condition and results of operations of the Group may be
materially and adversely affected.

Risks relating to the termination of the gaming promotion agreement

Pursuant to the gaming promotion agreement entered into between
New Legend and SIM dated 20 June 2013, the agreement may be
terminated (i) by mutual agreement, or (ii) if any party to the agreement
cannot carry out its obligations under the agreement and this results in
a material breach of the terms of the agreement. If New Legend fails
to carry out its obligations under the gaming promotion agreement and
this results in a material breach of the terms of the agreement, STM may
terminate the gaming promotion agreement. If the gaming promotion
agreement is terminated, New Legend may not be able to conduct its
gaming promotion business until a new gaming promotion agreement is
entered into with SJM, which will affect the implementation of the VIE
Structure. In this event, the business, financial condition and results of
operations of the Group may be materially and adversely affected.
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Risks relating to the VIE Agreements

The Company is not allowed under Macau laws to participate directly
in the gaming promotion business through a subsidiary. According
to Article 4.1 of Macau Administration Regulation No. 6/2002
(as amended by Macau Administration Regulation No. 27/2009),
shareholders of any corporate gaming promoter must be natural persons.
Given the legal restrictions and after having considered the business
potential of gaming promotion, the Company intends to participate in
the gaming promotion business indirectly through the VIE Structure
in order to diversify its business and increase the revenue contribution
from the VIP tables. The Group obtained the requisite approval from
the DICJ on 6 February 2014. Notwithstanding that the Group has
obtained approval from the DICJ, the DICJ may withdraw or revoke the
approval at their discretion if they consider that the VIE Structure does
not comply with applicable laws and regulations which are in force in
Macau from time to time, and the Company may be prohibited from
indirectly participating in the gaming promotion business through the
VIE Structure. In this event, the business, financial condition and results
of operations of the Group may be materially and adversely affected.

Risks relating to collaborators and VIP patrons

New Legend relies on the services of the collaborators which work with
it to market its business and attract VIP patrons. The collaborators may
choose to work with any licensed gaming promoters in Macau. There
is no assurance that the collaborators will not work with competitors of
New Legend and New Legend may lose the services of its collaborators
in the future. If New Legend loses a significant number of its
collaborators to its competitors, the business, financial condition and
results of operations of New Legend and the Group may be materially
and adversely affected.

The Group recognises the possibility that VIP patrons may attempt
or commit fraud or cheat in order to increase winnings, at times in
collusion with the employees in the VIP room(s) promoted by New
Legend. Failure to discover such schemes in a timely manner could
result in losses in the VIP room(s) promoted by New Legend. In
addition, negative publicity related to such schemes could have a
material and adverse effect on the Group’s reputation, thereby adversely
affecting the business, cash flow, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects of the Group.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

(8)  Risks relating to the exposure to credit risk on credit extended to VIP
patrons by New Legend

As a licensed gaming promoter, New Legend may extend credits to
its VIP patrons. However, New Legend may not have access to a
forum in which it will be able to collect gaming debts because, among
other reasons, courts of many jurisdictions, including China, do not
enforce gaming debts. Further, it may be unable to locate assets in
other jurisdictions against which to seek recovery of gaming debts.
The collectability of gaming debts from international customers could
be negatively affected by future business or economic trends or by
significant events in the countries in which these customers reside.
Failure to minimize such risk exposure may materially and adversely
affect the business, financial condition and results of operations of the
Group.

Actions taken to mitigate the above risks

The Group has adopted the following measures to mitigate the above risks:

(a) the Board has reviewed on a regular basis major issues arising from
implementation of the VIE Agreements as part of the internal control
measures;

(b) the Board has discussed and reviewed regularly to ensure that the
operations of the VIE Structure comply with the applicable laws and
regulations;

() the Group has adopted internal control and anti-money laundering
policies and related procedures in relation to the gaming promotion
business which are currently adopted by New Legend since the
commencement of the VIE Structure;

(d) the independent non-executive Directors had conducted and will
continue to conduct annual reviews on the VIE Agreements to ensure
that they are fair and reasonable and in the best interests of the Group
and its Shareholders as a whole;

(e)  the auditor of the Company had been engaged to provide an independent
assurance report on continuing connected transactions contemplated
under the VIE Agreements as disclosed in this annual report;

(f)  the Group has retained legal adviser and/or other professionals to assist

the Group in dealing with specific issues arising from the continuing
connected transactions in accordance with VIE Agreements; and

(g) the senior management of the Company has regularly reported to the
Board on the operations of New Legend.
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Change of circumstances

The Company has ceased the VIP gaming promotion business upon expiration
of the term of the Service Agreement on 31 December 2022. Accordingly,
the parties to the VIE Agreements terminated the VIE Agreements with effect
from 1 January 2023. Details of the termination are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 3 January 2023.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company
are reviewed and determined by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to, inter alia, the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As stated in the Supplemental Prospectus, the Company has applied for,
and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with
the minimum public float requirement of 25% and the Stock Exchange
accepted a lower percentage of 19.04% (the “Public Float Waiver”). Based
on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report, the Company
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules and as required
by the Public Float Waiver.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2022, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately
71.6% of the Group’s revenue with the largest customer, SJM, accounted for
approximately 65.6% of the Group’s revenue.

In 2022, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately
52.3% of the Group’s total purchases with the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 22.5% of the Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the year did a Director, a close associate of a Director or a
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

The interests of Directors (other than independent non-executive Directors)
in a business apart from the Group’s business, which competes or is likely
to compete either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business (or any
changes thereof) as informed by the relevant Directors pursuant to Rule 8.10(2)
(b) and Rule 8.10(2)(c) respectively of the Listing Rules are as follows:

—  Mr Li Chu Kwan is a director of a company which provides services
to Waldo Casino. He is also a director of a company which, through its
subsidiary, operates Waldo Hotel. Waldo Casino and Waldo Hotel are
engaged in casino operation and hotel business in Macau, respectively.

The above-mentioned competing businesses are managed by separate entities
with independent management and administration.

The Directors are of the view that the Group is capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s-length from, the businesses of
above-mentioned entities. When making decisions, the relevant Directors, in
performance of their duties as Directors of the Company, have acted and will
continue to act in the best interests of the Group.

During the year under review, save as disclosed above and in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus, none
of the Directors is considered to have interests in a business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

SIM has provided with the Group a confirmation dated 20 February 2023
that its anti-money laundering policies and procedures implemented in the
casinos and gaming premises at The Landmark Macau and MFW were in
full compliance with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements of the
Macau government for the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that
has a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Group did not have any significant events after the reporting period.

AUDITOR

On 27 July 2020, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned as the auditor of the
Company and Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 27 July 2020. Save as disclosed, the Company has not
changed its auditors in any of the preceding three years.

A resolution will be submitted to the 2023 AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young
as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Li Chu Kwan

Chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer
31 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

KGNS R Tel EB5%: +852 2846 9888
EEHIRRREE 979 K Fax fBH.: +852 2868 4432
Kigdh—E 27 18 ey.com

To the members of Macau Legend Development Limited
R Jh e A s A PR 2 )

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Macau Legend
Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 120 to 226, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.1 in the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$606.7 million during the
year ended 31 December 2022 and, as of that date, the Group’s net current
liabilities were approximately HK$977.7 million. During the year, the Group
has obtained a waiver from its creditor banks on the non-compliance of
certain loan covenants. The waiver is valid up to 31 December 2023 and the
management expects the Group will need to continue to apply for an extension
of the waiver upon its expiry, or seek for amendment of the loan covenants
and loan repayment terms in the Group’s favour. This condition, along with
other matters as set forth in note 2.1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition
to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern
section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key
audit matters to be communicated in our report. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of non-current non-financial assets in Macau

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s non-current
non-financial assets in Macau, comprising investment properties, property
and equipment, right-of-use assets, and other intangible assets amounted to
approximately HK$6,330.4 million, this represented 88.5% of the Group’s
total assets.

As the Group has incurred substantial losses primarily due to the severe
decline in the gaming and tourist industry caused by the continuing impact
of coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”) since 2020, an impairment indicator
existed and therefore the Group has performed an impairment assessment
of its non-current non-financial assets related to the cash-generating unit
(“CGU”). The management engaged an independent external valuer to assess
on the recoverable amounts of investment properties, property and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and other intangible assets as at 31 December 2022. The
recoverable amounts were calculated based on Value-In-Use (“VIU”) for the
non-current non-financial assets in Macau and compared with the carrying
amount as at 31 December 2022. The assets’ recoverable amounts as at 31
December 2022 were stated at the higher of the assets’ VIU and their fair
value less cost of disposal.

The assets’ VIU was determined by management based on the cash flow
forecasts of the CGU, which required the use of key assumptions including
the budgeted revenue, budgeted gross margin and expected growth rates based
on management’s business plan on operation of the CGU, the current market
circumstances and management’s expectation of market development, as well
as suitable discount rates.

Given the subjectivity of estimates and management judgement in the
impairment assessment and the material amounts involved, we considered this

area to be important to our audit.

The relevant disclosures of the Group’s non-current non-financial assets are
included in notes 3, 16, 17, 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

. We enquired of management in relation to the key assumptions and
estimates used in the preparation of the cash flow forecasts, and
compared these assumptions and estimates with the Group’s historical
results and independent market data;

. we evaluated the management’s forecast by comparing the previous
year’s forecast against current year’s actual results and considered the
validity for explanations on any significant variances;

. we checked the arithmetical accuracy of the forecasts used in the
recoverable amount calculation;

. we assessed the independence, objectivity and competence of the
external valuer;

. we involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the
evaluation of the valuation methodology, discount rates and other
assumptions used by the management and external valuer in preparing
the valuation and performing the assessment; and

. we considered the adequacy of disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the Directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Paul Kai Lung Go.

Ernst & Young
Certitied Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

HEF - HF+A=1+—HILEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

TRERTUR R e
2022 2021
i T#x T
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
I i Revenue 5 711,605 1,135,586
B KR A Cost of sales and services (1,046,963) (1,506,840)
(335,358) (371,254)
HA A ~ Wets KsiE > 5 Other income, gains and losses, net 7 19,850 21,005
X /N E S Share of results of an associate 20 (7,084) (28,460)
SRV ARG R o 1T Impairment losses on financial assets, net 8 (1,592) (16,437)
I A 2 W E R 1R Impairment losses on non-financial assets 43 - (241,000)
T e R B S Marketing and promotional expenses (80,139) (108,923)
R~ ATEUR HANB 3 Operating, administrative and other expenses (241,148) (307,103)
Al B AR Finance costs 9 (109,973) (65,402)
BB i s 18 LOSS BEFORE TAX 12 (755,444) (1,117,574)
IRESEISVAL 5 Income tax credit/(expenses) 13 148,235 (72,870)
HENER LOSS FOR THE YEAR (607,209) (1,190,444)
HAt 2w A (F18) OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS):
TG Al REE R A E 16 a  Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may
ZHMR LA be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
(fE718) - periods:
AP SERS EE AR Y Exchange differences on translation of foreign
[iE 5, 25 %5 operations
— P — subsidiaries 481 (10,465)
— WA — an associate - (5,336)
AR HAL A (E518) Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 481 (15,801)
AT 4 THI e TR AR AR TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (606,728) (1,206,245)
(R LOSS PER SHARE
FEAR (Al Basic (HK cents)
— N — For loss for the year 15 9.79) (19.20)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

MR A A=
At 31 December 2022

it Satat: TR
2022 2021
[l Tl T
Notes HK$°000 HKS$’000
FE U B NON-CURRENT ASSETS
fid-C/E S Investment properties 16 464,765 295,084
VEN &L Property and equipment 17 4,880,365 5,383,120
il FME Right-of-use assets 18 1,200,393 1,254,344
HAb T G Other intangible assets 19 44,027 55,037
S NP4y Investment in an associate 20 = 7,084
Tl Mgk A AR Loan to an associate 21 116,467 116,467
O %4 Deposits paid 22 219,648 226,909
Y8 FlERHE R Financial assets at fair value
G 4 il G through profit or loss 23 - 208,338
TR B AR Total non-current assets 6,925,665 7,546,383
L) CURRENT ASSETS
pea=y Inventories 24 21,304 24,289
B 5y B HA E S Trade and other receivables, deposits
i & AT and prepayments 25 114,398 265,167
ST ERAT /AR Pledged bank deposits 26 1,672 1,671
B JARAT A5 R Cash and bank balances 26 87,341 132,596
LI AR Total current assets 224,715 423,723
i =iy CURRENT LIABILITIES
By Je A REA 31 Trade and other payables 27 218,862 355,285
JEA B K Tax payable 433,864 641,103
SRAT B HABAE K Bank and other borrowings
— AR R EH — due within one year 28 542,319 206,733
FHE A Lease liabilities 29 7,326 8,291
T A AR Total current liabilities 1,202,371 1,211,412
T & AR NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (977,656) (787,689)
R O B B A TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,948,009 6,758,694
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

/I St Sy g S I p
At 31 December 2022

TR TR
2022 2021
B 5E Tt THIT
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
IE i A fis NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
SRAT B HABAE K Bank and other borrowings
— RS — due after one year 28 2,015,632 2,201,956
HEAE Lease liabilities 29 91,625 102,752
RS Fod T £ 1 Deferred tax liabilities 30 132,540 139,046
JE L) B £ A0 AR Total non-current liabilities 2,239,797 2,443,754
B EFE Net assets 3,708,212 4,314,940
WE £ EQUITY
JieAs Share capital 31 620,119 620,119
i Reserves 3,088,093 3,694,821
HE #5 S0 % Total equity 3,708,212 4,314,940
Ze i Bl 5 1%
P P
Li Chu Kwan Chan Mei Yi, Melinda
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BEZE T A= —HIEEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

TREA,
Je A Bt At 61 oAbl = Rkl ARl (RiHi ) At
Retained
profits/
Share Share Other Legal Translation  (Accumulated
capital premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* losses)* Total
THIT T THTT THTT THTT THT T
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
(HHREG) (FfF (i)
(note (i) (note (ii))

WoE - —HF—H—H At 1 January 2021 620,119 4,163,765 (323,835) 6,915 74,761 979,460 5,521,185

ER R Loss for the year - - - - - (1,190,444) (1,190.444)

A A A T 1R Other comprehensive

loss for the year - - - - (15,801) - (15,801)

AN 2T R A Total comprehensive

loss for the year - - - - (15,801) (1,190,444) (1,206,245)

REEZ—FTFZH=1—H At 31 December 2021 620,119 4,163,765 (323,835) 6,915 58,960 (210,984) 4,314,940

RoEZZF—H—H At 1 January 2022 620,119 4,163,765 (323,835) 6,915 58,960 (210,984) 4,314,940

AR R Loss for the year = = = = = (607,209) (607,209)

AR HA A A Other comprehensive

income for the year - - - - 481 - 481
Total comprehensive

N2 T R loss for the year = = = = 481 (607,209) (606,728)

MEFZFFZH=1+—H  At31 December 2022 620,119 4,163,765 (323,835) 6,915 59,441 (818,193) 3,708,212

(i Notes:

() A 1 A A ft 8 2 AR 2 WSO 1) B T 2 W 1) ) The other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal
Hﬁfﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁiﬂ://_\jﬁjﬁi\igiﬁfﬁﬁ“iﬂ S value of the shares of subsidiaries acquired by the Company and the nominal
SHIRF SR 7 10 A 0 ) P T (L) 26 2 o value of the shares of the Company issued for acquisition at the time of group

reorganisation in December 2006.

(i) RIEEHARKFILAEE ([EH]) ﬁ:‘%& > i (i)  In accordance with the Enterprise Law of the Lao People’s Democratic Republic
EHRFE A B A R > 2R R A g (“Lao PDR?”), the subsidiary registered in Lao PDR is required to transfer not
AR 10% 1)U A8 A2 158 il - R A S less than 10% of its profits of each accounting period to its legal reserve, until
FEAH A5 AR BB 0 m) 2 — 2R A o the amount reaches an amount equal to half of the share capital of the respective

subsidiary.

* HEMMRAEER®R R F+ A *

= B A A BB OIR R AR A R
3,088,093,000% 70 (—F ——4F+ - =+—
H : 3,694,821,00070) ©

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$3,088,093,000
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: HK$3,694,821,000).
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BEZE -+ A=+ —HILEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

TR AR TR T AR
2022 2021
{oR: Tt T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
KA EEEE < Bl CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
FRBLHE 1 Loss before tax (755,444) (1,117,574)
Tk T 9 38 1 Ll R Adjustments for:

FLE YA Interest income 7 (10,722) (16,534)

FEBH Interest expenses 9 109,973 65,402

R 5 LN b, e 1R I AR Unrealised exchange loss, net 8,066 16,515

Yea=gr ZinE 30| Reversal of allowance for inventories 12 (3,139) (1,436)

id-C/E S Depreciation of investment properties 12 11,404 11,262

Y EI G IR Depreciation of property and equipment 12 346,812 376,604

ARG R T Depreciation of right-of-use assets 12 52,544 56,598

BIRERY/E & b Loss/(gain) on disposal of property and equipment

s, (i) 7 66 (9,372)

B AT 1 BELCOVID-19 COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors

A I 4 L A (5,524) (532)

HA ST 5 7 15 Amortisation of other intangible assets 12 9,302 28,793

By WEMSCER T A e 4R Impairment losses on trade receivables 8 1,591 16,507

HoAth RS R I A Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses)

s 4E, (B R PR 48 [0 on other receivables 8 1 (70)

s A lERH RS8R 2 4 Loss on change in fair value of financial assets at

Al 7 2 s S E R fair value through profit or loss 7 10,967 3,667

Bax S k- NCIE S Share of results of an associate 7,084 28,460

I ARG E 2 E R Impairment losses on non-financial assets 43 - 241,000

(217,019) (300,710)
FEED Decrease in inventories 6,125 5,193
B 5 K HAb EWCHIE ~ 124 X B4} Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables,

A ) deposits and prepayments 149,178 (20,496)
B 5 B Ho A JEAS 3K I 3 D Decrease in trade and other payables (139,547) (25,018)
BT 4 Cash used in operations (201,263) (341,031)
CAT T S8 Income tax paid (41,316) (3,373)
Y ) B T B VR AR Net cash flows used in operating activities (242,579) (344,404)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

WE_FFF A= HIREE

Year ended 31 December 2022

SR S S
2022 2021
i T#x T
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
A B B By < Bl i i CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
W 2 A Purchase of property and equipment (42,390) (53,126)
BENEE Deposits paid (5,837) (13,453)
E RS Interest received 10,722 16,534
A OB R T Proceed from disposal of financial assets
B H A 46 il T 2 T A I at fair value through profit or loss 197,371 -
LB W 3 R A P A5 Proceed from disposal of property and equipment 124 10,280
BRGSO H) BL4&F4  Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities 159,990 (39,765)
B B B T CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
fEHRERAT B HA A 3K Repayment of bank and other borrowings (213,000) (105,000)
CATFILE Interest paid (97,341) (57,810)
BRI R ABAET Repayments of principal portion
of lease liabilities (6,043) (2,449)
EERAT S LA X Bank and other borrowings raised 350,000 537,900
Rl T ) P A B e VR R Net cash flows generated from financing activities 33,616 372,641
Bl B Bl S EY D i NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (48,973) (11,528)
AR I B 4 M B S AE ) Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 132,596 125,257
SN E RS T SAE > B Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 3,718 18,867
JJ”AE M B BB EY) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
BNER & AR LR T4 % OF YEAR, REPRESENTING CASH AND
SRATHE R BANK BALANCES AS STATED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION 87,341 132,596
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022
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o KEERE BAERT) 5T ML S R A
PR W] > B i 7 vE W 5 28 5 BT A BR
AN T D o o R /AN 2
{1t 3% <5 bl b ik % Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands > T A2 &) A PR P 4R
AT Bl (TP 1) 1Y) 2 S B I 2 1
P AT RE R G B B £ 0 A1 R G i R P N
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Macau Legend Development Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 5 October 2006 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the
Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the principal place
of business of the Company in Macau Special Administrative Region
(“Macau”) is located at Palace Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf,
Avenida da Amizade e Avenida da Dr. Sun Yat Sen, Macau.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 42. As at 31 December
2022, the Group owned Macau Fisherman’s Wharf (“MFW?”) in
Macau and Savan Legend Resorts Hotel and Entertainment Complex
(“Savan Legend Resorts”) in Lao People’s Democratic Republic (“Lao
PDR”). MFW is a waterfront integrated gaming, hotel, convention
and entertainment complex located on the outer harbour of the Macau
Peninsula. Savan Legend Resorts is an integrated resort which is
engaged in gaming and hotel business in Lao PDR.

Pursuant to the service agreement dated 25 September 2006 (“Service
Agreement”) and its related amendments entered into with SJM Resorts
S.A. (formerly known as Sociedade de Jogos de Macau, S.A.) (“SIM”),
being one of the three original concessionaires in Macau, the Group
provides gaming services to SIM in its premises in Macau. The Service
Agreement between the Group and SJM expired on 26 June 2022 when
the term of SIM concession agreement with the Macau government
ended on the same date. On 16 June 2022, the Group entered into an
addendum to the Service Agreement with SJM (the “Addendum”)
that the services period was extended to 31 December 2022. On 30
December 2022, the Group signed a new three-year service agreement
with SJM for the provision of services in selling, promotion, advertising,
customer development and introduction, coordination of activities and
other related services to SJM for a term of three years commencing 1
January 2023 (the “New Service Agreement”). Pursuant to the New
Service Agreement, the Group is required to pay a deposit of HK$7.1
million and to provide a bank guarantee of HK$39.2 million to STM.

On 23 June 2022, the Macau government extended the term of
concession agreements of SJM and all the other concessionaires and
sub-concessionaires from 26 June 2022 to 31 December 2022. On 16
December 2022, SJM, together with other existing concessionaires
and sub-concessionaires, were formally awarded a ten-year gaming
concession for the operation of casino games of fortune in Macau under
a definitive gaming contract entered into with the Macau government.
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GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

In accordance with the Macau Law No. 16/2002 (the “Macau Gaming
Law”), as amended by Law No. 7/2022, that the Macau Gaming Law
allows existing satellite casinos to continue to operate in premises not
owned by Macau casino gaming concessionaries during a 3-year transition
period. The Group has maintained regular discussions with SIM on the
continuation of cooperation beyond the transition period. The Directors
have confirmed the Group intends to continue operating all of the Group’s
principal businesses in Macau for the foreseeable future.

On 27 December 2022, the Group decided to cease the gaming operation
of Babylon Casino (“Babylon”), a casino inside the MFW property. In
accordance with the management plan, Babylon is to be converted into
commercial units for leasing to external users. As a result, Babylon
has been reclassified to investment properties as at the current reporting
period end in these consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$977.7
million as at 31 December 2022 and incurred a net loss of HK$606.7
million during the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group’s total
bank and other borrowings amounted to HK$2,558.0 million, of which
HK$542.0 million will be due for repayment within the next 12 months
from the reporting date, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
HK$87.3 million as at 31 December 2022.

Pursuant to the relevant loan agreements, the Group is required to
comply with the loan covenants. Should the Group fail to comply with
the loan covenant clauses, the Group’s creditor banks (the “Banks’) may
exercise their rights to serve notice to demand for immediate repayment
of all outstanding bank borrowing including interest. As at the last
financial year ended 31 December 2021, although the Group was not in
compliance with the covenant clause on the Group’s minimum net assets
undertaking of HK$5,500.0 million, it had received a waiver from the
Banks on 27 August 2021; this waiver was valid up to 30 June 2022.
On 25 March 2022, the Group received a further waiver from the lead
bank of the Banks and the Group’s minimum net assets undertaking
requirement was lowered to HK$4,000.0 million; this waiver was valid
up to 31 December 2022. On 28 December 2022, the Banks agreed
to further amend the minimum net assets undertaking of the Group to
HK$2,800.0 million by another waiver, up to 31 December 2023. As at
the date of approval of these financial statements, the Group expects,
based on the forecasts prepared by the management, the Group’s net
assets will be below HK$5,500.0 million upon the expiry of the current
loan covenant amendment after 31 December 2023. The management
will apply for and expects the Banks will continue to extend the loan
covenant waiver or amend the loan covenants in the Group’s favour.
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2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

As a result of the loan covenant waiver received from the Banks on 28
December 2022, bank borrowings in the amount of HK$2,015.6 million
have been classified as non-current liabilities as at 31 December 2022,
based on the original repayment schedules as stipulated in the loan
agreement.

Notwithstanding the management’s expectation and forecast as outlined
above, there remain circumstances that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors consider that the Group will have adequate funds
available to enable it to continue its operations as a going concern
and have sufficient working capital to satisfy its present requirements
for at least 12 months from the end of the reporting period, based on
the Group’s profit forecast and cash flow projection which, inter alia,
take into account the following with a view to improving the Group’s
liquidity:

(a) The controlling shareholder has confirmed in writing not to
request for repayment of a shareholder’s loan in the amount of
HK$50.0 million until 31 March 2024, from the original extended
repayment date of 30 June 2023;

(b) during the year, the Group entered into loan agreements with
certain substantial shareholders of the Company. The Group
has fully drawn down HK$350.0 million as at 31 December
2022 pursuant to these loan agreements, which were repayable
in 2023. On 10 March 2023 and 24 March 2023, the substantial
shareholders have agreed in writing not to request for repayment
of these amounts until 31 March 2024;

(c)  subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 31 January 2023
and 28 February 2023, a substantial shareholder of the Company
has provided additional shareholder’s loans of HK$35 million
and HK$45 million to the Group, which were repayable on 1
May 2023 and 1 June 2023, respectively. On 10 March 2023, the
substantial shareholder has agreed in writing not to request for
repayment of these amounts until 31 March 2024, and to continue
providing any additional financial support needed for the Group
to continue its operations as a going concern in the foreseeable
future;
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2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

(d) the Directors are in discussion with the Banks to restructure a
loan amount of HK$2,069.3 million outstanding as at the end
of the reporting period. This may include, inter alia, a change
to the instalment loan repayment schedule by reducing the
amounts repayable in 2023 and 2024, and amendment of the loan
covenants. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Group has repaid an instalment loan amount of HK$27.5 million
in March 2023 in accordance with the loan repayment schedule;

(e) the Group has undertaken and will continue to undertake various
mitigating measures to manage the current business environment,
including a cost control program to minimise the cash outflow of
non-essential items; and

(f)  as a result of the uplifting of all travel and border restrictions
between Macau and mainland China/Hong Kong in January 2023,
the Directors expect the number of tourists traveling into Macau
will significantly increase, which will improve the Group’s
business and financial performance.

The Directors believe that, taking into account of the above factors,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to satisfy its present
requirements for at least the next 12 months from the end of the
reporting period. Accordingly, the Directors believe it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 on a going concern basis.

However, should the Banks not agree to further extend the waiver or
amend the relevant loan covenants upon the expiry date, the Group may
be unable to continue as a going concern, in which case adjustments
may have to be made to the carrying values of the Group’s assets to
state them at their realisable values, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify its non-current assets and non-
current liabilities to current assets and current liabilities, respectively.
The effect of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
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2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Report Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (” HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an
entity, directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it
has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and

circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date when
the Group obtains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

All intragroup assets, liabilities, income, equity, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time
for the current year’s financial statements:

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

W~ W7 R - HEE ST T P

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

BB #)— IR IT 5792 AR

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

VB RS RIS 198 - AR IS R ISR O 5% ~ i S i At YR
RIER 1655 RE B 2 50 B 7R 1] B A vs r w HE I 2R 41 9% (BT 4%)

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples Accompanying
HKFRS16, and HKAS41
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Except as described below, the adoption of the amendments to HKFRSs

in the current period has had no material impact on the Group’s

financial performance and position for the current and prior periods and/

or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are applicable to

the Group are described below:

(a)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework™) issued in
June 2018 without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would
be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they
were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively to business
combinations that occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As there
were no business combinations during the year, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity
recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost
of those items as determined by HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or
loss. The Group has applied the amendments retrospectively to
items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on
or after 1 January 2021. Since there was no sale of items produced
prior to the property, plant and equipment being available for use,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group.
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(©)

(d)

Amendment to HKFRS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS37, the cost
of fulfilling the contact comprises the costs that relate directly
to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract include
both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct
labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the
depreciation change for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not relate
directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to contracts for which it
has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no
onerous contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are applicable to the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new
or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group has
applied the amendment prospectively from 1 January 2022.
As there was no modification or exchange of the Group’s
financial liabilities during the year, the amendment did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)

B v A HE RIS 1658 (IERT7R)
Amendments to HKFRS 16

AU I B it AR 17 9%
HKFRS 17

i Vs A E RIS 1 7498 (BT AR)
Amendments to HKFRS 17

B v B i HE RIS 1798 (BRTAR)
Amendment to HKFRS 17

TR 5% (B FTA0)
Amendments to HKAS 1

FWEFHERSE 19 (B5T4%)
Amendments to HKAS 1

B s G I 195 R s A e v R BT A S 25
(EFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

FBEEFHER S8R (BRI A%)
Amendments to HKAS 8

B e hE R 2 1298 (BHT4%)
Amendments to HKAS 12

TRMEER AT PRA ] 20224FH)

2.4 1ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements:

G FIFE 2\ Al 2 5 B0 362 JH Y B i 67 20T B
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

B A 1] 7 7 T A 1

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

bzl

Insurance Contracts’

A —
1R £l
Insurance Contracts'’

B RS 25 T S TR A SR 25 1 798 B T B TR MR 359 9 — LB B
/75;[5
Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information®

B E I B T B ([ AR AR )2
Classitication of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)**

ARG A A IR A 5 ([ —F 4RI ))?

Non-current liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”) ?

EaTE S P!

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

ot it

Definition of Accounting Estimates’

BRI Sh 1 B R A (R B A B I
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the
2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and
2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classitication by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding
wording with no change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS
28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require
a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale of contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after the completion
of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of
the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1
January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

The Group has applied the initial recognition exception and did not
recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences for transactions related to leases. Upon initial application
of these amendments, the Group will recognise deferred tax for
all temporary differences related to leases at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented. During the year, the Group has
performed a detailed assessment on the impact of amendments to HKAS
12. The Group has estimated that it will recognise a deferred tax asset
of HK$13.8 million for deductible temporary differences associated
with lease liabilities and a deferred tax liability of HK$147.0 million for
taxable temporary differences associated with right-of-use assets and
recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as
an adjustment to retained profits at 1 January 2022.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current
or non-current, in particular the determination over whether an entity
has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months
after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by
the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement
of the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the
2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a liability
arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments
require additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when it has a right
to defer settlement of those liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments
early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments,
and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments and whether existing loan agreements may require revision.
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, if can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments
to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on
how to apply the concept of materiality to account policy disclosures.
Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the
guidance provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is
non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is not necessary.
The Group is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to
ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to the measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that
occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures certain financial instruments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 —based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it
is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s share of results and net assets of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statement of an associate used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate, the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in
which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the net investment subsequently increases.

When the Group transacts with an associate, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

A performance obligation represents a promise in a contract with a
customer to transfer to the customer either (a) a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or (b) a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the assets is created or enhanced; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct goods or services.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation
of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligation
including an obligation to provide goods or services to customers on
complementary basis or related to the customer relationship programs,
the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying
each performance obligation is determined at contract inception. It
represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised good or
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not
directly observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or
services to the customer.
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31 December 2022
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself
(i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to
be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the
provision of the specified good or service by another party. In this case,
the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of
any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other

party.
Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn licensing income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to
write off the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual value, using
the straight-line method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised on disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss
arising from derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties
or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent accounting is
its carrying amount at the date of change in use. If a property occupied
by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property and equipment” for owned property and/
or accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up to the
date of change in use.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment (other than construction in progress) are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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31 December 2022
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of each item of
property and equipment (other than construction in progress) less their
residual values over (i) in the case of gaming machinery and equipment,
the shorter of their estimated useful lives and ten years, based on the
ten-year gaming concession granted to SJM commencing 1 January
2023; and (ii) in the case of other property and equipment, their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the
term of the lease and 2%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5% —50%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of
the term of the lease and

10% - 33%

Motor vehicles 10% —25%
Vessels 10%
Machinery and equipment (except for 5% — 15%

“gaming machinery and equipment”)

Gaming machinery and equipment 10% —20%

An item of property and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents integrated resort under development
or construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing
the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease
component and non-lease components, the Group adopts the practical
expedient not to separate non-lease components and to account for the
lease component and the associated non-lease components as a single
lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of machinery and equipment that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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31 December 2022
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.
The cost of a right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as

follows:

Leasehold land 25 to 75 years
Buildings 2 to 5 years
Machinery 3 years

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased
to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope
and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to
reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by (a)
decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to reflect
the partial or full termination of the lease for lease modifications that
decrease the scope of the lease. The Group recognises any gain or loss
relating to the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss;
or (b) making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset for all other lease modifications. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
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31 December 2022
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Licensing
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and
is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as licensing income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part
of the lease payments for the new lease.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date
of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the date of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.
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31 December 2022
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the
year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions..

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit/loss before tax because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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31 December 2022
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in
which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application of
the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition exemption
are recognised on the date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same tax authority.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (Continued)

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be used by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the tax
treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each
uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely amount or the
expected value.

Inventories

Inventories consist of food and beverage, retail merchandise and
operating supplies are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all costs necessary to make the sale.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair value
at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on
the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Licences

Purchased licences are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are
amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Further details of the amortisation of the Group’s intangible assets are
included in note 19 of the financial statement.
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31 December 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any).

The recoverable amounts of property and equipment, right-of-use assets,
and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amounts individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which
the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual CGUs, when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of CGU. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to
the other assets of the unit or the group of CGU. An impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue from contracts with customers” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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31 December 2022
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment
losses or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the
same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The
remaining fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition of
equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income (equity investments) (Continued)

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit
or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost
of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss and is included in the
“other income, gain and losses, net”.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”)
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers that there has been
a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral
and credit enhancement by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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31 December 2022
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, and
bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(1)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i1)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group

or of a parent of the Group;

or
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

®

(i)

(iii)

@iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management personnel
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as
to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for
a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of
the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Determination on lease term of contracts with renewal options

The Group applies judgement to determine the lease term for lease
contracts in which it is a lessee with a renewal option, specifically, the
leases relating to leasehold land in Macau. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable. Leases are considered to be no longer
enforceable when the Group as the lessee and the relevant lessors both
have the right to terminate the lease without permission from the other
party with no more than an insignificant contractual penalty.

The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
renewal options impacts the lease term, which significantly affects
the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised. Re-
assessment is performed upon the occurrence of either a significant
event or a significant change in circumstances that is within the control
of lessee and that affects the assessment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (Continued)

Determination on lease term of contracts with renewal options
(Continued)

When assessing reasonable certainty, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances including economic incentives/penalties for
exercising or not exercising the options. Factors considered include:

. contractual terms and conditions for the optional periods
compared with market rates (e.g. whether the amount of payments
in the optional periods is below the market rates);

. the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken by Group; and

. costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g. relocation costs,
costs of identifying another underlying asset suitable for the
Group’s needs).

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for the lease contracts which the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the renewal option were HK$63,319,000
(2021: HK$65,664,000) and HK$77,318,000 (2021: HK$76,064,000)
respectively.

Estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Recoverability of refundable deposit for a potential long-term
investment project

The management of the Group takes into consideration the likelihood of
utilisation of such deposit based on the potential long-term investment
project status. Meanwhile, the management of the Group considered
that the deposit shall be used to settle the consideration in full for the
proposed acquisition of certain land use rights in connection with a
proposed development project in Cambodia, and there is uncertainty
on the timing on when such transaction can be finalised and the
recoverability of the deposit thereon if such transaction is not going
to proceed further. Where the expectation on the recoverability of
the deposit is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying amount of the deposit and loss allowance in
the periods in which such estimate has been changed. Details of the
refundable deposit are disclosed in note 22.
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31 December 2022
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its
value in use. When calculating the recoverable amounts, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows based on projected income
and expenses of the business, working capital needs, growth rates,
discount rates and physical deterioration and all relevant forms of
obsolescence and optimisation rates.

Changes in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount of
the assets are based could significantly affect the Group’s assessment
resulting in an impairment loss being recognised.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the management performed
an impairment assessment on the Group’s CGUs. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, no impairment loss was recognised on
these non-financial assets (2021: HK$241,000,000 impairment loss
on the investment project in Cape Verde). Details of the impairment
assessments are disclosed in note 43.
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5. Wik 5. REVENUE
ALE B S AT An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:
—ETTUE T
2022 2021
T#x TH#EIC
HK$’000 HK$’000
A& TR FH R 8 A O AR - Revenue from gaming related operations:
i = B IR BT AR Recognised over time:
(i) #ELAFFIER GARSEIR S k2t () from provision of gaming related facilities
THERE AR IR s it B R AR B — R and gaming related general management
PR L SR ] S 4 T S B services under the Service Agreement and
(EF M EEG) M H 2 BUER th A indirect participation in the gaming promotion
55 business under the VIE Structure (as defined
in note 6) in respect of:
— G — Mass market tables 367,352 780,365
— B —~ VIP tables* 82,419 119,583
— AT — Slot machines 1,102 2,847
450,873 902,795
AR — IR 2T LARERT Recognised at a point in time:
(i) WA & IHA [ i gy (ii) from operation of a casino in respect of:
— TG — Mass market tables 20,415 8,799
— HEM — VIP tables 20,506 -
— AT — Slot machines 27,325 5,746
68,246 14,545
519,119 917,340
2 B FE R M B B R A Revenue from non-gaming related operations:
Bl S BRI [H] 77 AR - Recognised over time:
A& S & A Income from hotel rooms 50,422 45,176
A& E T IR A Income from building management services 16,266 18,663
MR B 85 (o 26 SRR D) SR AR IR B 1) Income from provision of services under the
N Addendum (as defined in note 1) 15,987 -
82,675 63,839
* 45 LR A 5 B I A SRR ] s * The amounts include outsourced VIP tables and indirect participation
M EEEmE R EE e — A A in the gaming promotion business in Macau through New Legend VIP
PR 2w (387 Bl e 1) i 1P ] 422 22 L 1R Club Limited (“New Legend”) under the VIE Structure, which has been
PR DR ZE = - HE terminated effective from 1 January 2023.
1E o
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“EC A=

31 December 2022
Wi (470 5.  REVENUE (CONTINUED)
TR CTUE TR AR
2022 2021
Tt T#T
HK$’000 HK$’000
ARG T DATERR Recognised at a point in time:
BIR Food and beverage 67,877 96,361
SR Sales of merchandise 1,047 1,295
Fops Others 8,730 9,936
77,654 107,592
WA For operating leases:
A& T E MR R RSB REIRA Licensing income from investment properties 32,157 46,815
192,486 218,246
711,605 1,135,586
K EEF AR (i fERREE) © Revenue from contracts with customers, timing
of revenue recognition:
— BEREBLRE R — over time 533,548 966,634
— AN —at a point in time 145,900 122,137
679,448 1,088,771
AR E B E MR Revenue from operating leases:
— R E AT — fixed lease payments 30,205 44,489
— AR A K — variable lease payments 1,952 2,326
32,157 46,815
711,605 1,135,586
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022
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REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Gaming related operations

Provision of casino management services and gaming promotion business

Revenue from the provision of gaming related facilities and gaming
related general management services are recognised over time when
performance obligations are satisfied while the gaming operator
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group renders its services. The Group’s
performance obligation is primarily the provision of casino management
services to a gaming operator in Macau under the Service Agreement.
The Group has the right to receive its service income, based on net
gaming wins of the casinos of each month, from the gaming operator
when the service is rendered.

Revenue from indirect participation in the gaming promotion business
is recognised over time when performance obligations are satisfied
while the gaming operator simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group renders its
services. The Group’s performance obligation is primarily the provision
of promotion services to a gaming operator in Macau under the VIE
Structure. The Group has the right to receive its service income, based
on net gaming wins of the VIP tables of each month, from the gaming
operator when the service is rendered.

The Directors of the Company considered that the Group acts as a
principal for casino management services and gaming promotion
business provided to gaming operator as the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the contractual obligations to provide the
specified service to customers and controls the specified service to be
provided by the Group before the specific service is transferred to the
customer.

Casino operation

Gaming revenue from the casino operation is the aggregate net
difference between gaming wins and losses. The Group accounts for
gaming revenue from the casino operation on a portfolio basis given
the similar characteristics of wagers, by recognising net win per gaming
day.

For casino transactions that include complimentary goods and services
or loyalty points under the customer relationship program provided
by the Group to gaming customers to incentivise gaming, the Group
allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation based on
their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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31 December 2022

REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers (continued)

Non-gaming related operations

The transaction price of hotel rooms, food and beverage, retail
transactions and other services is the net amount collected from the
customer for such goods and services. The transaction price for such
transactions is recorded as revenue when the goods or services are
transferred or rendered to the customers during their stay at the hotel or
when the delivery is made for the food and beverage, retail goods and
other services.

Income from building management services is recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time, when the Group provides
building management services to tenants of the Group’s properties in
Macau. The Group has the right to receive its service income, based
on agreed monthly building management service fee, from the tenants
when the service is rendered.

As the original Service Agreement between the Group and SJM expired
on 26 June 2022, on 16 June 2022, the Group signed the Addendum
with SJM for the provision of facilities, hotel rooms, food and beverage
and other peripheral services and licensing for occupation of use
of spaces with respect to the Casino Legend Palace and the Casino
Babylon and the service period was extended to 31 December 2022.

The Group has other contracts that include multiple goods and services,
such as packages that bundle food and beverage and other services
with hotel stays. For such arrangements, the Group allocates revenue
to each good or service based on its relative stand-alone selling price.
The Group primarily determines the stand-alone selling price of hotel
rooms, food and beverage, and retail goods and services based on the
amount that the Group charges when each is sold separately in similar
circumstances to similar customers. The duration of the Group’s
contracts with customers are generally one year or less and the Group
elects to apply the practical expedient and not to disclose the remaining
performance obligation for these contracts.
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SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022

Zigideg s

AN AT H R RGO R
W ((EREEPRE]) - PATEHFHN
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive Directors of the Company have been identified as the
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM?”). The executive Directors
review the Group’s internal reports in order to assess performance and
allocate resources.

For the provision of gaming related facilities and gaming related general
management services, and the indirect participation in the gaming
promotion business, the executive Directors regularly analyse gaming
related revenue in terms of service income from mass market tables,
VIP tables and slot machines. For the operation of casinos, the executive
Directors regularly analyse gaming related revenue in terms of net
difference between gaming wins and losses from mass market tables,
VIP tables and slot machines. The executive Directors review separately
the entire revenues and operating results attributable to gaming related
services and non-gaming operations. As such, the executive Directors
have identified the operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8
Operating segments as gaming and non-gaming operations.

The segment information is consistent with the internal information
that is regularly reviewed by the executive Directors for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of performance. This is also
the basis of organisation in the Group, whereby the management has
determined to organise the Group with reference to the differences
in products and services. The principal activities of the operating and
reportable segments are as follows:

Gaming — 1) Gaming related services for mass market tables, VIP tables
and slot machines under the Service Agreement entered into between
Hong Hock, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the gaming
operator, SJM, whereby the revenue was derived based on net gaming
wins. Revenue from the indirect participation in the gaming promotion
business represents the sharing of gross gaming revenue generated by
VIP gaming tables operated by a subsidiary, New Legend, through the
structure established by the entering into of the VIE Agreements among
Hong Hock, New Legend and Mr Frederick Yip (“VIE parties”), further
details of which are set out in the Company’s circular dated 9 June 2014
(the “VIE Structure”); and 2) Casino operation in Lao PDR.

Non-gaming — operations at MFW and Savan Legend Resorts include
hotel and other operations such as licensing income from the shops,
provision of building management service, food and beverage and
others. For segment reporting under HKFRS 8, financial information
of these operations with similar economic characteristics has been
aggregated into a single operating segment named ‘“non-gaming”.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results

31 December 2022

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
operating and reportable segment:

Year ended 31 December 2022

L2 E3L¥ Vi Koy i) oy
Gaming  Non-gaming Segment total ~ Elimination  Consolidated
Tl T Tl T Tl
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
SR External revenue 519,119 192,486 711,605 = 711,605
sl Inter-segment revenue - 49,929 49,929 (49,929) -
b e Segment revenue 519,119 242,415 761,534 (49,929) 711,605
s <tis! Segment loss (73,183) (488,472) (561,655) = (561,655)
Unallocated depreciation and
A BT B A B amortisation (63,622)
RO B EAMMA S 2B > Unallocated other income and
T corporate expenses, net (13,110)
iRl - NEIE & Share of results of an associate (7,084)
Tl AR Finance costs (109,973)
BrBlTE R Loss before tax (755,444)
ME_F A ZH = —HILFE Year ended 31 December 2021
H# % Vs i Eil% Fese
Gaming ~ Non-gaming  Segment total Elimination ~ Consolidated
T THETT T TiT T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
AN g External revenue 917,340 218,246 1,135,586 - 1,135,586
Ll ey Inter-segment revenue - 72,928 72,928 (72,928) -
Vgt 1€ Segment revenue 917,340 291,174 1,208,514 (72,928) 1,135,586
Wity aist Segment loss (162,980) (497,485) (660,465) - (660,465)
Unallocated depreciation and
RO BCIT s Rk amortisation (83,127)
ROPFHAMMA RAFEBL > Unallocated other income and
HE corporate expenses, net (39,120)
Unallocated impairment losses on
Ao EIE ARG E 2 W ER R non-financial assets (241,000)
iRl - NEIE 3 Share of results of an associate (28,460)
IS % Finance costs (65,402)
BBtk E Loss before tax (1,117,574)
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31 December 2022
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Inter-segment revenue is charged at amounts agreed by both parties.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment results
represent the results of each segment without allocation of depreciation
of certain investment properties and property and equipment arising
from the fair value adjustments on acquisition of MFW and its
subsidiaries (the “MFW Group”) and amortisation of other intangible
assets, unallocated other income and corporate expenses, net,
unallocated impairment losses on non-financial assets, the share of
results of an associate and finance costs. Unallocated corporate expenses
include Directors’ remuneration paid or payable by the Company and
certain administrative expenses for corporate use. This is the measure
reported to the executive Directors for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating and
reportable segments is disclosed as it is not regularly provided to the
executive Directors for review.

Other segment information

Year ended 31 December 2022

(L2 % A4 HL B
Gaming Non-gaming Unallocated Consolidated
Tt Ti#Ee Tt Tt

HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000 HK$°000

EI SR Depreciation of property and equipment 26,375 301,363 19,074 346,812
BT Depreciation of investment properties - 9,811 1,593 11,404
oA TR Amortisation of other intangible assets - - 9,302 9,302
RS T e Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6,391 10,854 35,299 52,544
e mpea e Zin Reversal of allowance for inventories = (3,139) = (3,139)
LB W S R A 1 e 1R Loss on disposal of property and equipment - 66 - 66

MR AR ARAT] 202245
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31 December 2022
SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other segment information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

L2 E ALY R HL A

Gaming  Non-gaming Unallocated  Consolidated

Tt Tt THsIC THsIC

HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000

V2GR Depreciation of property and equipment 33,717 325,456 17,431 376,604
Eitd<v7/ELilg Depreciation of investment properties - 9,669 1,593 11,262
oAt TR o Y Amortisation of other intangible assets - - 28,793 28,793
o FIRE G RE TS Depreciation of right-of-use assets 7,061 14,226 35,311 56,598
T 7 S T A Reversal of allowance for inventories - (1,436) - (1,436)

Y 2E KSR ESIE, Loss/(gain) on disposal of property and

(54t equipment 119 (9,491) - (9,372)

FE A RlE R 2 W s 4R Impairment losses on non-financial assets - - 241,000 241,000

FEEE R ERES DB B E
PEH PRI - 3 8 2 5 73 UG I o A
R HT > TR 2 1 P R I
353 B R % AR BT ik ) A B %
SEERL S WO BB B ARl o B

%5 o

B

A AR T A B AR~ S B A
i [ (ELAE RO € S A1) o

A BIA LB 3SR % 5 2 At EORHEZ £C
B LS 25 o A B ACSE R IR ) A
ER (B iR el Rt R AR i S AR 2 &
Tl 7 R 1) O W R RO 4 M
(A2

The CODM makes decisions according to operating results of each
segment. No analysis of segment asset and segment liability is presented
as the CODM does not regularly review such information for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment. Therefore,
only segment revenue and segment results are presented.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located on Macau, Lao PDR and others
(including Cambodia and Cape Verde).

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is
presented based on the locations of the operations. Information about
the Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial assets at FVTPL and
loan to an associate) is presented based on the geographical locations of
the assets.

USRI R RN LN
BETHA=ZT—HILEE

Revenue from external customers

e B & A
+oAE
Non-current assets

Year ended 31 December 31 December

TR CTUE T SRR - e o

2022 2021 2022 2021

Tt Fis oo T TFHsoo

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TRM Macau 641,746 1,120,630 6,330,395 6,715,294
hh Lao PDR 69,859 14,956 248,814 270,417
HAlh Others = - 229,989 235,867
711,605 1,135,586 6,809,198 7,221,578
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SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022

6. SrabE R () 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
FEEFNER Information about major customer
REEEZ T H T —H IR Revenue of HK$466,769,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022
BE > REREBEEE (— AR BRI (2021: HK$901,802,000) was receivable from SIM, a customer in
FF) M ts £5466,769,0004 0 (—F —— the gaming segment, amounted to over 66% (2021: 79%) of the total
1 901,802,000%570) » 1l A4 [ 400k 45 revenue of the Group.

HBi66% (—F ——F:79%) °

7. HABWA - Wesk REsR o S 7.  OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET
(a) HAfA (a) Other income
S-Sy : TR T AR
2022 2021
T#x T
HK$°000 HK$°000
FLEMA Interest income
— BT —bank deposits 114 534
— N AEFH R SIMR 2 - financial assets at FVTPL
o 10,608 16,000
EL s fR B Insurance claims received 152 97
At Others 27,642 15,055
38,516 31,686
(b) HAbMess RIEHE - S (b)  Other gains and losses, net
TR TR
2022 2021
Tt THIT
HK$’000 HK$°000
Fe N B wHE I T 7 5 AR Loss on change in fair value of financial
ZERVERE 2 A R EE B R assets at FVTPL (10,967) (3,667)
T 52 e T U Exchange losses, net (7,633) (16,386)
B 2 KA Y OksAR) (Loss)/gain on disposal of property
g and equipment (66) 9,372
(18,666) (10,681)
19,850 21,005
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SR A= H

31 December 2022
4 RE e Z WRAR S 1E - R 8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS, NET
RO R e o
2022 2021
Tt THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
LA TE H R I 1R Impairment losses, net, recognised on:
B 5y MWK T R (B 18 Loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables 1,566 14,150
B o) REMGR TS 2 AN T YR Ml 42 %8 Trade receivables amount written off
as uncollectible 25 2,357
Hoft FE U B E 1, (BB B8 Loss allowance/(reversal of loss allowance)
[5]) for impairment of other receivables 1 (70)
1,592 16,437
A B A, 2 SE s O 38 - Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 38.
il AR 9. FINANCE COSTS
TERTTUR N e
2022 2021
Tt THETT
HK$°000 HK$’000
SRAT I R B Interest on bank borrowings 81,510 51,052
Ji SRR Interest on other borrowings 10,101 452
&AL Interest on lease liabilities 5,779 6,318
SRAT A 20 il LA B HAth Amortisation of finance costs on bank
Tl B S B 5 borrowings and other finance costs 12,583 7,580
Rl A R Total finance costs 109,973 65,402
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SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022

10. #FHFRRFEGTBAEME 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS
B Y ET Y YNEY o Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
CATSEA A A R R FEATHA B The emoluments paid or payable to the Directors and chief executive of
HEEnT the Company were as follow:
WS JeBtriiF B e TR
Executive Directors Non-executive Directors Independent non-executive Directors
AR BEER BKEE MSM  WREE  ZEBE mkx REE BRE EHR O 4% Wik Wk it
Li Chan Tsang Chan Ho Li Wong Lau Mak Tam
Chu  MeiYi Ka Weng  Chiulin, Chun  Che Man, David Ngai Kee Wang Ka Wing, Xie Wai Chu,

Kwan  Melinda Hung Lin Laurinda Tak Eddy Chow Ricky Hongxin  Patrick Min Maria Total
T Tir T TEx T T TEx T T T TEx T T Tz
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS000

WEZZZTHEFTH For the year ended

SRR 31 December 2022

His Fees - - - - 510 400 149 - 510 510 425 - 46 2,550
e LA Salaries and allowances 2,122 2,482 2,154 208 - = = 3,118 = = = = - 10084
OB B 3 Performance related incentive

payments 63 70 - - 11 8 B - 11 1 9 - - 186
RIRHREAIGHBI L Contributions to retirement

benefit scheme 1 1 15 - - - - - - - - - - 17
il Total emoluments 2186 2583 2169 208 521 408 152 318 521 521 434 - 46 12837

B®EZZZ1TZH  Forthe year ended

Ea it 31 December 2021

%3 Fees - - - - 510 - - - 510 298 - 213 510 2,04
e Salaries and allowances 001799 2617 2500 - - -4 - - - - - 12628
FUL BB Performance related incentive

payments 30 91 120 208 21 - - 208 21 12 - - 21 73
RS e Contributions to retirement

benefit scheme 1 1 13 1 - - - 1 - - - - - 17
A& Total emoluments 1189 2750 2709 531 - - 501 531 310 - 213 531 15418
lia] 75 ) B S o T 1) 3R SR AR R 5 D AT 3K The performance related incentive payments to the Directors of the
T1&%ARALBNRBE S > WHEESE Company are determined by reference to the Group’s performance and
HEUE approved by the board of Directors.
b ST R AT EE Y 2 A R B The executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
A5 A BEAS ) W) JAS AR B Y ST 42 services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
k2 IR o Company and the Group.
b SCRT Y IF AT B T RO ST R AT 5 The emoluments of the non-executive Directors and independent non-
10087 0 5 S By AR A R E N 4R executive Directors shown above were for their services as Directors of
PR IR the Company.
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ZER A= 1T—H
31 December 2022
10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

10. #|HEEEZTB R4S )

R BRI B WS (8)

T AR AF BE A A S P 2 1) A 2 W] 3
FSCRHAEATH I o LLAE B A A 4 1 5
T Tn R A 4 B AR B SEh > BAE A
18 o RS 2\ W) 2 3 R w% v AR 4 B R 5

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
Directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors of
the Company has waived any emoluments in both years.

(GROERLIIC
HHREPRARRAERNRS - T Transactions, arrangements or contracts in which the Directors
g ] have material interests
ikt Ly SUASEHR R 2SR T e PUE
Agreement Connected party Relationship with the Group Nature of transactions and major terms Transaction amount
CRTOE e Sty
2022 2021
Ti#n Tt
HK$°000 HK$°000
RS I s ok TS ARNAERBARAT  BAATHBE DR E AR AL R s K 36 836
[LEIN SRR R E)
Legendale Beijing Hotel Service Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao Real Estate An associate of Mr David Chow, Renting of hotel rooms and convention
Agreement Development Co. Ltd. ex-co-chairman and ex-non-executive venues and the procurement of event
(i & A ARAR)  Director of the Company management services to the Group*
R RAE e ok FACHRIE (R F) AR R EZBEA  RRRAAEZRERAR ) AEERWRE - 26 RCIER 52 1,646
([l A it ) Hi A W90 8 Adrian Pinto-Marques /64 2 0 HEmiko IR
Mito Pinto-Marques % 1 J Adriano Dillon Guerrero (i) Procurement of travelling, ticketing and
Pinto-Marques /4 transportation services to the Group*
Amigo Travel Service Agreement Amigo Travel (Macau) Limited An associate of Mr David Chow as the shareholders of
(“Amigo Travel”)* Amigo Travel are Ms Emiko Mito Pinto-Marques and (i) 44 IS b0 5 7 e e 53 53
Mr Adriano Dillon Guerrero Pinto-Marques, the parents ~ (ii) Provision of hotel rooms from
of Mr Adrian Pinto-Marques, the son-in-law of Mr the Group*
David Chow
P SEA R RLR R A T BT AR R (TR = T ISR MR L - MR ARSI - 4733
S thke TATER FSEEE R R L LR H R
VAL AT
Lai Ou Industrial Limited Lai Ou Industrial Limited Lai Ou is owned by Mr David Chow and Ms Melinda Procurement of laundry service
Procurement of Laundry Services (“Lai Ou”)* Chan. On 13 May 2021, Mr David Chow and Ms for the Group*
Agreement Melinda Chan ceased to have any holdings in Lai Ou.
TR B R T SRR ot AR AR (TRIRL) BB = F— VRN A 8 B A A 7 ()RR AL AR 780 780
Macau Legend Investment Holdings Limited it 5 (i) Provision of management service to
|-/ Lai leng’
Lai Ieng Investment Company Limited  Lai Ieng Investment Company Limited ~ Lai leng was acquired by Macau Legend Investment
Management Service Agreement (“Lai Ieng”) Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, (ii) w7 1,997 -
as an associate on 16 April 2019. (ii) Consultancy fee
EERHRREEHARAFEH EE R AR HEE R 29 (FISRSE L 2 T) bR b () FIIEE At - 10,000
ik ([HEZ]) A - (i) Sale of aircraft to Arcwealth*
Arcwealth Global Investment and Arcwealth Global Investment and Arcwealth is owned by Mr Donald Chow
Management Limited Sale and Management Limited (“Arcwealth”) (the son of Mr David Chow) and Ms Melinda Chan. (ii) TTRUE B 194 -

Purchase Agreement

(ii) Administrative management expenses

* 2R G BT RSB 14A TR R 2 *
R A 5 o ZHE s BT LRI 14A
B RS AT T % 55 TR AR 4 B Tl
R4 A B A 2 5 IR R O,
[ 2 5 | — B e o

These transactions constitute continuing connected transactions for the
purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of certain of these
continuing connected transactions recognised in current year, which are
subject to the reporting requirements set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, have been disclosed under the section “Connected Transactions” in
the Directors’ Report.

# 1] A% SE F R (L (R A BRI AR B T 2 =% — = #
FHTH= 0 HESERETL
JRALARBS 10 BUAT 1735 (8 A% £ 24 T T I
P HEE o

The relevant services were provided to the Group up to 31 December
2022 at prices determined on arm’s length basis and the prevailing market
price for comparable types of services in the same industry.
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SR ZA=—H
31 December 2022

11. hAEEH AL 11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
A BE B A A N B 44 e TN L4 The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
WAERNFER (CF—F  WHHE included four Directors (2021: four Directors) of the Company whose
F) o PEE BB B EE LOBEER o DL — emoluments are disclosed in note 10 and one (2021: one) employee who
@ S A i?jﬁﬂi% THLA B 2 & is neither a Director nor chief executive of the Company. Details of the
B(CE T4 s HHBR T —4 A emoluments of the remaining one (2021: one) individual are as follows:

j: (CF 4 —@)%?@HZ%*‘%M‘FI

TR e

2022 2021

T#x T

HK$’000 HKS$’000

B TR R AR A Salaries, allowances and benefits 2,500 2,500

2,500 2,500

AR B i E R Emoluments of the employees were within the following bands:

ot St [ S

2022 2021

N N

No. of No. of

individuals individuals

2,000,001 #5 75 %22,500,000% ¢ HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 1

1 1
7 T AR AF B8 TN > A A 9 AR I 1) T 44 B e During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five
BN (L6 2 IR B) ST T Tl highest paid individuals (including Directors and employees) as an
o RUVE Z o B A A [ sl o A A 4 inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for

TR BEEY > sk AE L MR A 1 loss of office.
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SEC A=A

31 December 2022
12.  BRBEATESH 12. LOSS BEFORE TAX
- St eSS
2022 2021
WsE it THTT
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
BrBiRTEAR 2 40BR, GGEA) L Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging/
THH S (crediting):
BTHA Staff costs
S 4 (L 10) Directors’ remuneration (note 10) 12,837 15,418
Hob B THA Other staff costs
— i S A AE R — salaries and other benefits 274,441 306,086
— R AT B iR — contributions to retirement benefits schemes 3,225 5,468
BT lA 45 Total staff costs 290,503 326,972

)7 B (B G AE B B RFS BUA ) Reversal of allowance for inventories
(included in cost of sales and services) (3,139) (1,436)
UMt TV B e R B @,EE%E&E&?}%EEZF Amortisation of other intangible assets (included in cost
14998, 0004%75 T —AE 11,084,000 of sales and services and operating, administrative and

W50 LS R ~ AT HAh B other expenses of HK$998,000 (2021: HK$1,084,000)

8,304,000 70 (& ——4F : 27,709,000  and HK$8,304,000 (2021: HK$27,709,000))

0 A) 19 9,302 28,793
BTN 42 Auditor’s remuneration 4,000 4,650
THERRAF B AR ) S (LA /2 85 85 IR I Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (included in

A A) cost of sales and services) 64,435 77,902
[id<v/E Siiv- Depreciation of investment properties 16 11,404 11,262
LENE I LN Depreciation of property and equipment 17 346,812 376,604
HFAREE BT (IR & RIS Depreciation of right-of-use assets (included in cost

A 1K51,320,0004 0 (ZF = —4F of sales and services and operating, administrative

55,137,000 70) LA KA ~ 7B and other expenses of HK$51,320,000 (2021:

b B 521,224,000 70 (—F ——4F HK$55,137,000) and HK$1,224,000 (2021:

1,461,000%570) A1) HK$1,461,000)) 18 52,544 56,598
ENEE s C/ESIRE LBt TN Gross licensing income from investment properties (32,157) (46,815)
W R AR A MRS Less: Direct operating expenses that generate licensing

MY B B 3 income from investment properties 11,404 11,263
BOEYIER R AT B A A Net licensing income from investment properties (20,753) (35,552)
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S CA=t R
31 December 2022

i #:Be INCOME TAX
TERTTUR S S
2022 2021
R THIT
HK$°000 HK$°000
PR ST Bl Macau complementary tax
— ARAERE — current year 376) (1,056)
(376) (1,056)
AR E Y — B R TSR Lao PDR annual flat tax and income tax
— ARARSE — current year (72,585) (78,320)
— R A R A A — over provision in prior year 214,690 -
142,105 (78,320)
IEAERL IR R A (K 5E30) Deferred tax credit (note 30) 6,506 6,506
PSR o (i) Income tax credit/(charge) 148,235 (72,870)

P FIF A5 05 700 T 422 4 300 1 A Ay e R
it AT B 12% (T ——4 1 12%) 51
%o&%@ﬁﬁ%%@%%#%%?i
BLIERGHE > R AR A 5 5 PA S i 3R
é%ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ

R Y5 P B B/ i — B F N+ — A
+-b H 2 H A LR B R i E
— ZAE— H U H 0 ERR R A > R
HME T —4EFE T —XNFE+ A
= — B4R S AT AR AR
T Vo e 7 2 19 TR A B Wi 4 2 8 2B 480
TP Fir f5 455 72 B %EEF%#WEE
ARSI s ([ f))
&wQﬁ Wmﬁ%%m/mmf%%
28R 2R M R AT R e > AR SE
gf?mﬁgﬁg+~HM%w/mm
BEHR » T —-—F+—H _+=HH
%378, 201 19EH R K —F—NENLA
+ILH 8955329, 720165 R R E A o
WM M IR = —NE+—H
T HEE R R A > i PR
EHEREH F—LiFE— H*Hi%:
FEEZFEZA=Z+—HIEWE o —F
FHEZA T =HHH89, 20208 R
MM PRE—FERE &
FEPOH—HEE FE T TAENA S
H> HEMBBRO R -F - —4FNH
T H B AR R A o AR IR Y B R Y
TR T EAE— AT AR ek A
WaEste —F - EXNA t+EHE
FEoFEF A=+ H IR RS
B o JER oy A 4 [ B AR 4 5 5T S RS
R EsT - B EREE - &
T+ A=+—H > BHn T
NAH-t+EHREE _F - HF+ A
= — B 1L HH R A R A A U R
TN -

MR AR ARAT] 202245

Macau complementary tax is calculated at the rate of 12% (2021: 12%)
on the estimated assessable profit for the year. No provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements
as the relevant group entities incurred tax losses in Hong Kong during
the year.

Pursuant to the Dispatch of the Financial Services Bureau of Macau
dated 17 November 2006 and a confirmation letter issued by the
Financial Services Bureau of Macau dated 14 January 2013, gaming
related revenue generated from the Service Agreement was not subject
to Macau Complementary Tax for any of the years ended 31 December
2012 to 2016 since it was derived from SIM gaming revenue (the
“Exemption”), for which the gaming revenue was exempted pursuant to
the terms of No. 2 of article 28 of the Law 16/2001 and the Exemption
granted by Dispatch No. 30/2004 of 23 February 2004, Dispatch No.
378/2011 of 23 November 2011 and Dispatch No. 329/2016 of 19
September 2016. Pursuant to the confirmation letter issued by the
Financial Services Bureau of Macau dated 21 November 2016, the
Exemption has been extended for the period from 1 January 2017
to 31 March 2020. Dispatch No0.89/2020 of 23 March 2020 further
extended the exemption period from 1 April 2020 to 26 June 2022
with a confirmation letter issued by the Financial Services Bureau of
Macau dated 10 June 2021. Pursuant to the confirmation letter issued
by the Financial Services Bureau of Macau dated 5 January 2023, no
Exemption has been extended for the period from 27 June 2022 to
31 December 2022 as the Group entered into an amendment to the
Service Agreement with SJM that the service period was extended to 31
December 2022 for which no gaming revenue was received from SIM
during the period from 27 June 2022 to 31 December 2022.
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P B (40)

RIFR MBS 88 0 A & ——F
ANHTHHEE  ImEA RS A
?#?ﬁzmﬂ El@%#?g ﬁzﬁ_‘g
A Z+—H L S A7595,0008 1 ¥ (A
ZEJA577,000800) 5 B E D AEE AT
793,000 ' ¥ (045774 770,000 70) Sk
HoEZ - —H—HARE -
NHA AN H IR 32 47388,0001 [ ¥
(FHZ5 2 376,000 70) 2 4 — IR ML
TAIBAT R > 1E BB IEE 2 A S AT
HAR AR A [ B A A i T 1 R 3
TP Y NS S A 2 I 435 A B 1R R
Fll 2 1 1843 IR JE A 22 WL BT 454 7R o
HH A — /\E 710 H e 2
B BEAEERRE - LER
CE-NFE T AZ T HIEESF
r“jzﬁ400 000 "] & (FH 55 jiA 388,0005
Mo E —Z - FF=HA=F+—HIk
JEIH AT 100,0008 [ ¥ (%5 7#297,000
W5 I0) 2 AT — R S AN BT K - %
A B — R MBS A 3 e 5 EE R 4
R S, S AR T B AF B A A ] 43 UR
U FIRESAS - BE A
Zh—HIEFE - BLEE#376,0007 50
(CF =4 11,056,000 00) - AEEE18
a8 S oA A T i 25 36 AR AR o

HRPE A 23 7] 2 B [t )& 22 Al Savan Legend
Resorts Sole Company Limited ([ Savan
Legend ) BLAEZ BRIV B ([ BB ) BT 4%
RIHBR —F—RELH = HREH
BBtk ([ —Bilpak)) - ZHBBUTE
#Savan Legend ¥4 2 AT —Bi » 4%
410,000,000 7T (F % 174 #178,500,000%5
7o) (AR —Hi)) o SR AL M2 i
TTTEVD B3 T o b A 5 B BOR 45 A
HH > A —F—REILH—H e

—JUENH =+ — H (AR S AT
EREX B A R = 2 B
AF o MR —BiWEE > Savan Legend J}7H
BT HARBLIE (AR 580

13.

SEC A=A
31 December 2022

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the approval letter issued by the Financial Services Bureau
of Macau dated 10 June 2021, Hong Hock was obligated to pay an
annual lump sum dividend withholding tax of MOP595,000 (equivalent
to HK$577,000) for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 December 2020,
MOP793,000 (equivalent to HK$770,000) for the year of 2021 and
MOP388,000 (equivalent to HK$376,000) for the period from 1 January
2022 to 26 June 2022 as payment in lieu of Macau complementary
tax otherwise due by the shareholders of Hong Hock on dividend
distributions from gaming profits generated in relation to the operation
of the casinos at The Landmark Macau and MFW. The approval letter
dated 4 December 2018 stated that Hong Hock was obligated to pay an
annual lump sum dividend withholding tax of MOP400,000 (equivalent
to HK$388,000) for each of the years ended 31 December 2017 to 2019
and MOP100,000 (equivalent to HK$97,000) for the three months
ended 31 March 2020. Such annual lump sum tax payments were
required regardless of whether dividends were actually distributed or
whether Hong Hock had distributable profits in the relevant years. For
the year ended 31 December 2022, provision for tax of HK$376,000
(2021: HK$1,056,000) was charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Pursuant to the Lao PDR Flat Tax Agreement (the “Flat Tax
Agreement”) signed between Savan Legend Resorts Sole Company
Limited (“Savan Legend”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and the Ministry of Finance of the Lao PDR (the “’Laos Government’”)
dated 13 May 2016, the Laos Government agreed that Savan Legend
would pay a flat tax of US$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$78,500,000) per annum (the “annual flat tax”). The annual flat tax
should be paid for the period from 1 September 2016 to 31 August 2019
with a conditional extension for a period of two years, given that the
Group commits to carrying out a hotel resort complex project on a site
located at Savannakhet. Under the Flat Tax Agreement, Savan Legend is
not subject to other taxes, including income tax.
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—EZ T A=1—H
31 December 2022

Pt Bt (48)

RoEC AT HTMH - EHBEBUR
ln]Savan Legend#¥ 1140 - B HERN —
FE—NELA—HE-Z "+ A
= — H B AE B A ¥ — B £ 34,700,000
20 (#1478 272,395,000% 50) > H
27,350,000 JC (%) 55 4 214,697,000% 7T)
O _FE T+ A=+ —HZH X
1+ }%5,150,0003 7C (425 11839,250,0007
B ER E AT AT IH YA
2.,200,0003 I (415 217,270,000 7T
[ e ks o i = [ty ol = = i
AT o A 27,800,000 0 (K945 i
214,690,0003 7T) CL3# Ml EAE R HEE © A
TR T ZAERIBKR 5 Savan Legend— HL7E B
& BB IEUR T 0 2 — B 1 sk AT s A o
R > W EARRSE B - 0k A
gxﬁ% o

A P A BEL R e 1R B R AN T

13.

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

On 14 December 2022, the Laos Government issued a notification
to Savan Legend to finalise the annual flat tax liability for the years
of assessment from 1 September 2016 to 31 December 2022 for an
aggregate amount of US$34,700,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$272,395,000), of which US$27,350,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$214,697,000) was paid before 31 December 2021,
US$5,150,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$39,250,000) was paid
on 15 December 2022 and US$2,200,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$17,270,000) will be payable on or before 20 December 2023.
An over-provision of US$27,800,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$214,690,000) was written back to profit and loss for the year.
Savan Legend has been communicating continuously with the Laos
Government on the new flat tax agreement since 2023. However, no
conclusion has been reached up to the date of this report.

The tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax as follows:

T St —E—
2022 2021
T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
Rl i s 4R Loss before tax (755,444) (1,117,574)
F5129% M B S K G 08 P 7548 700 Tax credit at Macau Complementary Tax rate
at 12% (90,653) (134,109)
ASTT AR BH S R BLGS R 2 Tax effect of expenses not deductible 78,885 165,907
YRGB BB i 2 Tax effect of income not taxable (5,864) (3,193)
TR R WA SR B A S B Tax effect of tax exemption granted to certain
oz gaming related revenue (54,105) (108,335)
W AR TERR A B IE R B2 Tax effect of estimated tax losses not recognised 65,824 61,553
I N F) SR AR RS R Tax effect of share of results of an associate 850 3,415
LTI Income tax in Lao PDR 72,585 78,320
7 F At ] V5 R [ A 1 BB 2 ) Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating
N[ B S 5 in other jurisdictions (1,443) 8,256
— WM S TR Lump sum dividend withholding tax 376 1,056
A R A T 3 — B 1 Adjustments in respect of flat tax of previous periods (214,690) -
AEN TR R B 5R) S Income tax (credit)/expense for the year (148,235) 72,870

RoFE - EF A=t —H > AEEK
B IE 1R 4 1 B S $57% 1,961,744,000
WG (CFE T —4E ¢ 1,667,194,00057) »

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had tax losses of HK$1,961,744,000
(2021: HK$1,667,194,000) from non-gaming operations available for
offset against future profit that will expire in three years from the year

A AR AR AR B R = AR B
W RA A - B ZF T A
A=F—H 14 i Bl e ks
B4 £252,053,0008 50 (. ——4F
329,456,0004570) ©

MR AR ARAT] 202245

of assessment. For the year ended 31 December 2022, approximately
HK$252,053,000 (2021: HK$329,456,000) of tax losses have expired.
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14.

15.

ZER A= 1T—H
31 December 2022
INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Having considered (i) the unpredictability of future profit streams for
the non-gaming operations; and (ii) the fact that tax losses can only
be utilised in three years from the year of assessment, the Directors of
the Company are of the view that it may not be probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available against which unutilised tax losses can
be utilised. As a result, no deferred tax assets have been recognised.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the
Company during the year (2021: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the owners of
the Company is based on the following:

M 48 Loss
TR AR TR T AR
2022 2021
Tt THETT
HK$’000 HK$°000
TG A R T R A I Loss for the year for the purpose of calculation
18 of basic loss per share (607,209) (1,190,444)
ik 4fig - §E| Number of shares
TR e i
2022 2021
T T
‘000 ‘000
F AR M e T 14 2 i Weighted average number of ordinary shares
JIHET- 28 for the purpose of calculation of basic loss
per share 6,201,187 6,201,187

FH T AR 2 A 8 4R BE 3 4 LY TE i
S W > O e 2 ) g PR A v
e

Diluted loss per share amounts are not presented as the Company did
not have any dilutive potential ordinary share for both years.
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SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022

16. HEWE 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Tt
HK$’000
AR Cost:
WoE - —F—H—H s _F _—H+_H At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and
= t—HE=FHF—H—H 1 January 2022 377,430
P B W R Transfer from property and equipment 181,085
WoE S FEY A=+ —H At 31 December 2022 558,515
BRI Accumulated depreciation:
W_E_—F—H—H At 1 January 2021 71,084
AN A Provided for the year 11,262
HWoFE A=+ —H K At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
—ER - —H—H 82,346
A N B A Provided for the year 11,404
WoEz - HE+H=+—H At 31 December 2022 93,750
HRTAIA Carrying amounts:
WoE A+ A=+—H At 31 December 2022 464,765
WoE A =+—H At 31 December 2021 295,084

184

Et BB ) S B AR A B R B
FREKSO4F Ay (AR # J HE) 7 85

AL T A SR Y E R B AR T B
YRR & > A AR L3 o

AR DR R+ A
= H o REE ARG ES M
THAT o A BT AL M ERAT R
PR o FEIG RSB E28 K32 -

AR A $ B 2 T DUSAS B o
o CEFAZ+F B WG
WS U ER G R > RIS 2 %
I/ EAE RISt EEONEE 373X DAl
S PO AR (S FUAE SR 2 56 = 5)) > R 5T
AREE A EE 2 HE i > R
PR A R AT (FE 4 5
— KPR AT () A BR A W) AT RO
HR_F T FE+ A=+ — B E
HA%E /4 1,893,000,0009 70 (& ——4F ¢
1,578,000,000%575) ©

MR AR ARAT] 202245

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the term of the lease and 50 years.

All the Group’s investment properties are held for rental purpose under
operating leases and are situated on the land in Macau.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all of the Group’s investment
properties were pledged to banks to secure the bank borrowings granted
to the Group. Details are set out in notes 28 and 32.

The Group’s investment properties are measured under cost model. As at
31 December 2022, should the said investment properties be measured
under fair value model, the fair values (Level 3 of fair value hierarchy)
of the Group’s investment properties, representing commercial property
units located in Macau, together with the leasehold land included in
the Group’s right-of-use assets, would be HK$1,893,000,000 (2021:
HK$1,578,000,000) in aggregate based on valuations performed by
Peak Vision Appraisals Limited (2021: Savills (Macau) Limited).
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16.

ZER T ZHA=1T—H
31 December 2022

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The fair values were determined by the comparison method on the
assumption that the Group’s investment properties can be sold in their
existing state and conditions. The comparison is based on the prices of
actual sales and/or offerings of similar properties.

In estimating the fair value of the properties together with the leasehold
land, the highest and best use of the properties together with the
leasehold land is their current use.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

Further details of the Group’s major properties are set out in the section
“Particulars of Major Properties” in this annual report.

The Group leases out retail stores under operating leases with licensing
fee receivable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period of
1 to 5 years. The leases of retail stores contain variable lease payments
that are based on 5% to 40% of sales and minimum annual lease
payments that are fixed over the lease terms.
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SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022

17. WA 17. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
TR~ W5 %
| £3 Rbk KE KR R it firke R Rk HRTR At
Furniture, Machinery
fixtures and Leasehold Motor and  Construction
Buildings Aircraft equipment  improvements vehicles Vessels equipment  in progress Total

T T T T T T TH#IT T T
HK$°000 HKS$'000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS000 HKS$'000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS’000

31 December 2022
At | January 2022:
Cost 5,089,028 - 974,706 939,247 34927 5973 159,568 872,828 8,076,277
ZRHTE R fE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment 995,670 - 638,233 615,727 32,508 3,682 70,753 336,584 2,693,157
HETHTF(H Net carrying amount 4,093,358 - 336,473 323,520 2419 2,291 88,815 536,244 5,383,120

RERZZE-A—H > MREFHTE At 1 January 2022, net of

Tl accumulated depreciation and
impairment 4,093,358 - 336,473 323,520 2419 2,291 88,815 536,244 5,383,120
R Additions 382 = 14451 2,043 345 = 6,130 9,202 32,553
e Disposals - - (164) - - - (26) - (190)
N Depreciation provided during the year (153,975) - (93,614) (79,009) (781) (599) (18,834) - (346,812)
[ ETVa<LES Transfer to investment properties (181,085) - - - - - - - (181,085)
(L= Transfers 28,219 - - 626 - - - (28,845) -
I 51,5 i 3 Exchange realignment (3,742 - (124) 47) (Y] - (182) (3,079) (7,221)
MEEZ AR T =1 BB Ac31 December 2022, net of
FHTEE R accumulated depreciation
and impairment 3,783,157 - 257,022 247,133 1,936 1,692 75,903 513,522 4,880,365
i S = S At31 December 2022:
AR Cost 4,815,092 - 982,922 933,770 30,148 5973 164,537 834.175 7,766,617
ESiEiE Y Accumulated depreciation
and impairment 1,031,935 - 725,900 686,637 28212 4,281 88,634 320,653 2,886,252
T 1F i Net carrying amount 3,783,157 - 257,022 247,133 1,936 1,692 75,903 513,522 4,880,365
e S 31 December 2021
RoFE - —F—H—H: At | January 2021:
HA Cost 5,114,795 97,500 932,046 913,306 38,175 5973 183,305 910,966 8,196,060
Zt it e Accumulated depreciation and
impairment 857,867 97,500 510,813 531,324 34205 3,085 68,195 113,017 2.216,006
TR Net carrying amount 4,256,928 - 421,233 381,982 3970 2,888 115,110 797,949 5,980,060
RERDFE—H—H > MREFHTE At 1 January 2021, net of
Fife accumulated depreciation
and impairment 4,256,928 - 421,233 381,982 3970 2,888 115,110 797,949 5,980,060
NE Additions 3 - 21,406 902 - - 1,748 25441 49,500
e Disposals (644) - (584) - ) - (324) - (1,554)
AR R Depreciation provided during
the year (150,746) - (119,856) (83,485) (1,392 (597) (20,528) - (376,604)
AR (E43) Impairment losses (note 43) - - - - - - - (241,000) (241,000)
[ 6] Transfers - - 14815 24,263 - - (6,395) (32,683) -
[ 3t Exchange realignment (12,183) - (541) (142) (157) - (796) (13,463) (27,282

REoFE M+ H=4—H > 12 At31 December 2021, net of

AHITE R accumulated depreciation and
impairment 4,093,358 - 336,473 323,520 2419 2,291 88815 536,244 5,383,120
# —HFCAZ R At31 December 2021:
WA Cost 5,089,028 - 974,706 939,247 34927 5973 159,568 872,828 8,076,277
FRHTR Rk Accumulated depreciation and
impairment 995,670 - 638,233 615,727 32,508 3,682 70,753 336,584 2,693,157
T i i Net carrying amount 4,093,358 - 336,473 323,520 2419 2,291 88.815 536,244 5,383,120
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SERC T A= H

31 December 2022
17. Pk skt () 17. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
A [ B R T A R P B B Y b o The Group’s buildings are situated on the land in Macau and Lao PDR.
AEEA LTI AT B 5%k The Group owns several office buildings and is the registered owner of
W45 (ELAEAR AR & - 1) R sE A A o these property interests, including the underlying leasehold land. Lump
AR BN % S R AR I — IR sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property interests.
ST FRIA
WoE A S —H o AREE As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s buildings with a carrying amount
WA {75 3,687,428,000%5 JC A 52 (& of HK$3,687,428,000 (2021: HK$4,010,045,000) were pledged to
T—4F 1 4,010,045,0005 00) LKA T 4R banks to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group. Details are
17 MER BT AL ERATE G - set out in notes 28 and 32.
FEIG RO M 28 532 o
18. i FIHE % e 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
ML s B A5t
Leasehold land Buildings Machinery Total
TH#IT TH#IT T T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
RoE 4~ —H As at 1 January 2021 1,281,944 27,179 4,784 1,313,907
wE Additions - 889 - 889
e Depreciation charge (45,030) (7,467) (4,101) (56,598)
BFE 5, B 7 ) 4 Exchange realignment (1,689) (2,165) - (3,854)
REFZ—F+HA=t—HK As at 31 December 2021 and
E - THE—H—H 1 January 2022 1,235,225 18,436 683 1,254,344
Pregp Depreciation charge (44,998) (6,863) (683) (52,544)
TFE 5, 2 i 4 Exchange realignment (754) (653) = (1,407)
WEER T A= —H As at 31 December 2022 1,189,473 10,920 = 1,200,393
CRTTUE A
2022 2021
T# THIT
HK$°000 HK$°000
EKET-H=Z1T—HIL8E For the year ended 31 December
S R AR BH 2 BH S Expense relating to short-term leases 1,284 4,180
AT E A AR Interest paid on lease liabilities 5,779 6,317
RO & A ARG Repayments of principal portion of
lease liabilities 6,043 2,449
A 2 B 4 i e 4 Total cash outflow for leases 13,106 12,946
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022

55 Bl ¥ (%0)

FHE AT R AE A S k3 TR T b - 4
TR EAT AL 4 o {7 PN IR O
b %) LB AR R L 2 3254 > ATAR
PE R MR R E AT - T HE AT
WAEWE - SEKE THEENHE
T A HA W AR > T AL A i 3 PR T35 A
W 4E 5 E 4R R 32 4 50 5 BUF i e
Thakhek Clubf)FH 254 o H5 (10 FH ]
Fy34F o

L7 B A5 A 1 FEL R - ot f) FEL A AR W 1 4
754 > WHEFAFARRHAE ALK o

ALY DL A28 TR 1 7 310 60 5 22 30 Tl ek %
et o i AH ) R ATl AN R HRCES H IR
By > A% B2 8 B T 4 2 5 3000 B E 5 A0
TR AT Z S -

WoE O AEF A=Y B AEH
T 4B {5 1,110,184,000% 75 (& ——
4F 1 1,152,500,000% 70) 2 ffi FREE ZE
AT 8RAT > DAAER T AL 2 AT
AR o TN B MR8 K32 o

TRMEER AT PRA ] 20224FH)

18.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Lease payments represent rental payable by the Group for certain of
its leasehold land, buildings and machinery. Lease term of leasehold
land in Macau is negotiated for a term of 25 years at a fixed rental
and is subject for renewal in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations. Leases for buildings include, office properties, warehouse
and staff quarters that are negotiated for an average term of two years
and rentals are fixed for an average term of two years; and the Thakhek
Club with lease term of five years granted by the Lao PDR government.
Lease term of machinery is 3 years.

Lease term of leasehold land in Cape Verde is negotiated for a term
of 75 years at an annual rental which is subject to review on an annual
basis.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s right-of-use assets with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$1,110,184,000 (2021: HK$1,152,500,000) were
pledged to banks to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group.
Details are set out in notes 28 and 32.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SR A= H

31 December 2022
19. HAtiEE & E 19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
R A WEHAA
B REHE A %P % oK
Gaming
Gaming promoter
operating operating Referral Customer
licence rights relationships relationships Total
R Tl Tkt T R
HK$’000 HK$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
A Cost
REFEZ—E—H—H At 1 January 2021 107,413 274,142 26,053 17372 424,980
e 58, T i Exchange realignment (9,172) - - - (9,172)
NZFE - —4+_"H=1—H At31 December 2021 and
K= FZF—~H—H 1 January 2022 98,241 274,142 26,053 17,372 415,808
EE 5 o Exchange realignment (3,119) - - - (3,119)
REFEZZAEFZH=+—H At31 December 2022 95,122 274,142 26,053 17,372 412,689
ZEHEESH MO Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
REFZ—F—H—H At 1 January 2021 46,269 247,932 25,126 16,755 336,082
AR N Provided for the year 6,589 20,967 742 495 28,793
e 5 o 3 7 Exchange realignment (4,104) - - - (4,104)
ﬁ/\\#g# —4+ " H=+—H At31 December 2021 and
—EF-_F—H—H 1 January 2022 48,754 268,899 25,868 17,250 360,771
4F: ﬂqﬁﬂﬁ Provided for the year 3,752 5,043 185 122 9,302
e 58, T i Exchange realignment (1,411) - - - (1,411)
WFE A =1+—H At 31 December 2022 51,095 274,142 26,053 17372 368,662
R (E Carrying amounts
RZFEZZAEFZH=+—H At31 December 2022 44,027 - - - 44,027
R =FE =4+ H=+—H At31 December 2021 49487 5243 185 122 55,037
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20.
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SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022

Fo At 2 T2 2 (40

DA _ESETE E EAA IR AT AR - R24F
ST S A DA S0 ] 4 A S Y

HREERIR 2% AR A AR 5 17 37
BRAE

RN BB S AR
R 4

A BIR BRER S LA 5 HO TR
4

BURAR LA & HO TR R
4

#FBR

A T DU AR 5 AR S (] 4 A0 AR A ] 5 A
T T D R o B G B W R R A
317,567,000i5 5.2 HAh #E ¥ & 2 (R 1R
A NESERE - HABIRKEF P BIR) -
SR F512,388,0009 7T 2 HAW IR & 7 (75
A% £E 18 1y B A IR Wik i A )
A B A A L T AR B A 0 TR R IR
ek RIS > BE F T
A=+—H  raHRSHEYC B
8 o

19.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the following periods:

Gaming operating licence 2% or over the remaining term of SIM
concession contract

Gaming promoter Over the remaining term of SJM concession

operating rights contract

Referral relationships Over the remaining term of SJM concession
contract

Customer relationships Over the remaining term of SJM concession

contract

In 2014, the Group recognised the other intangible assets representing
gaming promoter operating rights, referral relationships and customer
relationships in an aggregate amount of HK$317,567,000, through the
acquisition of New Legend under the VIE structure. Other intangible
assets representing the premium the Group paid to renew the Service
Agreement in an amount of HK$12,388,000 and amortised over the
remaining term of the Service Agreement expiring in 2022, all of which
has been fully amortised as of 31 December 2022.

W A v 2 ' 20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
—ETTUE T
2022 2021
Tt THIT
HK$°000 HK$’000
VS k= NCIPAE MRS <Pl %N Cost of investment in an associate, unlisted 56,321 56,321
S3 AR R 1 Share of post-acquisition losses (65,256) (58,172)
305 B A A 2 TET A Share of post-acquisition other comprehensive
income 8,935 8,935
- 7,084
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SERC T A= H

31 December 2022
20. RBE AT ZHE (F) 20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)
BB B g A A IR R IR 2 #F Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting period are as
THaF - follow:
A2 ALHRHZ
HRANE b B % FEBRENS B AL BRI EX =)
Country of Principal place Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting rights
Name of entity incorporation of business interest held by the Group held by the Group Principal activity
CRCOCE CERTCE SEROOE R
2022 2021 2022 2021
MAESCAHRAR (B R PR 21.5% 21.5% 21.5% 25% BRI R
Lai Ieng Investment Company ~ Macau PRC Ownership and management
Limited (“Lai leng”) of shopping mall
NEWINE AL BSNT 2R Summarised unaudited financial information in respect of Group’s
FAZ I ERAE B o R4 R &A% B associate is set out below. The summarised unaudited financial
ORI 2 W N AR R A v B SR information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial
i HI A R BA TS R T s S5 - statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.
o 45 N B N v 55 450 P S i 3R A ARE 25 The associate is accounted for using the equity method in these
AR o consolidated financial statements.
—BTUE TR
2022 2021
Tt THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
B EE Current assets 431,366 421,151
JE B A Non-current assets 1,933,571 2,093,926
i N=N Current liabilities (1,270,406) (1,082,777)
s & A Non-current liabilities (1,266,240) (1,384,347)
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SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022

20. RBE AT ZHE (F) 20. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)
[t St —E A
2022 2021
Tl T
HK$°000 HK$’000
g Revenue 17,542 11,763
TR Loss for the year (132,524) (132,371)
AR HAh 2T (R548) A Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (87,138) 24,822
A A T RS 4R AR Total comprehensive loss for the year (219,662) (107,549)
B BA TS R B A A S R R A Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
R A W A R 2 RE £ 2 TR T (R R A0 the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in the
I consolidated financial statements:
2022 2021
T#x T
HK$°000 HK$’000
JB T (B E Net (liabilities)/assets of Lai Ieng (171,709) 47,953
A [ 2 2 A HE L) Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest
in Lai Ieng 21.5% 21.5%
ARG B AT (B, R The Group’s share of net (liabilities)/assets of Lai Ieng (36,917) 10,310
WAL IR o (B R i 2 Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition (3,226) (3,226)
AR F R Loss of associate not recognised 40,143 -
- 7,084
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SECCAFET A=A

31 December 2022
21, DR 2 E K 21. LOANTO AN ASSOCIATE
1] B ) AR SRR AT - ASRHE LA The loan to an associate is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
PR BLR AR o AN I HE SRR A AN S T repayable on demand. In the opinion of the Directors of the Company,
TR R ET 121 T B SRE K - the Group has no intention to make a request for repayment within the
PR - % B A FR ) - 12 months from the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the loan is
classified as a non-current asset.
AL MRS B T )7 2 NG A FERGT The Group assessed the ECL with reference to the internal credit rating
MG SR R F R F of the counterparty. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the impairment
T A=ET s AR loss was assessed to be minimal. Details of the impairment assessment
Al B 00O 00 o A BRSE R AL 2 FE 1 are set out in note 38.
JRHEEE3S
22. Cff#s 22. DEPOSITS PAID
TR e =
2022 2021
Tt THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
VB RIRCETH H 2 W3R [7] 4% 4 S A B Refundable deposit and the related land processing
b IR A (B3 G)) costs for a potential long-term investment project
(note (1)) 740,141 740,141
ORI EL 18 (K 5E43) Impairment loss recognised (note 43) (546,926) (546,926)
193,215 193,215
S AP H 2 e (i) Deposits for an investment project in Cape Verde
(note (ii)) 33,497 33,629
ORI (B 4R (K 5E43) Impairment loss recognised (note 43) (7,564) (7,564)
25,933 26,065
W R 2 I et 2 AR & Deposits paid for acquisition of property and
equipment 500 7,629
219,648 226,909
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S CA=t R
31 December 2022

e 4 (4)
Bt

@

(i)

HAER I BB = (TE ) X
A5V A7 ORI 8 2 g e T 4
WS 7 A PR (5% b)) A R T
TER IR G TE B A & 4% 4 (TR 4 ))
TR B b B AR o i L — AR
Ry el ANI= B N S
Howing EnterprisesCo., Ltd. ([Howing])
BT AT A (T84 8 Ay ) 7T |
B ([ ]) - Howing)i¥ i i 5
Bzt o B A ST R 1R
+ A A A% EGEE T Howing © 8
AR Mz b 2 #8445 £590,010,000
6 (697,800,000 70) B Jy BLASE 4]
[F) 2 A% A R R B O A -
ERZF—JUE—H N H A E M
BCRET B0y o IRIEH WA T — L
T A=A NH BT8R > By Bk
45 [ [R] 5 14 i 5 % - Hh T Howing 2 1A
ﬁLﬁi%ﬁ%ﬁ%%iﬁﬁ@ﬂi:
ﬁ#ﬁm%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ&ﬂ%ﬁ%%_
ééiﬁAH TS H IS M EET 2
(T ZRAERT)) > & BLAREE N &
g s+ b T Howing 2 JH B4 — 45
ﬁﬁi%ﬂ%:ﬁ%ﬁ@%u@ﬂi:
T —AENA T NE o WEA MR
%ﬁ@zﬂ BRI A E
W o N W%&iﬂﬁﬁit&%
L > MEH RN F - —4FN
H A5 H B AEAT 1 o 2 8 1) A 4R (9 i
FEBY B AN B R b F A MO
B P AT Oy S oR R - HE E
SoFEF A B s AR
R % b A AR A 4542,317,000 0
(& T —4F 1 42,317,000 50) 2 L
PRRAS L AH BBLIE o

e s R A
SCHAEARMN THEMS Z K
Eﬁnzsﬂ(moﬁm ?*=—$
12,677,0004570) » FREAML B AL ER
TEOBAG 1 TE H 4808 W 4835 25 vy H 8
REFF A HH254F o

TRMEER AT PRA ] 20224FH)
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22. DEPOSITS PAID (CONTINUED)

Notes:

@

(i)

The amount represents a deposit paid (the “Deposit”) and its related
land processing costs to an independent third party (the “Vendor”) for
a potential long-term investment project in connection with a proposed
acquisition of certain land use rights (the “Land”) in respect of a proposed
development project in Cambodia. On 28 December 2018, the Vendor
and the Group entered into a sale and purchase deed (the “Deed”) in
respect of the sale and purchase of the entire issued share capital (“Sale
Shares”) of Howing Enterprises Co., Ltd. (“Howing”), which in turn,
will hold the Land. The Vendor shall transfer the Land to Howing within
12 months from the date of signing the Deed. The total consideration for
the Sale Shares and the Land is US$90,010,000 (HK$697,800,000). The
Vendor and the Group agreed that the Deposit shall be used to settle the
consideration in full. On 28 January 2019, the Vendor has transferred
the Sale Shares to the Group. Pursuant to the amendment deed dated 28
December 2019, the Vendor and the Group agreed to extend the transfer
period of the Land to Howing for 6 months from the signing of the
amendment deed to 28 June 2020 (“First Amendment”). Subsequent to
the expiry of the First Amendment and pursuant to the second amendment
deed dated 26 June 2020 (“Second Amendment”), the Vendor and the
Group agreed to further extend the transfer period of the Land to Howing
for 12 months from the signing of the Second Amendment to 26 June
2021. There was no further extension to the Second Amendment as at
the date of approval of these financial statements. During the year, there
was no significant progress made on the acquisition of the Land. Pursuant
to the Deed, the Deposit and its related land processing costs would be
fully refunded from the Vendor in the event that it fails to transfer the
Sale Shares and the Land to the Group by 26 June 2021 or any agreed
extension. As of 31 December 2022, the Group incurred land processing
costs and related tax totalling HK$42,317,000 (2021: HK$42,317,000) for
the transfer of the Land.

The amount as at 31 December 2022 included a payment of approximately
HK$12,677,000 (2021: HK$12,677,000) for a gaming concession with a
term of 25 years from the first day of operation of the casino operated by
the Group under the project in Cape Verde.
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oy Se it B 8 28 Sk 2 <k 23.

B

e o8 A AE T R R R 5 S IR 2 & R
ERFNE B EREESR (ZF - —
£ 1 208,338,000 8) o HERA A(E
£4197,371,000%5 70 S A%/ fe (51 i 4
543 51 B 2 46 il G 7R H s AU B A2 B s 4R
10,967,000% 76 (& ——4F © 3,667,000

ZER A= 1T—H
31 December 2022
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets measured at FVTPL represent perpetual bonds which
has been disposed of during the year (2021: HK$208,338,000). Fair
value on disposal was HK$197,371,000 and a loss on change in
fair value of financial assets at FVTPL of HK$10,967,000 (2021:
HK$3,667,000) was charged to profit and loss for the year.

5) B Rk ASE RS -

8 24. INVENTORIES
it Satant: It
2022 2021
Tt SR
HKS$°000 HKS$’000
B Food and beverage 4,970 5,767
FAET Retail merchandise 3,591 4,832
L Operating supplies 12,743 13,690
21,304 24,289
B 5 B A EWCRIE ~ % a KA 25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
X IH PREPAYMENTS
it Satant’: TR A
2022 2021
Tt Tt
HKS$°000 HKS$’000
2 5 MBI Trade receivables 138,418 238,849
W BEER Less: Impairment losses (64,023) (62,557)
74,395 176,292
oA RS Other receivables 87,951 88,114
W EER Less: Impairment losses (67,133) (67,132)
20,818 20,982
R E Chips on hand = 38,285
T RFEATRIA Deposits and prepayments 19,185 29,608
B 5 e FABE RIS ~ ¥4 ) Total trade and other receivables,
AT SR IE AU deposits and prepayments 114,398 265,167
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SR T ZA=1+—H

31 December 2022
B 5 B A EWCKIE ~ ¥4 AT
X JE (%)

B 5 REWGRIE £ G — # RS
A e - N EEEREE &
FRATHE A FH

RS BR B 5 R T LA R AR
Al B R % 3KIE 5,000,000 0T (FIER
IAE 646,103,000 70) (—&F ——4F
2,950,000%5 7C (F11BR i (B #E 5 46,703,000%5
Jb)) o

HC At R Wi K T B % < E AL 4 e i A
B R R B A BN & A Ho At
O Bt % 4 o

R IR > ARSI S HE R TR A
AL A B A B AR 46 T 4 R MR I T
1] AR A F) S 2 BROE L AR R T
fH451,0004 70 (—F ——4 : 228,000
JC) o w55 MEWAR A ] HE S EE 58 o M
B EHCHE  REHE RETREDRE R -

o

7S AR At O AU B 446 1R AR R P s 4 7 1.
HEEEF 30 E SN - T T
RAT AL 3930 B A5 S a2 7 AR S
IS H A B o LU 5 ik
R o BTy MBSO TE 1T IR k(L 488 4 4 5

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Trade receivables mainly included receivables from a gaming operator,
SJM, individual VIP gaming patrons and travel agents.

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables included
receivables from individual VIP gaming patrons of HK$5,000,000 (net
of impairment allowance of HK$46,103,000) (2021: HK$2,950,000 (net
of impairment allowance of HK$46,703,000)).

Other receivables and deposits mainly included interest receivables,
temporary payments and other utility deposits for the purpose of daily
operations.

At the end of the reporting period, included in the Group’s trade
receivable balances was an aggregate carrying amount of HK$451,000
(2021: HK$228,000), which is due from Directors of the Company in
relation to non-gaming services provided by the Group. Such amounts
due from Directors of the Company are trade in nature, unsecured, non-
interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

The Group allows a credit period with an average of 30 days to the
gaming operator relating to provision of gaming related services, an
average of 30 days to certain travel agents and an average of 15 days to
its tenants. The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables net
of impairment allowance presented based on the invoice date at the end

H 1 251 2 BRES AT » of the reporting period.
TR AR TR T A
2022 2021
Tt T
HK$°000 HK$’000
33 A Within 3 months 50,178 153,857
jet it 348 H B A off H R Over 3 months but within 6 months 17,090 9,918
61 H A 14 Over 6 months but within 1 year 2,127 9,217
i 14T Over | year 5,000 3,300
74,395 176,292
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S5 B LAt ORI > 5  RPAT
#KIA (4)

MRoFZETZHA=T—H AEH
Zé’%m& NI A5 B (P10 bR BB ) B4
A8 {E 24,217,000 50 (& ——4
22,435,000#%75 Z BRI > RS H
Byt o A B E H7,127,0009 00 (—
FE 4 112,517,000 00) @180 H
WP EHREZSEEFEARY
FRAEBAR - BRI L AR %5 &
F 0BT T B B IS R > AN TEE
HER 5 BAAS ER A JE T Ui el > R AN
FRE B A R R R A o A [E 3 A R RX
LG LR TR o

RERCE IR > SR TR 1’!5?%&%21:
A 3 SRAT A B HE AT 1 ' B R R

R Tfi {H £525,358,000 70 (% #~$
148,803,000 70) ° A F A+ H
=+—H » 1,636,000¥ 7C (—~F ——4F :
2,123,000% 70) 1YFH 4 9 4 DAFH B 2 1
JEH o FERE B EE28 ~ 29432 ©

H o BN IR E R R B B A T

SEC A=A
31 December 2022

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group’s trade receivable
balances, net of impairment allowance, were debtors with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$24,217,000 (2021: HK$22,435,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$7,127,000 (2021: HK$12,517,000) has been past due 180 days or
more but is not considered as in default as the Directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the balances are still considered to be fully
recoverable due to long-term/on-going relationships, financial condition
and all available forward-looking information of these customers. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of the trade
receivables, which have been pledged to banks to secure the bank
borrowings granted to the Group, was HK$25,358,000 (2021:
HK$148,803,000). As at 31 December 2022, the rental deposits of
HK$1,636,000 (2021: HK$2,123,000) were secured to leased assets.
Details are set out in notes 28, 29 and 32.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

2022 2021

AR T

HK$’000 HKS$’000

A At beginning of year 62,557 48,407
9 R AR AR Impairment losses, net 1,566 14,150
S 25 A AT g ml 11 4 7 Amount written off as uncollectible (100) -
R At end of year 64,023 62,557

T 2% S o SO0 AR (o R T
B LT B

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
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SR T ZA=1+—H

31 December 2022
B 5 B A EWCKIE ~ ¥4 AT
X JE (%)

T RS T 454 R B A A T I K
IR B R 0 ERY

REFZAEFZHA=+—H

25.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2022

gl
Past due
Ak 1B H 1£3M8H A3 H st
H1E:V] Less than 1to3 Over A
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
TEIAME H5HE% Expected credit loss rate 0% 0.56 % 19.92 % 87.79% 46.25%
HAWTH(E (F#5J0)  Gross carrying amount (HK$000) 40,733 7,867 21,917 67,901 138,418
TG SR
(F#s0) Expected credit losses (HK$’000) - 44 4,367 59,612 64,023
W_E - —F+_H=+—H As at 31 December 2021
Past due
DI E A 1E318 A 3 A Hst
R HA Less than 1to3 Over M
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
TG RRTIE® Expected credit loss rate 0% 1.06% 18.19% 75.54% 26.19%
AR (E (T#0)  Gross carrying amount (HK$000) 145,836 6,237 5,342 81,434 238,849
T SR
(F¥#0) Expected credit losses (HK$’000) - 65 972 61,520 62,557

EHE G T HoAth RS A 2 WA RE AN 2 R
TEHR G A b 5338 o

TR AT ARk Bl 42 B AT &5 0%

T RAT 175K

RECE R > BB ERAT A AR 1) 4R AT
B AR R R SRAT I AL Y TE
b B AR A I R o REIE S
B EE28 B2 32 o

Bl B RAT S
AT SRR IRAT R B AF A R F B
AR HROR S - JRUE B H R =8 A 5

DA o P A7 SRAT &5 8% B WIAF A AR
B G H AT 78 A S SRAT -

MR AR ARAT] 202245

26.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set
out in note 38.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK
BALANCES

Pledged bank deposits

At the end of the reporting period, pledged bank deposits represented
deposits pledged to a bank as security against the issuance of letter of
credit by the bank in favour of electricity provider to the Group. Details
are set out in notes 28 and 32.

Cash and bank balances

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates, with original maturity of three months or less, All the bank
balances and time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.



27.

T )

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B 50 B I Ath A+ K I 27.

B 5y B HC At B A S T AL R S A
9 35 SRR AR I R TR IH o AR 4R [ A
HENSZ B9 2 (5 B — A 2 =

ZER A= 1T—H
31 December 2022

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for

ongoing costs and construction work. The average credit period granted

by the Group’s creditors is one month to three months.

JER
TR TR
2022 2021
Tt TH#EIC
HK$’000 HKS$’000
5 A R IH Trade payables 25,392 97,752
JREAST e 5 K A B A Construction and retention payables 17,379 21,659
oAb AT FCIE Other payables 90,564 81,384
BT ¥4 Deposits received from tenants 22,907 21,668
SR A A% & Deposits received from gaming promoters 1,103 6,505
MESHE TRiA Accrued staff costs 30,562 90,766
Al e YR R R Other sundry accruals 30,955 35,551
B 5y I H A JREAS S A A Total trade and other payables 218,862 355,285

PN NEE TR B A E -
TR~ G B B R R

T R % B 5 H O B8 B 5 AT

The deposits received from gaming promoters are unsecured, non-

interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based

HIEARES AT INE on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:
e ol Sy
2022 2021
TH#IT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
=MHAN Within 3 months 24,589 93,449
A AR A AR SR A Y Over 3 months but within 6 months 803 4,303
25,392 97,752
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SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022

28. W7 R HABAE 28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
SRR TR AR
2022 2021
Filbx R
HK$°000 HK$’000
SRATAE A > AT (B G)) Bank borrowings, secured (note (i)) 2,157,951 2,358,689
HAbAE K (B Gl Other borrowings (note (ii)) 400,000 50,000
2,557,951 2,408,689
R BT £ Analysed for reporting purposes as:
LB Current liabilities 542,319 206,733
FE B A fi Non-current liabilities 2,015,632 2,201,956
2,557,951 2,408,689
BT - Notes:
(1) SRATAAR > AT (i) Bank borrowings, secured
SR SE A
2022 2021
Tt Tt
HK$°000 HK$°000

AT ZI A S B9 A SRR ERA T g 3K Secured bank borrowings due

— —4ER — within one year 142,319 206,733
— B A s (EAS A AR — more than one year, but not exceeding
two years 215,376 140,240
— AR > (HASEE FLAR — more than two years, but not exceeding
five years 1,800,256 741,533
— A — more than five years - 1,270,183
2,157,951 2,358,689
W M EATWBI AR —ENEH Less: Amounts due within one year classified as
A current liabilities (142,319) (206,733)
— A BH R Amounts due after one year 2,015,632 2,151,956
AT FE TS H > AREERERT On 4 September 2020, the Group obtained a term loan facility of HK$2.3
HAG— 455 A AR 2,300,000,000 7 billion (the “First Loan™) from the Banks. On 26 October 2021, the Group
JC(ME—EER]) - R —F1TH obtained an additional term loan facility of HK$350 million (the “Second
TN H o AR A IR R R SR AT 0 Loan™) from Luso International Bank Limited (“Luso” and the “Lead
A RS E (TR R B ) M [ 22 SRR AT | ) Bank”).

5—24£350,000,0007 7 19 58 5P 2 A B 3K
R (M5 g Eak]) -
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28, SRAT R A Ak (4)

BFRE - (280

@

SRATRE - AT ()

B S E LA H B
P WA R R — R &
ZRFEILA M AR o SR A
T PUAEA+ H N B B REZ A
3 > B — R LT
AN HEE -

AT R A CEHE - R T =

FToHA=t—H > S FIBR
TR PR R ([ F USERATIR] 572 D) n4F
MF225% (% _—H%+_H=+—
H o Ay ERAT IR S 47 2 AF R #62.25%)
FEE o AR 7 0 RE ST 2 R AR R R
7.15% (" F T —4E 1 2.74%) o AR
AR WS ERAT A 2E 4R BRI 3R3% > T
AN IRET- 3 B AR R % 5 8.429% (— %
A 1 375%) e

Mo HEFTHZH > AREH
TESS — B FUH T 22 52,300,000,000
WOC > MF RS S EIE N R A
90,000,000 TG 0] F & 4 - 55 4
HIE N R B S RCE R — A s DL
TP [ PR AL AERR 5 AT B o

WEE - F 4t A=+—H1EE
0 B4 AR B 5 A 4R A R SRR
EALEEHEHN -E - —FEA\H _++LtH
W B 3% A SRAT I ER 0 5 SR S 1 A 5
HEEZ T HEANAZTHIE e ROE
TOAEZHA TR E > AEENE FE
SRITHE— L% > SR AESUNESE
TR THEF A= —HIE o RTOF
ST H T AH > S RATEE
TR — I ER T — T AR SR B B
I ¥ 7 VR (E 7K E %52,800,000,0005 7T
HE-Z =F+_A=1+—HI-

ZER T ZHA=1T—H
31 December 2022

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

@

Bank borrowings, secured (Continued)

The First Loan is repayable in instalments commencing from 4 September
2021, with the final instalment repayable on 4 September 2027. The
Second Loan is repayable in instalments commencing from 26 October
2024, with the final instalment repayable on 26 October 2027.

The bank borrowings are denominated in HK$. As at 31 December
2022, the First Loan bears interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
(“HIBOR”) plus 2.25% per annum (31 December 2021: HIBOR plus
2.25% per annum) and the weighted average effective interest rate was
7.15% (2021: 2.74%) per annum during the year. The Second Loan bore
interest at HIBOR plus 3% per annum and the weighted average effective
interest rate was 8.42% (2021: 3.75%) per annum during the year.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has fully drawn down HK$2.3 billion
under the First Loan, and HK$90.0 million under the Second Loan. The
unutilised facility under the Second Loan is subject to further application
and approval by Luso.

As at the last financial year, ended 31 December 2021, the Group was
not in compliance with the covenant clause, but the Group had received
a waiver from the Banks on 27 August 2021; and the waiver was valid
up to 30 June 2022. On 25 March 2022, the Group received from the
Lead Bank a further waiver that was valid up to 31 December 2022. On
28 December 2022, the Banks agreed to further amend the minimum net
assets undertaking of the Group to HK$2,800.0 million by another waiver,
up to 31 December 2023.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2022 Annual Report 201



oA M OB ok W oEE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

202

BFRE - (28

SRAT AR - AR (D)

®

(i)

SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022

28, SRAT R A Ak (4)

AR 4RAT 3k T 51 IH B AR R
etk > Hp s

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

®

(€]

AL TR AW - T RAE
FIREE 7E R 448 (e Al an Bt g6 ~
17 18)0r %) 5

PP NS IR S R e (i
G2 R BB T

T U0 G BECB T P AR AT Y
JI A 5 E SRAT RSB

VAR B A AR LI 22 RO

ST SPEUNG T SRR UEYES
AT~ ARAY Ik - A T
B BT A A~ R AR
A B FE A B 45 3R JEL ) 7 A7 A
M KA 5

TP RS AR (] L AR 2
A - REEPACERELA -
B A D A A T
AR AT BRI 5 K

AN v HH R T e AT
Mg E AR o RIS
T AR BAAT 8 S e T IR R i i
Sl BAS oy ) F R R 5
AR PR MR AT R o

Hofth i

(a)

(b)

W oEF - —FTH+TLEH>
A AL BB AE A 2w PR R R
PR LA R A E
(M3 35 ) % —4£100,000,000%5
BTRINEE - 1 - G-

+HA=+—H s AEHEIE
H150,000,000%5 70 (—F ——4F ¢
50,000,000 J0) o B8R 2 4K
i~ FAER RS EHE R %
TEAEARNAZ T HEE o RN
WigEsg > RF = =A+
H ZECHBEEEAgE %
TIEZA =+ H 2R A
PR o

MWoEFE - HERAA=Z+TH A
S B AE dE O R —
100,000,000 7T Y B2 Rl & © it
SECCHEFAZtY—H AR
SR 2 $£11100,000,0003 T » &
OB AT - AT R E 5% R
KR F S ANA T HAE
oo RHCE IR > R ZF
CEEZASNA s EER
WO R B A G fE = AR
ZAZ+—H 20k

EY
K o

TRMEER AT PRA ] 20224FH)

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

®

(i)

Bank borrowings, secured (Continued)

The Group’s bank borrowings are secured or guaranteed, inter alia, by the
following:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

®

(2)

mortgage over certain of the Group’s investment properties,
buildings and right-of-use assets as set out in notes 16, 17 and 18,
respectively;

all shares in two wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely MFW
Investment and Hong Hock;

all the designated bank balances held by MFW Investment and
Hong Hock;

corporate guarantee by Hong Hock and the Company;

all rights and interests in leases, tenancy agreements, proceeds
from hotel operation and management, licensing income and other
proceeds of the pledged properties of MFW Group;

all receivables arising from leases, licensing income, disposal,
hotel operations and other proceeds of the pledged properties of
MFW Group; and

a personal guarantee by Mr Chan Weng Lin, ex-co-chairman,
former executive Director and a controlling shareholder of the
Company, Mr David Chow, ex-co-chairman, former non-executive
Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company, and Mr Li
Chi Keung, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Other borrowings

(a)

(b)

On 27 October 2021, the Group obtained a loan facility of HK$100
million from Perfect Achiever Group Limited (‘“Perfect Achiever”),
which is a controlled corporation of the controlling shareholder of
the Company. As at 31 December 2022, HK$50 million was drawn
down by the Group (2021: HK$50 million). The loan is unsecured,
interest bearing at 5% per annum and was repayable on 30 June
2023. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 10 March
2023, Perfect Achiever has agreed that it will not demand for
repayment of loan before 31 March 2024.

On 30 May 2022, the Group obtained a loan facility of HK$100
million from a substantial shareholder. As at 31 December 2022,
HK$100 million was drawn down by the Group. The loan is
unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per annum and was repayable on
30 June 2023. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 24
March 2023, the substantial shareholder has agreed that he will not
demand for repayment of loan before 31 March 2024.
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(i) HAME K (7))

(©) N AREME S —2 FER
L2 B R AR
250,000,000% 9T ° A —F AR
T AZ+—H s AREE TR
250,000,000%5 JC © 5% 55 583 45 HE
AR~ FEAEFIR5% E9%5HE K
AR FE D CAEZA=Z—HE
TR TSN H - H AR o
R AR > R =4
ZATH BEERROEZEE
WAEE _FE_WE=H=+—
H 2 Fi S RAB AT AT 5% 2 0K »

ZER A= 1T—H
31 December 2022
BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)  Other borrowings (Continued)

(¢)  During the year, the Group entered into several loan agreements
for an aggregate loan amount of HK$250 million from another
substantial shareholder. As at 31 December 2022, HK$250 million
was drawn down by the Group. These loans are unsecured, interest
bearing at 5% — 9% per annum and were repayable between
31 March 2023 and 1 June 2023. Subsequent to the end of the
reporting period, on 10 March 2023, the substantial shareholder
has agreed that he will not demand for repayment of any of these
loan amounts before 31 March 2024.

29. MERAIME 29. LEASE LIABILITIES
—® U —E A
2022 2021
T# THETT
HK$’000 HK$°000
JREAHR B A Lease liabilities payable:
—4ER Within one year 7,326 8,291
—HELLERWEUT More than one year, but not exceeding
two years 7,540 7,327
WL, E T More than two years, but not exceeding
five years 2,493 14,351
T4 B More than five years 81,592 81,074
98,951 111,043
W B AREAEZ —FN Less: Amounts due within one year classified
F| W IE as current liabilities (7,326) (8,291)
RIEME B RS 2 —FHEBBAFKIH  Amounts due after one year 91,625 102,752

L Z PRl sk 3

WoFE D FEFF A=+ —H M
£ 1598,951,0008 T (& ~—4F
111,043,000k 5) J5 5t AH BE (1 FH 8 &
79,612,000 7T (& ——4F : 90,602,000
W5 o0) T LARERR o BR AR & &
FEA AR 25 40 > AL B sl A it
{EAT 3255 - AHBAAL & & 2 (B A M
FHE - H 2 S0 AP AE R JEAT - it
SR T A=ET—H o AHENIE
T3 VR Hi{E 1,636,0008 70 (% . —4F ¢
2,123,000 70) 2 FH AL SAFEG -

Restrictions or covenants on leases

Lease liabilities of HK$98,951,000 (2021: HK$111,043,000) were
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$79,612,000 (2021:
HK$90,602,000) as at 31 December 2022. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessors. The related leased assets, except the
leasehold land in Macau, may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes. As at 31 December 2022, the amounts were secured by rental
deposits with a carrying value of HK$1,636,000 (2021: HK$2,123,000).
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31 December 2022

30. EIEBLIHLE 30. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
DL 25 7 T B3 R A R 5 1 9 A B The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements
THA MR AR 52 H) - thereon during the current and prior years.

BEWRE LB MR e

O UAH R O UAH R A UAH R A5t
Fair value Fair value Fair value

adjustment  adjustmenton  adjustment on

on investment property and right-of-use
properties equipment assets Total
T T TH#IT TH#IT
HK$°000 HKS$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
RZEZ—4—H—H At 1 January 2021 2,981 24314 118,257 145,552
AR Credited to profit or loss 191) (2,091) (4,224) (6,506)
REFZ—F+_A=t—HK At 31 December 2021 and
SR THE——H 1 January 2022 2,790 22,223 114,033 139,046
AR Credited to profit or loss (191) (2,091) (4,224) (6,506)
WoE A=+ —H At 31 December 2022 2,599 20,132 109,809 132,540
31. A 31. SHARE CAPITAL
TERTTUR B St
2022 2021
Tt THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
hE Authorised:
10,000,000,000/8 5 1 THI {E0. 1 #5 T 1Y 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
o B 1,000,000 1,000,000
CEAT R Issued and fully paid:
6,201,187, 120 A B0, 17 T4/ 6,201,187,120 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 620,119 620,119
N RN E KB A A S - 0 None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
B B R AN AT EATRE S o the Company’s listed securities during the year.
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32.

ZER A= 1T—H
31 December 2022
PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has pledged certain
investment properties, buildings, right-of-use assets and trade
receivables to secure the credit facilities granted to the Group, pledged
bank deposits to secure the use of electricity of the Group and a rental
deposit paid to secure the lease arrangements entered by the Group as
lessee. The carrying amounts of the assets pledged are as follows:

SRR EENIRAED T

SRR TR
2022 2021
Tt T T
HK$’000 HKS$’000
'@ <LYE S Investment properties 464,765 295,084
R Buildings 3,687,428 4,010,045
i FIRE G Right-of-use assets 1,110,184 1,152,500
2 5 MWK A Trade receivables 25,358 148,803
CHEHSRITAAK Pledged bank deposits 1,672 1,671
O a4 Rental deposits paid 1,636 2,123
5,291,043 5,610,226

B P A EE 3 33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

7S [ R e 2 il vt 2 A I D ) A
B 73 1l 7% VLT B 2 Bl BURT s 57 19 BURT
R ARAR AT # B R B o TP LB b
7 i) 1B PRCAR AR 3 S A T E Rk
FotEM 4 o

7B AR A 5 AR A A 1) 2
BI) K 8 7% FL P A 7 0 A B R85 o 4
NiEEEE (B H]) - AEETA
R B¥H2 mE A et # o s
AR B 4 T o LU E o Sl e
S R R R R A B AT O
DIASEE Lk = ik ot R <y e
AREEAEE BT o WL B
B TEA o A B Y R 3 AR i R A
At 3 A R 2 U B A R B TR R
HOR > MR 2 s A T S ) BB AR A
JEE ) REA AR

A AR [ IR AE W 5 BT A A B R B AT
Fa 2 R RAE R ET B o 513000 & 2 8 S
Z b NDLIE G T UM o e ) > BLAREE
& E DB - AEEBHLEHE
Hts B 1) 5 AR H A B S 4 RS 15% (I
151 51,5000 ) (K o

Employees employed by the Group’s operations in Macau and Lao
PDR are members of government-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the Macau and Lao PDR government, respectively. The
Macau and Lao PDR operations are required to pay a monthly fixed
contribution to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. All
the employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to join the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable
in the future years at the end of the reporting period.

The Group also operates a defined contribution retirement scheme
for all qualifying employees in Macau. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of
independent trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll
costs to the plan (maximum MOP1,500) per month for each qualifying
employee.
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S CA=t R
31 December 2022

IR p R At ) (4

TEE 5 > fh 55 ) B AL & 48 A1 BT RO AL
B R B ] 1R AR B TS B AR A
A o AL B R A 1% B THRAF &I
6% [ 418 R B 5 4w S AT AE e R B &
VR BERRAR AR A

A A L 7t 2R R AR R ) ) ofE— A
T AR RZ SE R BIAE P K o

ﬁﬁ_?“$+ H=+—H k4
B AR R P ERE 93,225,000 00 (—F
T—4E 15,468,000 70) A8 S H A AR SR
P aZ ST BB R ET B 2 b R A s
A4 b al B RAE R 3 A LR -

REME RS
AL MAE s AL

JIT AT A5 1 A A 22 PR 1 ) ST R
AR NRYE o A el B A5 AR
B o 7S R S A T R R A AR
HEZ PRI
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33.

34.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (CONTINUED)

In Laos PDR, post-employment benefits are paid to retired employees
by the Social Security Fund Department which belongs to the Ministry
of Labor and Social Welfare. The Group is required to contribute to
these post-employment benefits by paying social insurance premium
to the Social Insurance Agency at the rate of 6% of employee’s basic
salary on a monthly basis.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the above retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under the
schemes.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total expense recognised
in profit or loss of HK$3,225,000 (2021: HK$5,468,000) represented
contributions paid or payable to above retirement benefit schemes by
the Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group as lessor

All of the properties held for licensing arrangements have committed
leases for the next 3 years. None of the Group’s properties held for
licensing arrangements has been disposed of since the end of the
reporting period.

Minimum undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as

follows:
2022 2021
T#x T
HK$°000 HK$’000
—4ER Within one year 36,502 45,983
— AR HTA AR N After one year but within two years 25,382 39,980
MERER =ER After two years but within three years 1,859 19,226
SARRAAA U AR N After three years but within four years = 5,083
VO AR AR TLAF I After four years but within five years - 1,671
HAEAE After five years = 2,367
63,743 114,310

MR AR ARAT] 202245
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BEHERARALER LS THEY
S SR A R AR RSO o o A
L PR R B 7 0 o 2 AR R AR
HE 2 -2 W AR AT A (8] E o BR B SO
1B R F) R R R A RE NS > IRGE AT
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B 5 A 0 8 45 AR Y A T A 20 FEUORUR
RERSEHEOA © BUOR R R RSB HE U Y
v 52 500 B T A 1 2 A AR T A 2R R A
B A SR AR

BAKYE

RS BIR > AE EEE EOE  2E K
SR DA B A o TR B RT A0 1E 4 R R 10
S FAF5188,239,0000 0 (& ——4F ¢
196,606,000%5 7T) H) G A KIS

Bk F 1

TR U A5 SRR > A A [ A AR A o] R
KA s SR > M A AS A R T
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34.

3s.

36.

ZER T ZHA=1T—H
31 December 2022

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
The Group as lessor (Continued)

Operating lease income represents licensing income receivable by the
Group from certain of its leased premises. Licensing arrangements
are negotiated for an average term of five years and licensing fees are
fixed for an average term of two years. In addition to the fixed licensing
income, which is disclosed above, pursuant to the terms of certain
licensing arrangements, the Group has licensing income based on certain
percentage of gross sales of relevant shops. The contingent licensing
income contributed an insignificant amount of licensing income earned
by the Group during both years presented.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had capital commitments
in respect of the acquisition of property and equipment and
construction in progress which are contracted for but not provided of
HK$188,239,000 (2021: HK$196,606,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting date, the Group did not have any litigations
or claims of material importance and, so far as the Directors of the
Company are aware, no litigation or claims of material importance are
pending or threatened by or against any companies of the Group.
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37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue
as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include bank
and other borrowings disclosed in note 28, and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital (disclosed in
note 31) and reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view
of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payments of dividends, new share issue as well as the issue of new debt
or the repayment of any existing debts. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirement.

The Group’s net gearing ratio is expressed as a percentage of total
borrowings (e.g. bank and other borrowings) minus cash (e.g. pledged
bank deposits and cash and bank balances) over total equity. As at 31
December 2022, the Group’s net gearing ratio was 66.6% (31 December
2021: 52.7%).
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38. &Rt TH 38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
S T H ) Categories of financial instruments
R B > SR LR 0 AR (A The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments
B as at the end of the reporting period are as follows
B 2022
SR B Financial assets
TR A
wh i Rl A
Financial assets
at amortised cost
T#x
HK$’000
B 5y I HoAh M E Trade and other receivables 95,213
I B 5 ) B Loan to an associate 116,467
TSI SRAT AR Pledged bank deposits 1,672
Bl KR T A R Cash and bank balances 87,341
300,693
i B8 Financial liabilities
B AR
ah R SRl A
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
T#x
HK$’000
G 5 B A AT A Trade and other payables 133,335
iEN =S~ Lease liabilities 98,951
BRAT B HA A 3K Bank and other borrowings 2,557,951
2,790,237
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31 December 2022

38. &mTH (4) 38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
A b T HLJER (48) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)
R B > S R LR AR (A The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments
T (f8) as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (Continued)
TR 2021
SRl Financial assets
e iR
i A IR
Financial assets FHE A
at fair value Financial assets st
through profit or loss at amortised cost Total
T T FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 R H A RS IA Trade and other receivables - 235,559 235,559
LR /NCIR=E 4 Loan to an associate - 116,467 116,467
YN FUERHE B4 518 Financial assets at fair value
114 4 Pl through profit or loss 208,338 - 208,338
CHEHFERAT A7 3K Pledged bank deposits - 1,671 1,671
B R SRAT A5 B Cash and bank balances - 132,596 132,596
208,338 486,293 694,631
A Financial liabilities
PR EH A
w45 &

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

THIT

HK$’000

2 5y e HAM AT E Trade and other payables 200,795
THE A Lease liabilities 111,043
PRAT S HAAE 3Kk Bank and other borrowings 2,408,689
2,720,527

210 TRMEER AT PRA ] 20224FH)
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include a loan to an associate,
trade and other receivables, chips on hand, pledged bank deposits, cash
and bank balances, financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

@

Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate pledged bank deposits. The Group’s cash
flow interest rate risk relates primarily to floating-rate bank
borrowings, lease liabilities and bank balances. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the potential
impact arising from any interest rate movements based on
interest rate level and outlook. The management will review the
proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure
they are within a reasonable range.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are
detailed in the liquidity risk section of this note. The Group’s cash
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
HIBOR and arising from the Group’s variable-rate borrowings.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

@

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for bank borrowings. The sensitivity
analysis is prepared assuming the bank borrowings outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. No sensitivity analysis is provided on bank deposits as
the Directors of the Company consider that the interest rate
fluctuation on bank deposits is minimal.

A 50 basis point (2021: 50 basis point) increase or decrease,
which represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates, is used. If the interest rate
had been 50 basis point higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss would have
increased/decreased by approximately HK$10,790,000 (2021:
HK$11,793,000).

Currency risk

Certain trade and other receivables, trade and other payables,
pledged bank deposits and cash and bank balances are denominated
in foreign currencies other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entities, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the
reporting periods are as follows:

e
Assets

- Sy : TR

2022 2021

Tt T

HK$’000 HK$°000

TP (P D) Macau Pataca (“MOP”) 146,451 117,010

B Thai Baht 8,716 9,994
CES:Ea A Cape Verdean Escudo (“CVE”)

(15 A E2 |) 3,783 7,586

MR AR ARAT] 202245
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31 December 2022
38. i T H (4) 38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
W5 b 4 PR H A R BOR (48) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
17 55 i B (451) Market risk (Continued)
i) B A () (i) Currency risk (Continued)
i
Liabilities
2022 2021
T#x T
HK$°000 HK$’000
T MOP 236,909 697,727
Zeek Thai Baht 145,688 104,034
WA AR R 2 CVE 305,989 305,355
Hhy 7 VP R B ST M > AN )T The Directors of the Company do not expect any significant
HIHIAS G A A ] AN RS o foreign currency exposure as MOP is linked to HKS.
R SE 70T Sensitivity analysis
N R EE A A £ [ 2% R A R4S iR The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 3%
Wi [ 22 50,95 7T THE M2 (B 3 % 1) BUER increase and decrease in Thai Baht and CVE against HKS. 3%
JE 0 39 )71 FEAE I B NF R is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
AN T B IR % ) ) BURR B B R > i risk internally to key management personnel and represents
3R 1 g 3 A1 s T % 1) mT e A management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
SAE) I ETAL o MUREE A BT 63 45 D foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
N [ 1 A S AT TR o outstanding foreign currency dominated monetary items.
2022 2021
T#x THT
HK$°000 HK$°000
ZRER LU ICTHE3% 3% increase in Thai Baht against HK$
AR A R B AR R TR N Increase in post-tax loss
for the year 4,109 2,821
A5 MR8 2 LU CFHE 3% 3% increase in CVE against HK$
AR A BB AR R TR Increase in post-tax loss
for the year 9,066 8,933
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38.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge obligations by the
counterparties at the end of reporting period arises from the carrying
amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in regard of balances with the
gaming operator, gaming promoters, individual VIP gaming patrons
and other customers of non-gaming operation, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group uses an internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits
and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. Moreover, the Group only transacts with
high-credit-rating banks or financial institutions. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under the ECL model upon application
of HKFRS 9 on balances subject to ECL individually or based on
provision matrix.

Gaming operation

In relation to the gaming business, the Group has concentration of credit
risk on trade receivables as 19.0% (2021: 52.7%) of the total trade
receivables was due from SJM within the gaming segment, which is a
gaming operator in Macau. In addition,the Group has concentration of
credit risk on the Group’s advances to individual VIP gaming patrons,
as 37.2% (2021: 20.8%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s five largest VIP gaming patrons in the gaming segment as at 31
December 2022. The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk from the non-gaming business, with exposure spread over a large
number of customers.
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38.

ZER A= 1T—H
31 December 2022
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Gaming operation (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies an
internal credit rating for the gaming operator and individual VIP gaming
patrons. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s trade receivables and
other receivables from gaming operations were assessed for impairment
on an individual basis. Lifetime ECL is recognised for trade receivables
with an aggregate gross carrying amount of HK$84,257,000 (2021:
HK$171,546,000), of which receivables from gaming promoters
and individual gaming patrons amounting to HK$59,441,000 (2021:
HK$51,477,000) are credit-impaired.

In respect of the other receivables, lifetime ECL is recognised for
an aggregate gross carrying amount of HK$43,796,000 (2021:
HK$43,796,000) which are identified as credit-impaired financial assets
and 12-month ECL is recognised for an aggregate gross carrying amount
of the other receivables of HK$1,422,000 (2021: HK$3,343,000).

Non-gaming operation

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’
ageing to assess the impairment for its trade receivables in relation
to its non-gaming operation because these debtors consist of a large
number of small customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Non-gaming operation (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

In respect of the other receivables from non-gaming operation as at
31 December 2022, lifetime ECL is recognised for an aggregate gross
carrying amount of HK$23,335,000 (2021: HK$23,335,000) which
are identified as credit-impaired financial assets and 12-month ECL
is recognised for an aggregate gross carrying amount of the other
receivables of HK$19,398,000 (2021: HK$17,640,000).

For the remaining other receivables and deposits including chips on
hand, no impairment allowance was made since the Directors of the
Company consider the probability of default is minimal after assessing
the counter-parties’ financial background and creditability.

For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group regularly
monitors the business performance of the associate. The Group’s credit
risk in the loan to the associate is mitigated through the underlying
value of the assets held by the associate. Before granting the loan to the
associate, the management of the Group has obtained an understanding
of the financial position and business performance of the associate. In
the opinion of the management of the Group, the counterparty has good
credit worthiness based on its underlying financial position and the risk
of default by the counterparty was assessed to be not significant.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Non-gaming operation (Continued)

For the pledged bank deposits and bank balances, no expected credit loss
was made since the Directors of the Company consider the probability
of default is negligible as such amounts are receivable from or placed in
banks in Macau, Hong Kong and Lao PDR that have reputation based
on the credit ratings provided by recognised credit rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the operations as disclosed in note 1 and mitigating the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group relies on bank borrowings and
other borrowings as significant sources of liquidity. The management
closely monitors the utilisation of borrowings and compliance with loan
covenants.

Liquidity table

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
maturity dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are at floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period.
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38. &k T H (4)
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

I B 2 (%) Liquidity risk (Continued)
) H 7 () Liquidity table (Continued)
WER K MR E
3MEA MR 12A K 14EF4E UEHSE MBS ik
On
demand or 1to 2to
less than 3 to less than less than 2 less than 5 Over
3 months 12 months years years 5 years Total
Tt T T Tt Tt Tt
HK$’000 HKS$°000 HKS’000 HK$°000 HKS’000 HK$°000
MEFZZH+ZA=Z1—H  At31 December 2022
5 B e 208 Trade and other payables 133,335 - - - - 133,335
SRAT R Bank and other borrowings 187,850 518,619 351,729 2,095,142 - 3,153,340
HEA K Lease liabilities 2,735 8,167 10,478 10,382 157,222 188,984
323,920 526,786 362,207 2,105,524 157,222 3,475,659
RoZ=—%+"H=1—H  At31 December 2021
B B SRR Trade and other payables 200,795 - - - - 200,795
SRAT S HCA 5 K Bank and other borrowings 14,577 255,844 248,792 885,783 1,293,006 2,698,002
HEa Lease liabilities 3,220 9,047 10,798 17,487 162,488 203,040
218,592 264,891 259,590 903,270 1,455,494 3,101,837

1P 8 2 A O 00
ET NI E' e Ey i
VTR S ST -

e LRZ AR

i ah A FUAE IR - AR I7E o] U B R
5 DUR o T 85 AT B AR R o A IR I
A — S AR > AREE RS =
U7 B EARAG EAETT A - EE A
L& AR SN (2 5 15 > WIRT &
8 2 A B 7 i B i A B - AR T
SV 55 MR T e AR ) o B A
HEZBFIUIFTAR > DU 2 o E b
A o

MR AR ARAT] 202245

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value of financial instruments

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to
the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The valuation committee works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation methods and inputs to the
model. The chief financial officer of the Company reports the valuation
committee’s findings to the board of Directors of the Company every
quarter to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value.



T )

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

38. &b T H (4)

Fo4 75 L o 4 B ) A SR (4

S TR AR ()
EE\_T—‘E&E’%%%E?—W’/\J‘E@*
B R 48 25 5 R 2 4 R A 0 K B E 5

(& —4F 1 208,338,000 7T 4 57 4 £
IS FMESB RS =50 o

=R SUERT R R BB W

SEC A=A
31 December 2022

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Perpetual bonds classified as financial assets at FVTPL were disposed
of during 2022 (2021: HK$208,338,000 were categorised as Level 3 of
fair value hierarchy).

The movement in fair value measurements within Level 3 during the
year is as follow:

TR TR TR
2022 2021
Tt TH#sIC
HK$’000 HK$’000
SRR AR R AR 4 5 R Perpetual bonds classified as financial assets
Z S A P K AU at FVTPL:
w—H—H At 1 January 208,338 212,005
TSR 45 (1 s 4R AR R (FE A LAt Total loss recognised in profit or
WA~ s M JEstE - TR loss included in other income, gains
and losses, net (10,967) (3,667)
i Disposal (197,371) -
wr—A=+—H At 31 December = 208,338

N B SRR R R A AT AT
FEFHE WS TR A =
BT A ) o

Brigd el wt B d i AR 0 IR 2 SR E
AN > MEEREMARZ A RMET)
22 IR0 R E S R N7 AR 48R A B B < YA
B

A Y SR S TR A B AR T A
S PR B MR ) <6 R E T <l N IR
VA (L BN 55 9 2 PR (BLAR A ©

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2021: Nil).

The fair values of financial assets, except for financial assets at FVTPL,
and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2022 Annual Report 219



39.

220

BB ok W

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

it ()

S CA=t R
31 December 2022

L B T 2 Y L R

AR FE A A A O ) P A AR Y AL
SEE) > R B KO B R R
(W 5A ) o fl AT B B A 0 B AR AR AR

39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash

M 45 A Bla R R R TR A &R R R flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
SRCHR 4 YL = 0 A R T ) i R R Y B consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
S A - activities.

AT R

JEATFIE ot fig 3% MEfR A5t

Interest Bank and other Lease
payable borrowings liabilities Total
TH#TT THTT THTT THTT
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

(F3%28) (i 5E29)

(note 28) (note 29)

R~ — E! At 1 January 2021 1,843 1,968,568 113,768 2,084,179
g B A (MR Financing cash flows (note) (51,133) 432,541 (8,767) 372,641
HLCOVID-194H B 1) ﬁﬂﬁ{%% COVID-19 related rent concessions - - (532) (532)
s il Finance costs 51,504 7,580 6318 65,402
Wl New lease entered - - 889 889
BEE 50, T i 4 Exchange realignment - - (633) (633)
REFEZ—F+H At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022

N el S e St

—H—H 2,214 2,408,689 111,043 2,521,946
PGB A (D) Financing cash flows (note) (81,398) 136,679 (21,665) 33,616
BLCOVID-19MIFM L4 H  COVID-19 related rent concessions - = (5,524) (5,524)
MEsE A Finance costs 91,611 12,583 5,779 109,973
EE 5, 25 Exchange realignment - - 9,318 9,318
WoEZ - FE+TH At 31 December 2022

=+—H 12,427 2,557,951 98,951 2,669,329
[ffzE - Iﬁﬁf,,ﬁgﬁ;}’ﬁfﬁﬁm R PR Note: The cash flows represent the repayment of bank borrowings, interest

COAFLE - BRI SR EER paid, repayments of lease liabilities and other borrowings raised in the
ﬁﬁ s consolidated statement of cash flows.

MR AR ARAT] 202245
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40.

41.

ZER T ZHA=1T—H
31 December 2022

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On 5 June 2013, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group. Eligible participants of the Share Option
Scheme include, among others, the Directors of the Company, including
independent non-executive Directors, full-time or part-time employees,
executive or officers of the Group, advisors, consultants, suppliers,
customers and agents. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 5
July 2013 upon the Listing.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Balances and transactions with related parties are disclosed elsewhere in
the consolidated financial statements.

Compensation to key management personnel of the Group which

represents Directors and the highest paid non-director employee of the
Company is set out in note 10.
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SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022

TR E 2wl PR

A2 TR R A R 2 R 2 R B R A

42. LIST OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the

wr - reporting period are as follows:
[l Vg g LRI REEHA/ AAT R CBTRA
I 2 44 RE B FEHE A R A £ B 41 R
Issued and fully Proportion of nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ paid capital/registered issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary establishment/operations capital held by the Company Principal activities
—FOCE SR
2022 2021
e I Lk 100% 100% {2 (PR AR B R3E X FR MR
1,000,000 ¥ —f e IR
Hong Hock Macau Ordinary shares Provision of gaming related
MOP1,000,000 facilities and gaming related
general management services
Macau Legend Development itk e 1t T 100% 100% i 4 8 2 m] S AL S e
(Hong Kong) Limited
Macau Legend Development Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 Provision of management services
(Hong Kong) Limited to group companies
TR AR B T T 100% 100% SR 368
10,000,001 "1 s
MFW Investment* Macau Ordinary shares Operating hotel business
MOP10,000,000
BIEERARAR I B A f 100% 100% ZFERY) - EEIE KA
100,000 ' s
Grand Merit Retail Group Limited Macau Quota shares Retail of clothing, footwear and
MOP100,000 accessories
The Legend Club Limited 1 [kl 100% 100% EA TR A
{F#130,000
The Legend Club Limited Macau Quota shares Holding two vessels
MOP130,000
MLD Cabo Verde Entretenimento, S.A. 15 ST 100% 100% HeEp
2,500,000 15 fi 7
%
MLD Cabo Verde Entretenimento, S.A.  Cape Verde Ordinary share Operating gaming business
CVE2,500,000
MLD Cabo Verde Resorts, S.A. A il 100% 100% HEEE TS
2,500,000 15 fi 45
%
MLD Cabo Verde Resorts, S.A. Cape Verde Ordinary share Operating hotel business
CVE2,500,000
Savan Legend Resorts Sole T il 100% 100% #8485 14880 RO TG 5%
Company Limited 336,000,000,000 5%
Savan Legend Resorts Sole Lao PDR Ordinary share Operating casino and hotel
Company Limited KIP336,000,000,000 business

* TR 3 A\ R 3% B 80 % Fh AN/ 7] B B
> 20% WA F RS -

MR AR ARAT] 202245

* MFW Investment is 80% directly and 20% indirectly owned by the

Company.
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fEAF LR AASEE o Rt o A G E R
R B (1009 2 3547 M fy i EA¢ 8%
SRR MBS SR BUE A AR A 2
Mg~ &R a AR - B - F =44 —H
—HEE R EEF A A=
N5 T e 30 BR M 9 A% - AN R AR AR R
R SE 5 T v A HE A R R A O R =
A 1 T S A A A o o PRIUL > ACSE
A & AR A FOR AR D 5 Sl
SR i A T o

ARFHERERS - ERIURBIA L 7
J& oy 7] F R AR W B R A E -
AN FEHGR S > PR AL B 2 7Y
FEAHEDR I BUR IR AR TR TU R -

SRR MR RS B 2w AT AT AT B R 5

42.

ZER A= 1T—H
31 December 2022
LIST OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Further to the disclosures in prospectus of the Company dated 17 June
2013 and the Company’s announcement dated 31 December 2013,
the Company diversified its business and has indirectly participated in
the gaming promotion business through New Legend under the VIE
Structure. The Group obtained all required approvals from regulatory
authorities and independent shareholders of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2014 and has had control over the gaming
promotion business of New Legend and rights to consolidate the
financial results of New Legend since 3 July 2014 as if it was the
Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, which allows the economic benefit
of New Legend’s business flow to the Group. As a result, the financial
results of New Legend, in which 100% of the issued shares are owned
by Mr Yip Wing Fat, Frederick, were consolidated by the Group
effectively as the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary. With effect
from 1 January 2023, the Company has ceased its VIP gaming business
upon expiration of the term of the Service Agreement on 31 December
2022 and the VIE parties agreed to terminate the VIE agreement. As a
result, the Group has no interest or control over New Legend effective 1
January 2023.

The above table list the subsidiaries of the Company, which, in the
opinion of the Directors of the Company, principally affects the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries, in the
opinion of the Directors of the Company, would result in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the
year.
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SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022

b 4l 1 - AP M 4R

RS A 1 G T B R R R R
YIS LE AR A E (THREWE]) - 7
HEEF -~ HZF—HIEE
BE > A T 0 R T (ERS A ]
Wi 8] 4 435,000,000 95 7T 2 4 B8 8% 15 9
H 518241,000,000%: 0 » @ E A C
M4y W0 B R I B 4 R B 22 N Ao (R
HHERAZ & - HEANRSES
BRI Al R SUAE TS A = A A
PERE > A B R R R
A Yok Y R B FE I T A AR B R 20 2 Bl
ERELZ &AW  REE -
4T HZ IR AERE S MR
ﬁ o

B

a) MO EFCEE-H=ZTHE X
TEAETH O NH S AR ELE
F2 B AT O WA R R > AR
%8 580,000,000 7T o #% % K
MEHLIR ~ AT H9% 1B Kt =&
TEAEH A —HBEANH— B S
e R TET=HA=A+1H > %E
ERRCRFE > R FWFE=H
=t —HZA - HASA g ZoR
AT AT % 45 A N0 4 A 1 1) A 5 o] 42
b4 4 40 1 2 BT T 1) A A S S
Tgo

by BIZEZZAFE—H—HE > AAH
PHB A EEANFENLA T HHA
) IR 65 T v e 3 B A L G TR
S o B B BN R T ST 0 T AR 25
B aSrs gLl - RS
AN B AL IR 45 G MBS IR E
KA o

 MoF_Z4F—H=ZH B &4
B 1) L WA S ) 4R A A R K
27,000,000 7T © 7% £ 5 ML
i REHE KRB R -

MR AR ARAT] 202245

43.

44.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The investment project in Cape Verde represents the construction of
a new hotel and casino complex (the “Investment Project). During the
year ended 31 December 2021, an impairment loss of HK$241,000,000
was recorded on the Investment Project for the excess of the carrying
value over the estimated recoverable amount of HK$35,000,000, which
was determined to be the fair value less costs of disposal of the CGU
to which the assets have been allocated. The estimated fair value of
the CGU in Cape Verde was determined using level 3 inputs based
on the current cost of replacing the assets less deduction for physical
deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation.
No impairment was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2022.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(a)  On 30 January and 28 February 2023, the Group entered into two
loan agreements for an aggregate loan amount of HK$80.0 million
from a substantial shareholder. These loans are unsecured,
interest bearing at 9% per annum and were repayable between
1 May and 1 June 2023. On 10 March 2023, the substantial
shareholder has agreed that he will not demand for repayment
of any of these loan amounts before 31 March 2024 and will
continue to provide the additional financial support needed for the
Group to continue its operations.

(b)  With effect from 1 January 2023, the Group ceased its VIP
gaming business in Macau upon expiration of the term of the
Service Agreement dated 25 September 2006, and the VIE
agreement signed with New Legend was also terminated
accordingly. The transaction is not expected to have a material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

(c)  On 3 January 2023, the Group provide a shareholder loan of
HK$27.0 million to its associate. The loan is unsecured, non-
interest-bearing and repayable on demand.
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CECCETCAST R

31 December 2022
45. A2 E IR Dl 45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY
R TR TR
2022 2021
Tl T
HK$°000 HK$°000
IE i Non-current assets
A R RS Investments in subsidiaries 4,247,029 4,247,029
4,247,029 4,247,029
VLB G Current assets
TEAT R Prepayments 219 1,395
}@ﬂﬁl Rt J8 2 w3k IE Amounts due from subsidiaries 369,243 1,124,661
SRITHS B Bank balances 114 956
369,576 1,127,012
i B=Yis Current liabilities
JEFT B Accrued charges 1,220 678
JREASK B} > ) 30 Amounts due to subsidiaries 1,288,327 1,285,537
1,289,547 1,286,215
b= REiE- Net current liabilities (919,971) (159,203)
B Net assets 3,327,058 4,087,826
JBeAs Bttt Capital and reserves
JieA Share capital 620,119 620,119
Tttt Reserves 2,706,939 3,467,707
HE 4 FEAR Total equity 3,327,058 4,087,826
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SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2022

Statements (Continued)

AN v A B B R 46. STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE
COMPANY
ﬁﬁﬁ%y] Movements in reserves
fREmA
JIE A 06 oAtk s (Z5HER) k]
Retained
Profits/
Share Other  (Accumulated
premium reserve losses) Total
THTT THTT THTT Fic
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
(FH5D)
(note)
W_E_—F—H—H At 1 January 2021 4,163,765 202,312 499,693 4,865,770
N TR A T TR AR Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year - - (1,398,063) (1,398,063)
hoE o AFE—A—H At 1 January 2022 4,163,765 202,312 (898,370) 3,467,707
CRN) T EWER] iRk Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year - - (760,768) (760,768)
e s oy iy & Rty el = At 31 December 2022 4,163,765 202,312 (1,659,138) 2,706,939

BEFSE - HCAUfRRARG 1 7A 2 w S P B J 2 D A1) I
By THIE BA N R i =R E AR T4
P TR AL R A O 3R A T R A 2 ) 3 T
(ELF ZE BRI R B o 2 RSO T ot 10 2
RIS

b B s R 47.

BEMBERRCHESFGR T =4
ZA =t B R AT 8

TRMEER AT PRA ] 20224FH)

Note: The other reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of
the shares of subsidiaries acquired by the Company and the nominal value
of the shares of the Company issued for acquisition at the time of group
reorganisation in December 2006 less dividends distributed from pre-
acquisition reserves of the subsidiaries.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2023.
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Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for last

IR - five years is set out below:
BEFT A=+ —HILEE
Year ended 31 December
CROCA TR ZRTRE ZEIUE =& A
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
BRI TF#T R THETT T
HK$000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000
ES Results
g Revenue 711,605 1,135,586 700,726 2,359,666 1,865,383
B RIS I A Cost of sales and services (1,046,963) (1,506,840) (1,168,703) (1,785,833) (1,346,618)
(335,358) (371,254) (467,977) 573,833 518,765
Hptli A~ licks K4H > Other income, gains and losses, net
T 19,850 21,005 44,056 95,283 133,011
14— [T B 0 )i i Gain on disposal of a subsidiary = - - - 3,430,078
Padlel = gNEIE S Share of results of an associate (7,084) (28,460) (25,640) 4,072) -
SRVE E (B ERR) (Tmpairment losses)/reversal of
B R R ] > VAR impairment losses on financial
assets, net (1,592) (16,437) (22,273) 892 (108,573)
PR (B R Impairment loss on goodwill - - - - (681,986)
e (72BN Impairment losses on non-financial assets
Z R MERE R other than goodwill = (241,000) (797,135) - (97,377)
T A B I A 3 Marketing and promotional expenses (80,139) (108,923) (87,535) (260,269) (194,000)
B ATEUR HAD B Operating, administrative and other
expenses (241,148) (307,103) (378,416) (451,171) (439,393)
& A Finance costs (109,973) (65,402) (128,582) (93,875) (109,344)
WRBLHT (k548D /3 Al (Loss)/profit before tax (755,444) (1,117,574) (1,863,502) (139,379) 2,451,181
ISR S, () Income tax credit/(expense) 148,235 (72,870) (91,645) (50,873) (485,075)
ER R W (Loss)/profit for the year (607,209) (1,190,444) (1,955,147) (190,252) 1,966,106
RT+_A=+—H
At 31 December
RO R E TR TR JUE TR )\
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
BRI o Fic Fic T
HK$°000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
20 Y& Assets and liabilities
B dE Total assets 7,150,380 7,970,106 8,692,978 11,179,838 10,993,171
BEAE Total liabilities (3,442,168) (3,655,166) (3,171,793) (3,715,544) (3,301,229)
B R E Net assets 3,708,212 4,314,940 5,521,185 7,464,294 7,691,942
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Particulars of Major Properties

AEER —F T AT A EEDE Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set out
FEIEHEAT below:
A4 T REAR
L/ T Bk A& AL RS A L
Percentage
of interest
attributable to
Property name Location Use Lease term the Group
LARNPN % P AR IS LYV EE ei:dl 100%
TR B B o 5 KM fHLG
S — I R A —
(R 2 TR S RS 85
Macau Fisherman’s Phase I and Phase I Extension of a Tourism and Hotel/Commercial/ Medium 100%
Wharf Entertainment Complex known as “Macau Car Park

Fisherman’s Wharf” ("8 Af55H) at Avenida
da Amizade (KFEK G ), Macau

228 TRMEER AT PRA ] 20224FH)
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AR R - BRI A BTESN » 1 S A

LT it -

[CX T =AEROUAF R g

[2023 AGM

[H 5]
[ADR]

[ AEAN

[Articles of Association

[FEET]
[ Audit Committee |

[
[Board|

(4544
[Cape Verde]

(2B ASFHI
[CG Code]

[ ]

[Company |

AL IN

[ Corporate Guarantors

M)
[pICy)

[COVID-19]
[COVID-19]

[H#

[Directors)

[T

[executive Directors |

(4523 S AE R A A 4R 1 51 B )

[FVTPL]J

A4
[Group)
[t
“HK$’S

[t
“Hong Hock”

Definitions

In this report, the following expressions shall, unless the content otherwise
requires, have the following meanings:

ESANEIN e Sttt AVl ANEE =P Pdiie Wik N

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 16 June 2023

5 HF A

average daily room rate

AR R REIERT R B AN )

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time

ARFIEGZ RS

the audit committee of the Company

EHE

the Board of Directors

G EESS Bl
the Republic of Cabo Verde

AR U R Bk 14 BT b 3E AR ST I

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

WP B SR A A PR R - — TR BR 2 B S S Sz i A PR 7] - JHC 2 AT IR A0 A W
2R AR LT

Macau Legend Development Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability, the issued Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

AR T B BT
the Company and Hong Hock

LARIEEA RS e
Direccdo de Inspec¢@o e Coordenagdo de Jogos, the Gaming Inspection and Coordination
Bureau in Macau

U A

Coronavirus Disease 2019

KA FER
the Directors of the Company

RAFRATES

the executive Directors of the Company

e efRt BE A I 4 5 AR

fair value through profit or loss

AN E) K H R A

the Company and its subsidiaries

WTE  FRE S

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

VAR B SEB AT PR R > — R IRFTRE ML 9 23 w50 2 AN 2 R A4 B Jag 22

Hong Hock Development Company Limited, a company incorporated in Macau and a
subsidiary of the Company
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[ s | B P A 47 U | 5 o B A P AT B

“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

[ 48 P B o Y 5 7 s B i YR L)

“HKFRSs” Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

Piikikided i s B A PR - — BRI R RS 2 2R S A AR 2 R A T

“Lai leng Investment” Lai Ieng Investment Company Limited, a company incorporated in Macau and an associate
of the Company

[Z4#] fi ZHBN R I

“Lao PDR” The Lao People’s Democratic Republic

[ b7 5 ety B =2 — AR A R H R RS T AR BT

“Listing” the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with effect from 5 July
2013

[ H ) 1 JBeA A B A BT AR b T B H A

“Listing Date ] the date when the Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

[_E kR A 1 W2z P o L TR

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

RUSN 1 e A TR I R P A 47 I

“Macau” Macau Special Administrative Region, PRC

[P e A\ B 1 RN UNTEE g < g iR PN ST

“MFW” Macau Fisherman’s Wharf operated by MFW Investment

[P 3 N\ R BELAE 4 1 TR U ARG B A B FL B 2

“MFW Group” MFW Investment and its subsidiaries

RUARPEUNTTiEeg<d 1 TR P SR L R P45 B A PR ) - — TR P i e a7 9 2 RIS 2 A 2 W) A B
[N

“MFW Investment” Macau Fisherman’s Wharf International Investment Limited, a company incorporated in

Macau and a subsidiary of the Company

[P A A B I H 5 e RPN b e

“MFW Redevelopment” the redevelopment of MFW

(e ST ] i TR BBk 0BT T BT AT SR TR SR 2 B 1 R R ST 1

“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

RUdiLid 1 WP WML E B

“MOP” Macau Pataca, the lawful currency of Macau

[ R A 554 | f& BREEBRSGAE » A R UBOR (8 28 5 b AT BLID) Jo8 S i i 20~ AT R
B AT B

“Mr Chan Weng Lin” Mr Chan Weng Lin, a controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the

Company and the former co-chairman of the Board, the former executive Director and the
former chief executive officer of the Company

[ JE S S A i} JRISRRTSEAE > 2 R AT 32 B JE A T o
“Mr David Chow” Mr Chow Kam Fai, David, the former co-chairman of the Board and the former non-

executive Director

230 TRMEER AT PRA ] 20224FH)
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“Mr Donald Chow”

[BESEHE S E

“Mr Frederick Yip”

[ E R 1]

“Ms Melinda Chan”

[ W 5 )

“New Legend”

EPZAE

“Nomination Committee”

[ )
“PRC”

[ A |

“Prospectus”

[#iHZ 5 )

“Remuneration Committee”

[k FH] AT L s i i |
“REVPAR”

[Savan Legend
“Savan Legend”
[Savan Legend 154435 |
“Savan Legend Casino”

[Savan Legend B4
“Savan Legend Resorts”

[ 15 o

“Service Agreement”

[ 75 S B e )
“SFO”

Definitions (Continued)

JAZERS A > ANFIRIBATES > RIS MR L L2 7T
Mr Chow Wan Hok, Donald, a former executive Director of the Company, the son of Mr
David Chow and Ms Melinda Chan

TEREBESEA > W SR E — BORGHRME —TEg  0 R A AT R ARG B e
1

B

Mr Yip Wing Fat, Frederick, the sole shareholder and sole Director of New Legend and the
executive vice president and head of casino operations of the Company

BRIEHE L1 FUTHE ST o B T I S ST AR Y e A
Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda, an executive Director and a vice-chairman of the Board, and the
spouse of Mr David Chow

M E G NARAT - [H i BB e A R P RS i A R IR AR T
S ME AT R SRR A A RO RS 2 Rl AR A DR

New Legend VIP Club Limited, a company incorporated in Macau by Mr Frederick Yip,
and consolidated as a subsidiary of the Company under the VIE Structure

AARMRYZRE

the nomination committee of the Company

LN
the People’s Republic of China

RAF B R = F— 4R A L BB ER
the prospectus of the Company dated 17 June 2013

RAFHME B

the remuneration committee of the Company

B AT AR R iR

revenue per available room

Savan Legend Resorts Sole Company Limited > — [ &k M sior AR > A 54
A2 E A > 58 Savan Legend FE AT

Savan Legend Resorts Sole Company Limited, a company incorporated in the Lao PDR
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which operates Savan Legend Resorts

J# Savan Legend £ {EAT A Savan Legend 254K i) 15 44 85
a casino operated by Savan Legend inside Savan Legend Resorts

Savan Legend )5 M I8 4845 G s i

Savan Legend Resorts Hotel and Entertainment Complex

VAR B IR AR S ZF TSR IUT L H BRI RS o SRR RS T - S
ARG A R S D LA I 4 T M I M 1 U AR A BRI R S - R
TR TARNH N HIE

the service agreement dated 25 September 2006 and its related amendments entered into
between Hong Hock and SIM, under which the Group provides gaming services to SIM in
Legend Palace Casino, Babylon Casino and Landmark Casino which expired on 26 June
2022

E R G155 57 1 5w I8 MW & kA9

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong
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Definitions (Continued)

[ B P - 2

“Share Option Scheme”

[ ]
“Share(s)”

i
“Shareholders”

MR AR5
STV

(gt A2 i ) 3¢ [ s I 2 i |
“Stock Exchange” or “SEHK”

[ FEAH R A |

“Supplemental Prospectus”

[Thakhek Club]
“Thakhek Club”

[P S 155

“The Landmark Macau”
[Ft]

“USs”

[y S 4 ML T 4407
“VIE Parties”

[T S HlE 4 T 1 k)

“VIE Agreements”

[ 58 Wl i T 2

“VIE Structure”

[T
“€”

232 TRMEER AT PRA ] 20224FH)

AN R A S M )

the share option scheme adopted by the Company

AR ) FRAS A PR (B 0. 1 T Y 254
ordinary share(s) of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the Company

A TR
Shareholders of the Company

RIS R AR R R W) (TR P TR IR A PR D)
SIM Resorts, S.A. (formerly known as Sociedade de Jogos de Macau, S.A.)

s & 5 5 I A B ]
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

AR E] FA A R — AR A N B R AR A
the supplemental prospectus of the Company dated 26 June 2013

P Bl Thakhek (19 A - # & Jir
Thakhek Club in Thakhek, Lao PDR

AL A RH K G 555 SRR T 5 B 45 K RIS i~ AR AR - Bk I IR S5 45 B LI
Dsaca: ey

the hotel, dining, conference and casino complex, and the car parks, located at Macau
Landmark Building, 555 Avenida da Amizada, Macau

FIt > RAERG BB E B

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America

AR~ BTR R M ESERR LA
Hong Hock, New Legend and Mr Yip Wing Fat, Frederick

SR T R P B il w MBS o B K B R T o - eI ) R B R - ik
7 T A i LA o e B2 AR R G — 2D A UM A A R WA =& — 4R 7R A JUH o2
BRI AT) ST A S o AR SR [ T LA R D S LT [ A o 1R Th A S

the structure established through the entering into of the exclusive management and
consultancy services agreement, the exclusive undertaking to sell agreement, the transfer of
profit and loan agreement, the share and equity pledge agreement and the power of attorney
(further details of these agreements are set out in the Company’s circular dated 9 June
2014) which enables the Group to indirectly participate in the gaming promotion business
operations in Macau through New Legend

BT SR g Tt R T AN A o AR SRR I T L R D S S R [ 1
EAhES

the structure established through the entering into of the VIE Agreements, which enables
the Group to indirectly participate in the gaming promotion business operations in Macau
through New Legend

BT > LR E B

Euro, the lawful currency of the European Union






YO R AR A A

Macau Legend Development Limited

* for identification purposes only
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